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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Background

As used in this report, except where the conteditates otherwise, the terms “Moody’s” or “the Canp” refer to Moody’s Corporation and
its subsidiaries. The Company’s executive officeslacated at 99 Church Street, New York, NY 108604 its telephone number is
(212) 553-0300.

Prior to September 30, 2000, the Company operaaid of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (“Old B&. On September 8, 2000, the
Board of Directors of Old D&B approved a plan tpagrate into two publicly traded companies — the Gany and The New D&B
Corporation (“New D&B"). On September 30, 2000 gtBistribution Date”), Old D&B distributed to ithareholders all of the outstanding
shares of New D&B common stock (the “2000 Distribnt). New D&B comprised the business of Old D&Bwin & Bradstreet operating
company (the “D&B Business”Y he remaining business of Old D&B consisted sobdlthe business of providing ratings and relatesaect
and credit risk management services (the “MoodyisiBess”) and was renamed “Moody’s Corporation”.

New D&B is the accounting successor to Old D&B, ethivas incorporated under the laws of the Staf@etdware on April 8, 1998. Ol
D&B began operating as an independent publicly-ac@poration on July 1, 1998 as a result of itseJ80, 1998 spin-off (the “1998
Distribution”) from the corporation now known as.HR Donnelley Corporation” and previously known“ake Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation” (“Donnelley”). Old D&B became the acrding successor to Donnelley at the time of th@81Bistribution.

Prior to the 1998 Distribution, Donnelley was tteggnt holding company for subsidiaries then engagéue businesses currently conducted
by New D&B, Moodys and Donnelley. Prior to November 1, 1996, it alss the parent holding company of subsidiarieslaoting busines
under the names Cognizant Corporation (“Cognizaantt) ACNielsen Corporation (“ACNielsen”). On thattel Donnelley effected a spin-off
of the capital stock of Cognizant and ACNielseitdcstockholders (the “1996 Distribution”). Cognigaubsequently changed its name to
Nielsen Media Research, Inc. in connection witil888 spil-off of the capital stock of IMS Health Incorpordté¢IMS Health”).

For purposes of governing certain ongoing relatigrs between the Company and New D&B after the 2D@@ibution and to provide for ¢
orderly transition, the Company and New D&B entedred various agreements including a Distributiogréement, Tax Allocation
Agreement, Employee Benefits Agreement, Sharedsh@ion Services Agreement, Insurance and Risk yEmant Services Agreement,
Data Services Agreement and Transition Servicegément.

Detailed descriptions of the 1996, 1998 and 20Gfriuutions are contained in the Company’s 200Quahreport on Form 10-K, filed on
March 15, 2001.

The Company

Moody'’s is a provider of (i) credit ratings, resefaand analysis covering fixed income securitifiseiodebt instruments and the entities that
issue such instruments in the global capital markaetd credit training services and (ii) quanti&iiredit risk assessment products and
services and credit processing software for bardgorations and investors in credit-sensitive @s$®unded in 1900, Moody’s employs
approximately 2,900 people worldwide. Moody’s mains offices in 22 countries and has expandeddateloping markets through joint
ventures or affiliation agreements with local rgtegencies. Moodyg’ customers include a wide range of corporate amndrgmental issuers
securities as well as institutional investors, dgjpos, creditors, investment banks, commerciakbamd other financial intermediaries.
Moody'’s is not dependent on a single customerfemacustomers, such that a loss of any one wowle hamaterial adverse effect on its
business.



Moody'’s operates in two reportable segments: Mosdiyvestors Service and Moody’s KMV. For additiofiancial information on these
segments, see Part Il, Iltem 8, “Financial Statememiote 17 — Segment Information”.

Moody’s Investors Service publishes rating opinionsa broad range of credit obligors and creditgalblons issued in domestic and
international markets, including various corporae governmental obligations, structured finan@eigges and commercial paper programs.
It also publishes investor-oriented credit reseairatiuding in-depth research on major debt issuadhistry studies, special comments and
credit opinion handbooks. Moody’s credit ratingsl @asearch help investors analyze the credit asksciated with fixed-income securities.
Such independent credit ratings and research alsilcute to efficiencies in markets for other ghlions, such as insurance policies and
derivative transactions, by providing credible amtependent assessments of credit risk. Moody’siges ratings and credit research on
governmental and commercial entities in approxifgat80 countries. Moody's global and increasingiyedse services are designed to
increase market efficiency and may reduce trarmacists. As of December 31, 2005, Moody’s hadhgatrelationships with more than
11,000 companies and more than 25,000 public fimégsuers. Additionally, the Company has rated rnitza@ 70,000 structured finance
obligations. Ratings are disseminated via pregsasels to the public through a variety of print aeledtronic media, including the Internet and
real-time information systems widely used by sd@sgitraders and investors.

Beyond credit rating services for issuers, Moodsgigestors Service provides research services,atatanalytic tools that are utilized by
institutional investors and other credit and cdpitarkets professionals. These services cover wsusegments of the loan and debt capital
markets, and are sold to more than 7,300 custooteuats worldwide. Within these accounts, more @000 users accessed Moody’s
research website (www.moodys.com) during calendar 2005. In addition to these clients, more thH23,d00 other individuals visited
Moody’s website to retrieve current ratings anceothformation made freely available to the public.

The Moody’s KMV business develops and distributeardgitative credit risk assessment products andcger and credit processing software
for banks, corporations and investors in creditsgame assets. Moody’s KMV serves more than 1,8@hts operating in more than 80
countries, including most of the world’s largestaincial institutions. Moody’s KMV’s quantitativeettit analysis tools include models that
estimate the probability of default for approximat28,000 publicly traded firms globally, updatedilgl. In addition, Moody’s KMV'’s
RiskCalc™ models extend the availability of these probaleiitio privately held firms in many of the worldso@aomies. Moody’'s KMV also
offers services to value and improve the perforraafccredit-sensitive portfolios.

Prospects for Growth

Over recent decades, global public and privatedfireome markets have grown significantly in tewhsutstanding principal amount and
types of securities. While there is potential feripdic cyclical disruption in these developmeMsody’s believes that the overall trend and
outlook remain favorable for continued secular gtoim capital market activity worldwide. In additipthe securities being issued in the
global fixed-income markets are becoming more cempgioody’s expects that these trends will prowidatinued long-term demand for
high-quality, independent credit opinions. Theserimena are especially apparent internationallgreveconomic integration is driving
increased use of public fixed-income markets foporate financing activities, and factors suchnasdased adoption and enabling regulation
have driven growth in structured finance issuance.

Technology, such as the Internet, makes informadlmout investment alternatives widely availabl@tighout the world. This technology
facilitates issuers’ ability to place securitiegside their national markets and investors’ capdoitobtain information about securities issued
outside their national markets. Issuers and investre also more readily able to obtain informatibout new financing techniques and new
types of securities that they may wish to purclasgell, many of which may be unfamiliar to thenhisTavailability of
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information promotes worldwide financial marketslangreater need for credible and globally comgaratedit ratings. As a result, a num
of new capital markets have emerged. In additioorenissuers and investors are accessing devel@péthiomarkets.

Another trend that is increasing the size of theldvoapital markets is the ongoing disintermediatid financial systems. Issuers are
increasingly financing in the global public capitarkets, in addition to, or in substitution fagditional financial intermediaries. Moreover,
financial intermediaries are selling assets inglodal public capital markets, in addition to ostiead of retaining those assets. Structured
finance securities markets for many types of ads®is developed in many countries and are contniptid these trends.

The complexity of capital market instruments iajsowing. Consequently, assessing the creditafiguch instruments becomes more of a
challenge for financial intermediaries and assatagars. In the credit markets, reliable third-paatyngs and research increasingly
supplement or substitute for traditional in-houssearch as the scale, geographic scope and cotypéfinancial markets grow.

Growth in issuance of structured finance securliges generally been stronger than growth in cotpaad financial institutions issuance, and
Moody'’s expects that trend to continue. Growthtmured finance has reflected increased adoptiGgtructured finance as an acceptable
financing mechanism, regulatory changes that tatdithe use of structured finance and increasesrisumer debt that forms collateral for
structured securities.

Rating fees paid by debt issuers account for mioisteorevenue of Moody’s Investors Service. Therefa substantial portion of Moody’s
revenue is dependent upon the volume and numbiehifsecurities issued in the global capital markedat Moody’s rates. Moody's is
therefore affected by the performance of, and thepects for, the major world economies and byfifoal and monetary policies pursued by
their governments. However, annual fee arrangenveititsirequent debt issuers, annual debt monitofégg and annual fees from commel
paper and medium-term note programs, bank andansarcompany financial strength ratings, mutuati fiatings, subscription-based
research and other areas are less dependentiadependent of, the volume or number of debt stearissued in the global capital markets.

Moody’s operations are also subject to varioussriskerent in carrying on business internationalych risks include currency fluctuations
and possible nationalization, expropriation, exgfgaand price controls, changes in the availabifitgata from public sector sources, limits
providing information across borders and otherigtste governmental actions. Management beliekas the risks of nationalization or
expropriation are reduced because the Companyis bawice is the creation and dissemination afrimfation, rather than the production of
products that require manufacturing facilitiestoe tise of natural resources. However, the formatipfor example, a new government-
sponsored regional or global rating agency woulskpmrisk to Moody’s growth prospects. Managemetiebes that this risk, compared to
other regulatory changes under consideration #®cthdit rating industry, is relatively low becawdehe likelihood that substantial
investments over a sustained period would be reduir

Legislative bodies and regulators in both the Whiates and Europe continue to conduct regulaguigws of credit rating agencies, which
may result in an increased number of competit@srictions on certain business expansion activitieMoody’s Investors Service or
increased costs of doing business for Moody's.raspnt, Moody’s is unable to assess the naturefiect any regulatory changes may have
on future growth opportunities. See “Regulationlome

Growth in Moody’s KMV is expected from increasedpton of quantitative credit management techniquesbof integrated risk-
management solutions by financial institutions glbband by corporations managing, for examplejdéreeceivables. Increased use of credit
models is expected under the forthcoming reviststmational bank regulatory regime, known as “B#i$gthat is anticipated to be
implemented by national regulatory authorities Gyuhry 2007. Moody’s KMV also expects to introduesv products.
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Competition

The Moody’s Investors Service business competds atiter credit rating agencies and with investnibamks and brokerage firms that offer
credit opinions and research. Institutional investdso have in-house credit research capabiltesdy’s largest competitor in the global
credit rating business is Standard & Poor’s Ratigssices (“S&P”), a division of The McGraw-Hill Gganies, Inc. There are some rating
markets, based on industry, geography and/or im&nt type, in which Moodg’ has made investments and obtained market pasgigrerio
to S&P’s. In other markets, the reverse is true.

Another rating agency competitor of Moody'’s is Rita subsidiary of Fimalac S.A. Although Moody’'sié&P are each larger than Fitch,
competition is expected to increase. One or mod#iadal significant rating agencies also may emadrgthe United States as the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) has expanded, andaontinue to expand the number of Nationally R@e@ed Statistical Rating
Organizations (“NRSRO"). In February 2003, the S#&Signated Dominion Bond Rating Service, Ltd. oh&ia (‘DBRS”) a NRSRO and in
March 2005, the SEC designated A.M. Best Compargy,d NRSRO. Competition may also emerge in deeelaparkets outside the United
States over the next few years, for example, ipasse to the growth in the European capital markedsin developing markets. Any such
rating agencies that may emerge may receive sufipantlocal governments or other institutions.

Additional rating agencies have been establisheahgpily in emerging markets and as a result olaapital market regulation. Regulators
worldwide have perceived that credit ratings cathfer regulatory objectives for the developmenpuatblic fixed-income securities markets.
The result has been the creation of a number ofgily national rating agencies in various courstri@ertain of these regulatory efforts may
have the unintended effect of producing less cleddtings over time. Attempts to standardize gaisystems or criteria may make all rating
systems and agencies appear undifferentiated, obgarariations in the quality of the ratings praers. In addition, since Moody'’s believes
that some of its most significant challenges angbojunities will arise outside the United Statésyill have to compete with rating agencies
that may have a stronger local presence or a lasggmating history in those markets.

Financial regulators are reviewing their approachupervision and are seeking comments on changdhe global regulatory framework.
Bank regulators, under the oversight of the Basgh@ittee on Banking Supervision, have proposedgusfined risk assessments as the
basis for minimum capital requirements. The proddsendardized Approach relies on rating agencyiops, while the proposed Internal
Ratings Based Approach relies on systems and meseasaintained by the regulated bank. The increagpdatory focus on credit risk
presents both opportunities and challenges for Mao&lobal demand for credit ratings and risk ngaraent services may rise, but
regulatory actions may result in a greater numleating agencies and/or additional regulation afddy’s and its competitors. Alternatively,
banking or securities market regulators could $eekduce the use of ratings in regulations, theretucing certain elements of demand for
ratings, or otherwise seek to control the analysisusiness of rating agencies.

Credit rating agencies such as Moody’s also compéteother means of managing credit risk, suchradit insurance. Competitors that
develop quantitative methodologies for assessiaditrisk also may pose a competitive threat to om

Moody’s KMV’s main competitors for quantitative nsaes of default risk include the RiskMetrics Gro88.P, CreditSights, R&I's
Financial Technology Institute (in Japan), Fitclyédithmics, Dun and Bradstreet, models developtstially by customers and other sma
vendors. Other firms may compete in the future.eBatill, acquired by Experian, eCredit and Burean Dijk Electronic Publishing are
Moody’s KMV’s main competitors in the software matko assist banks in their commercial lendingvétegs. Mercer Oliver Wyman
competes with the professional services group aidyis KMV for certain credit risk consulting serei business.

5



Moody’s Strategy
Moody'’s intends to focus on the following opportigs:
Expansion in Financial Centers

Moody'’s serves its customers through its globalvoekt of offices and business affiliations. Moodgisrrently maintains full-service rating
and marketing operations in financial centers idiclg Frankfurt, Hong Kong, London, Madrid, MilaneW York, Paris, Singapore and
Tokyo. Moody’s expects that its global network vaisition it to benefit from the expansion of wavide capital markets and thereby
increase revenue. Moody’s also expects that thetgrof its Moody’s Investors Service business asm@sequence of financial market
integration in Europe will continue. Moody’s expetd continue its expansion into developing markétser directly or through joint
ventures.

New Rating Product:

Moody'’s is pursuing numerous initiatives to expanedit ratings from public fixed-income securitiearkets to other sectors with credit risk
exposures. Within established capital markets, Mtsodontinues to expand its rating coverage of daaks and project finance loans and
securities. In developing markets, Moody’s seeksxtend its credit opinion franchise to local aadional obligors, through domestic
currency ratings and national scale ratings. Ibal@and local counterparty markets, Moody’s offedistinct set of rating products to address
the creditworthiness of financial firms, throughmkdinancial strength and deposit ratings, andufhoinsurance financial strength ratings.
Moody’s has also introduced issuer ratings for ooaions not active in the debt markets. For corgpatings, Moody’s seeks to continue to
add value through the Enhanced Analysis Initialtiygroviding greater scope and depth of analysissafes related to company
creditworthiness, including enhanced liquidity agh flow analysis, and evaluation of accountigporate governance and risk
transference issues. Moody'’s has also introducedahtund indices and style-based analytical tbolassist in evaluating fund portfolio
characteristics and their performance. Finallygisponse to growing investor demand for expandeditoppinion in the high yield market,
Moody’s has announced its intention to introducthboss-given-default and probability-of-defaultings.

Additional Opportunities in Securitizatiol

The repackaging of financial assets has had a pnofeffect on the fixed-income markets. New pagerinsecuritization are expected to
emerge in the next decade. Although the bulk oftassecuritized in the past five years have beaswuer assets owned by banks,
commercial assets — principally commercial mortgaderm receivables and corporate obligations —nave increasingly being securitized.
Securitization has evolved into a strategic corf@fiaance tool in North America, Europe and Jajgend, is evolving elsewhere
internationally. Ongoing global development of rtoaditional financial instruments, such as creditihtives, future flow securities, hybrids,
credit-linked bonds and catastrophe bonds shoultirage to support growth. Moody’s has introduced iservices enabling investors to
monitor the performance of their investments inatired finance, covering asset-backed finance noertial mortgage finance, residential
mortgage finance and credit derivatives.

Internet-Enhanced Products and Services

Moody'’s is expanding its use of the Internet arfteoelectronic media to enhance client service. dytsowebsite provides the public with
instant access to ratings and provides the publicsabscribers with credit research. Internet éejialso enables Moodyto provide servict
to more individuals within a client organizatiorathwere available with paper-based products anfféo higher-value services because of
more timely delivery. Moody’s expects that accesthese applications will increase client use obhlids services. Moody’s expects to
continue to invest in electronic media to capiwlin these and other opportunities.
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Expansion of Credit Research Products and InvestrnAmalytic Tools

Moody’s plans to expand its research and analgticises through internal development and by actioisiTo respond to client demand, new
product initiatives are more analytic and datarieiee than traditional research offerings. Suclkises address investor interest in replicating
the monitoring activities conducted by, for exam®ody’s securitization analysts and provide the meansiustomers to gain access to
data and proprietary ratios used by Moody’s analiysthe rating process for municipalities, comparand financial institutions. These
products represent important sources of growthheresearch business unit. Moreover, Moody’s ool to explore opportunities to extend
its relevance in new domestic or regional marketg.{ China) as well as new functional markets. (&gdge funds).

New Quantitative Credit Risk Assessment Servi

Moody'’s will continue to provide banks and otherdfincial institutions with quantitative credit riaksessment services. Moody'’s believes that
there will be increased demand for such serviceaus® they enable customers trading or holdingtesedsitive assets to produce better
performance. Also, recent proposals by internatibaak regulatory authorities to recognize bankgiinal credit risk management systems
for the purpose of determining regulatory capitel @xpected to encourage adoption of such servitesdy’s also expects to provide
extensions to existing services and new serviegs as valuations of credit-sensitive assets.

Regulation

In the United States, Moody'’s Investors Servicelheen designated as a NRSRO by the SEC. The S&E@fiiplied the NRSRO designation
in 1975 to companies whose credit ratings coulddssl by broker-dealers for purposes of determitfieg net capital requirements. Since
that time, Congress (including in certain mortgagjated legislation), the SEC (including in certafrits regulations under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange At®9®4, as amended and the Investment Company Ad4f, as amended) and other
governmental and private bodies have used thegaihNRSROs to distinguish between, among othirg$h “investment grade” and “non-
investment grade” securities. Moody’s Investors/eralso voluntarily registers with the SEC asRIRO under the Investment Advisers
Act of 1940, as amended.

Over the past several years, U.S. regulatory andressional authorities have questioned the siittabf continuing to use ratings in federal
securities laws and, if such use is continuedptitential need for altering the regulatory framekwander which rating agencies operate.
Following is a summary of some recent developmigntise U.S.

In February 2005, Moody’s participated in a heatietd by the United States Senate Committee oniBgnklousing and Urban Affairs (the
“Banking Committee”) on Examining the Role of Creldating Agencies in the Capital Markets. Primamgaa of inquiry by senators on the
Banking Committee included: (i) potential confligkinterest affecting credit rating agencies and tthose conflicts can be avoided or
properly managed; and (ii) the degree of compaeititiothe credit ratings industry and how competitiight be increased. Moody’s written
statement submitted to the Committee can be fourtth@Regulatory Affairpage of the Company’s website at www.moodys.cone. Th
Banking Committee has scheduled another hearinyléoch 7, 2006.

In March 2005, the SEC disclosed that in considgtie oversight of NRSROs, it may pursue a volynt@mpliance and oversight
framework for rating agencies that are designasedRSROs, or it could seek legislative authorityféomal oversight of NRSROs. Moody’s
continues to cooperate with the SEC in its effartdevelop the voluntary framework with the NRSROs.

In April 2005, the SEC released for public commeftroposed Rule on the “Definition of Nationallyd@gnized Statistical Rating
Organization”. The proposed definition of the tdiRSRO is an entity that: (i) issues publicly aviliéacredit ratings that are current
assessments of the creditworthiness of obligors wit



respect to specific securities or money marketumsénts; (i) is generally accepted in the finahmarkets as an issuer of credible and
reliable ratings, including ratings for a partiquladustry or geographic segment, by the predontinaers of securities ratings; and (iii) uses
systematic procedures designed to ensure credidlesdiable ratings, manage potential conflictinéérest, and prevent the misuse of
nonpublic information, and has sufficient finanagiesources to ensure compliance with those proesddumerous market participants,
including Moody’s, responded to the request for ommt. Moody’s response can be found onRegulatory Affairpage of the Company’s
website.

In addition, in June 2005 the SEC produced techaigsistance pursuant to a congressional requasingeto statutory authority that the SEC
may need if Congress determines that it is appaiptd create a comprehensive oversight regimeréatit rating agencies. Congress had also
requested that market participants provide theiwsion the SEC’s technical assistance. Moody’s centsncan be found on tiRegulatory
Affairs page of the Company’s website.

In June 2005, U.S. House Representative Michagpé&itick (R-PA) introduced H.R. 2990, the “CredéatiRg Agency Duopoly Relief Act of
2005". The House of RepresentativEgiancial Services Subcommittee on Capital Marketd hearings on H.R. 2990 in June and Nover
2005, at which several interested parties testifRgpresentative Michael Oxley (R-OH), Chair of Heuse of Representatives’ Financial
Services Committee, has indicated his intentioadeance H.R. 2990 during 2006; the next stepsdrpthcess have not yet been announced.

At present, Moody'’s is unable to assess the likelthof any regulatory or legislative changes thay mesult from ongoing reviews in the
United States, nor the nature and effect of any seigulatory changes.

Internationally, several regulatory developmentgehaccurred:

IOSCO— In December 2004, the Technical Committee ofiternational Organization of Securities CommissighOSCO”) published the
Code of Conduct Fundamentals for Credit Rating Agen(the “IOSCO Code”). The IOSCO Code is the pobaf approximately two years
of collaboration among IOSCO, rating agencies aadkst participants, and incorporates provisions dllaress three broad areas:

* the quality and integrity of the rating process;
» credit rating agency independence and the avoelahconflicts of interest; and
« credit rating agency responsibilities to the stigg public and issuers.

The I0OSCO Code is not binding on credit rating &g It relies on voluntary compliance and publisclosure of areas of non-compliance
by credit rating agencies so that users of cradiihgs can better assess rating agency behavigrerfmrmance. Moodg endorsed the 10SC
Code and in June 2005 published its Code of PriofiealsConduct (the “Moody’s Code”) pursuant to tessCO Code. The Moody’s Code
can be found on thRegulatory Affairpage of the Company’s website.

European Commissic— In January 2006, the European Commission (“Corsimnis) produced for the European Parliament a
“Communication on Credit Rating Agencies” (the “Omomication”). The Communication was in responsa Eebruary 2004 Parliament
resolution asking the Commission to assess the foedegislative initiatives related to rating agess. In the Communication, the
Commission concluded that at present no additiawgsélation is required. The Commission noted tkaent European Union (“EU")
financial services legislative measures that deyvamt to credit rating agencies, combined witlel&egulatory framework for rating agenc
based on the IOSCO Code, can effectively addresm#jor concerns raised by the European Parliartreatdition, the Commission
indicated that it will ask the Committee of Europezecurities Regulators (“CESR”) to monitor ratagencies’ compliance with the IOSCO
Code and report back



regularly. The Commission also stated that it wmitinitor developments related to rating agenciestiaaidit could in the future re-evaluate its
approach or take legislative action.

Moody’s cannot predict whether the European Padiamwill agree with the Commission’s conclusionwdrether regulation or legislation
relating to rating agencies will be enacted inEhe

European Union Market Abuse Directi— In 2003, the EU adopted the Market Abuse Direx{ihe “Directive”), which provides a common
European framework for the prohibition of insideiating and market manipulation, and promotes maniegrity by ensuring prompt and f
disclosure of information about financial instrurteeto the public. The EU countries are currentlgpiohg legislation that implements the
Directive. While the Directive is applicable to phrticipants in the European capital markets Bbiehas excluded credit rating agencies from
certain of its rules that specifically addresstie and amount of information that should be disetl to the market. Depending on how each
EU country adopts the Directive, it could, amonigestthings, alter rating agencies’ communicatioith vgsuers as part of the rating
assignment process and increase Moody’s cost afidmisiness in Europe and the legal risk assocwitbdsuch business.

The Basel Committee- In June 2004, the Basel Committee on Banking Bigien published its new capital adequacy framdwtBasel

II") to replace its initial 1988 framework. UnderBel Il, ratings assigned by recognized credihgatigencies (called External Credit
Assessment Institutions, or “ECAIs”) would be atealative available to banks to determine credit weights for many of their institutional
credit exposures. Recognized ECAIs could be subjeatbroader range of oversight. It is anticipatet Basel Il will be implemented by
national regulatory authorities by January 2007.

In the EU, Basel Il has been adopted through th@t@laRequirements Directive (“CRD”), which amonther things set out criteria for
recognizing ECAIs within the EU. The Commissionatesl the Committee of European Banking Supervi6@EBS”), comprised of
European banking regulators, to advise it on bapgiiicy issues that include implementing the CRDJanuary 2006, CEBS published
“Guidelines for a common approach to the recognitibExternal Credit Assessment Institutions”. Huédelines provide the basis for a
consistent approach to the implementation of th®GHRCAI recognition and supervision criteria, aDBBS expects that national regulators
in EU Member States will apply the guidelines.

At this time Moody’s cannot predict the long-temrmpiact of Basel Il on the manner in which the Conypeonducts its business. However,
Moody’s does not currently believe that Basel Ill wiaterially affect its financial position or rdssiof operations.

Finally, Moody’s is subject to regulation in certaion-U.S. jurisdictions in which it operates. Sameent regulatory actions outside the
United States are noted below:

Italy — In implementing the Market Abuse Directive, Itgigssed two laws during 2005 that were relevardting agencies — the EU Law
2004 and the Reform of Savings Law. The EU Law 2&tadled that certain provisions of the Market AbDgective related to fair disclosure
of information about financial instruments to theébfic were applicable to credit opinions publistedhe Italian Market, although the
European Commission had explicitly excluded ratiggncies from those provisions. The Reform of Sg/lraw amended the EU Law 2004
and excluded rating agencies from the fair disalguovisions. The EU Law 2004 had also directeddhmmissione Nazionale per la
Societa e la Bors@CONSOB”) to implement an appropriate regulatagmework to supervise rating agency conduct iy ft8ONSOB
adopted regulations in November 2005 that reqaitieg agencies to adopt measures related to digelas information about financial
instruments and to disclose whether such measiffesfdom those articulated in the IOSCO Code.

Other legislation and regulation relating to crediing and research services has been considemadifne to time by local, national and
multinational bodies and is likely to be consideirethe future. In certain countries, governmengs/ mprovide financial or other support to
locally-based rating agencies. In addition, govesnts



may from time to time establish official rating agees or credit ratings criteria or proceduresefealuating local issuers. If enacted, any such
legislation and regulation could significantly clgarthe competitive landscape in which Moody’s ofexaln addition, the legal status of
rating agencies has been addressed by courtsiousatecisions and is likely to be considered aldtessed in legal proceedings from tim
time in the future. Management of Moodycannot predict whether these or any other prdpesh be enacted, the outcome of any pendin
possible future legal proceedings, or the ultiniaigact of any such matters on the competitive posifinancial position or results of
operations of Moody'’s.

Intellectual Property

Moody’s and its affiliates own and control a vayief trade secrets, confidential information, tnadeks, trade names, copyrights, patents,
databases and other intellectual property righag th the aggregate, are of material importandddody’s business. Management of Moogly’
believes that each of the “Moody’s”, “Moody’s KM\&nd the “M Circle Logo'trademarks and related names, marks and logod arateria
importance to Moody’s. Moody’s is licensed to usetain technology and other intellectual propeigyts owned and controlled by others,
and, similarly, other companies are licensed tocgstain technology and other intellectual propeigirts owned and controlled by Moody’s.
Moody’s considers its trademarks, service markigleses, software and other intellectual properbetproprietary, and Moody'’s relies on a
combination of copyright, trademark, trade segratent, non-disclosure and contractual safeguardsrbtection.

In 2002, Moodys formed two subsidiaries that hold some of itsliattual property. The first, MIS Quality Managerh€orp., was formed !
own, manage, protect, enforce and license therrades of Moody’s and its affiliates. The second,ddg's Assurance Company, Inc., is a
New York State“captive” insurance company that self-insures Mds@ygainst certain risks and owns Moody'’s ratingtatases,
methodologies and related software and processaddition to other assets in support of its insoegprogram.

The names of Moody’s products and services refdodarein are trademarks, service marks or regdteademarks or service marks owned
by or licensed to Moody’s or one or more of itssdlaries.

Employees
As of December 31, 2005, the number of full-timeigglent employees of Moody’s was approximatelyoR,9
Available Information

Moody'’s investor relations Internet website is htipmoodys.com/. Under the “SEC Filings” tab histwebsite, the Company makes
available free of charge its annual reports on FborK, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current igpon Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports as soon as reasonably practicaklethfty are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

10



EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Name, Age and Position

Biographical Data

Jeanne M. Dering, 50

Executive Vice President, Global Regulatory Affaarsl Compliance

Jennifer Elliott, 40
Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer

John J. Goggins, 45
Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Linda S. Huber, 47
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

11

Ms. Dering has served as the Comparfygkecutive Vice Preside
Global Regulatory Affairs and Compliance since N2&Q5.
Previously, she had served as the CompmaB8gnior Vice Preside
and Chief Financial Officer since October 1, 206d & February
2005 was named Executive Vice President and Cliefngial
Officer. In addition, she has had senior managemesmtonsibility
for Moody'’s Information Technology group since Janu2004.
Ms. Dering joined Moody’s Investors Service, Irn.April 1997
as Managing Director, Finance Officer, and becam€hief
Financial Officer in 1998. Prior thereto, she spaote than 10
years at Old D&B in a number of financial managetpasitions,
including Director of Budgets & Financial Analysiad Director
of Financial Planning — Acquisitions and New Busisie
Development

Ms. Elliott has served as the Company’s Vice Pesgidind Chief
Human Resources Officer since February 2005. Puslyjpshe
had served as Managing Director for Moaustralia since 19¢
and was also a director of Moody'’s Investors Serty Limited.
She was Vice President and Senior Analyst in Moe@¢tuctured
Finance Group from 1996 until 1999 and an Analgghat group
from 1993 until 1996. Prior thereto, she was a bapknd finance
lawyer in Sydney, Australi

Mr. Goggins has served as the Company’s Senior Riesident
and General Counsel since October 1, 2000. Mr. (Bsggined
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. in February 199%/ae
President and Associate General Counsel and beGameral
Counsel in 2000. Prior thereto, he served as cdoah&ow Jones
& Company from 1995 to 1999, where he was resptam§ip
securities, acquisitions and general corporatearsatPrior to Dov
Jones, he was an associate at Cadwalader, Wickergh@aft
from 1985 to 1995, where he specialized in mergats
acquisitions

Ms. Huber has served as the Company’s Executive Fiesident
and Chief Financial Officer since May 2005. Prioereto, she
served as Executive Vice President and Chief Fiaad@dficer at
U.S. Trust Company, a subsidiary of Charles Sché&v&ompany,
Inc., from 2003 to 2005. Prior to U.S. Trust, sheswlanaging
Director at Freeman & Co. from 1998 through 2002 Served
PepsiCo as Vice President of Corporate StrategyDmwvetlopmen



Joseph (Jay) McCabe, 55
Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., 48
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Moody’s Caigdibn and
President, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.

Chester V. A. Murray, 50
Executive Vice President, International, Moody'sdators Service

12

from 1997 until 1998 and as Vice President and #iast
Treasurer from 1994 until 1997. She served as Fiesident in
the Energy Investment Banking Group at BankerstT@asnpany
from 1991 until 1994 and as an Associate in ther@n&roup at
First Boston Corporation from 1986 through 199Ce &tso held
the rank of Captain in the U.S. Army where she egifvtom 1980
to 1984.

Mr. McCabe has served as the Company’s Senior Riesident
and Corporate Controller since December 2005. MiCkbe
joined Moodvs in July 2004 as Vice President and Corporate
Controller. Prior thereto, he served as Vice Pedid Corporate
Controller at PPL Corporation, an energy and ytitibmpany,
from 1994 to 2003. Prior to PPL Corporation, hevedrDeloitte &
Touche as Partner from 1984 to 1993 and as a meofitiee
firm’s audit practice from 1973 to 19¢

Mr. McDaniel has served as the Company’s ChairnmehGhief
Executive Officer since April 2005. Mr. McDanielrged as the
Company'’s President from October 2004 to April 2608 as
Chief Operating Officer from January 2004 to AR@05. He has
served as a member of the Board of Directors sipré 2003 and
President of Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. siNowember
2001. Mr. McDaniel also served as Executive Vicesitent of th
Company from April 2003 to January 2004 and SeMiioe
President from October 1, 2000 until April 2003. $&gved as
Senior Managing Director, Global Ratings and Redganf
Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc., from November 2006
November 2001. Prior thereto, he had served as diag
Director, International, since 1996 and served aséding
Director, Europe, from 1993 until 1996. He alsovedras
Associate Director in Moody’s Structured Finance@r from
1989 until 1993, and as Senior Analyst in the Magtg
Securitization Group from 1988 to 1989. Mr. McDdidealso a
director of John Wiley & Sons, In

Mr. Murray served as the Company’s Senior Vice iflesg and
Chief Human Resources Officer from October 2002u0e 2004
and again as Chief Human Resource Officer from mt@004 to
February 2005. He has served as Executive Vicadems
International of Moody'’s Investors Service, Inaicg January
2004. Mr. Murray served as Senior Managing Direcfdvioody’s
Investors Service, Inc., from November 2001 untitgber 2002;
Group Managing Director-Europe from 1996 until Nonaer
2001; Managing Director of the Financial InstitumsoGroup from
1993 until 1996; and Associate Director of the Fitial
Institutions Group from 1990 until 1993. He wasemi®r Analyst
for the Financial Institutions Group from 1985 LA®90. Prior
thereto, Mr. Murray was a lending officer in thetihaAmerican
division of Irving Trust Company from 1981 until 8.



ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors and other informatiorcinded in this annual report on Form 10-K shoula@esfully considered. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only dme£ompany faces. Additional risks and unceriesntot presently known to the Comp:
or that the Compang’management currently deems minor or insignifiedstt may impair its business operations. If antheffollowing risk:
occur, Moody’s business, financial condition, opi@gresults and cash flows could be materiallyeadely affected.

Changes in the Volume of Debt Securities Issueddamestic and/or Global Capital Markets and Changadnterest Rates and Other
Volatility in the Financial Markets

Approximately 80% of Moody’s revenue in 2005 wasikd from ratings, a significant portion of whigras related to the issuance of credit-
sensitive securities in the global capital marketsody’s revenue growth from these sources in 2085 in line with its compound annual
growth rate from 2001 through 2004 as continueehsih in global structured finance, strong finahicistitutions issuance and ratings of
bank credit facilities was partially offset by timepacts of declines in U.S. high yield issues anthvestment grade corporate finance issu:
volumes in the U.S. and Europe. The Company aitiegpthat a substantial part of its business wiitioue to be dependent on the number
and dollar volume of debt securities issued incdygital markets. Therefore, the Company'’s resultdcche adversely affected by a reduction
in the level of debt issuance.

Unfavorable financial or economic conditions thigher reduce investor demand for debt securitie®duce issuers’ willingness or ability to
issue such securities could reduce the number altett dolume of debt issuance for which Moody’syad®es ratings services. In addition,
increases in interest rates or credit spreadstilylan financial markets or the interest ratevepnment, significant political or economic
events, defaults of significant issuers and otherket and economic factors may negatively impaeigneral level of debt issuance, the debt
issuance plans of certain categories of borroveard/or the types of credit-sensitive products beifigred. A sustained period of market
decline or weakness could also have a materialrad\edfect on Moody’s business and financial result

Possible Loss of Market Share or Revenue Throughn@petition or Regulatior

The markets for credit ratings, research and creskitmanagement services are increasingly conngeti¥loody’s competes on the basis of a
number of factors, including quality of ratingsiecit service, research, reputation, regulatoryitjcation, price, geographic scope, range of
products and technological innovation. For examplierge investment grade default could impacQbmpany’s reputation and potentially
lead to greater regulatory oversight. Moody’s faoeseasing competition from S&P, Fitch, DBRS, lbeing agencies in a number of
jurisdictions and niche companies that providengtifor particular types of financial products ssuers (such as A.M. Best Company, |

with respect to the insurance industry). Since Mi®btelieves that some of its most significant tdages and opportunities will arise outside
the U.S., it will have to compete with rating agesahat may have a stronger local presence argetooperating history in those markets.
These local providers or comparable competitorsrtiey emerge in the future may receive support fimeal governments or other
institutions that Moody’s does not receive.

Currently, Moody’s, S&P, Fitch, DBRS and A.M. B&bmpany, Inc. are designated as NRSROs by the BB@arch 2005, the SEC
disclosed that in considering the oversight of NRSRit may pursue a voluntary compliance and ogbtdramework for rating agencies that
are designated as NRSROs, or it could seek leigislatthority for formal compliance and oversight NRSROs.

In April 2005, the SEC released for public commeefroposed Rule on the “Definition of Nationallydegnized Statistical Rating
Organization”. The proposed definition of the t&diRSRO is an entity that: (i) issues publicly avidiéacredit ratings that are current
assessments of the creditworthiness of obligors mispect to specific securities or money markstiments; (ii) is generally accepted in the
financial markets as an issuer of credible andiddi ratings, including ratings for a particuladustry or geographic segment, by the
predominant users of securities ratings; anduggs systematic procedures designed to ensuréleradid
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reliable ratings, manage potential conflicts oénesst, and prevent the misuse of nonpublic infolenatind has sufficient financial resources
to ensure compliance with those procedures. Nunsamarket participants, including Moody'’s, responttethe request for comment.
Moody'’s response can be found on Begulatory Affairpage of the Company’s website.

In addition, in June 2005 the SEC produced techaissistance pursuattt a congressional request, relating to statutatjaity that the SE¢
may need if Congress determines that it is appatgtd create a comprehensive oversight regimerédlit rating agencies. Congress had also
requested that market participants provide thewsion the SEC’s technical assistance. Moody’s cemtsncan be found on tiRegulatory
Affairs page of the Company’s website.

At present, Moody'’s is unable to assess the libelthof any regulatory changes that may result filoeenSEC’s ongoing review. However, the
elimination of the NRSRO concept, retention of MRSRO concept with different regulatory oversigitSEC recognition of additional
NRSROs could result in loss of market share ormaedor Mood's, or higher costs of operations.

Introduction of Competing Products or Technologieéy Other Companie

The markets for credit ratings, research and creskitmanagement services are increasingly coningtithe ability to provide innovative
products and technologies that anticipate custérmbasging requirements and to utilize emergindntexdogical trends is a key factor in
maintaining market share. Competitors may develagmtjtative methodologies or related services §seasing credit risk that customers and
market participants may deem preferable, more effsttive or more valuable than the credit riskeassnent methods currently employed by
Moody’s.

Increased Pricing Pressure from Competitors and@ustomers

In the credit rating, research and credit risk nganaent markets, competition for customers and matiare has spurred more aggressive
tactics by some competitors in areas such as grani service. While Moody’s seeks to compete milynan the basis of the quality of its
products and service, if its pricing and serviaesret sufficiently competitive with its currentdafuture competitors, Moody’s may lose
market share.

Possible Loss of Key Employees to Investment or @amtial Banks or Elsewhere and Related Compensatitwst Pressure

Moody'’s success depends in part upon recruitingratadning highly skilled, experienced financiabfysts and other professionals.
Competition for qualified staff in the financialrs&es industry is intense, and Moody'’s abilityatitract staff could be impaired if it is unable
to offer competitive compensation and other inaexsti Investment banks and other competitors follyantlent may be able to offer higher
compensation than Moody’s. Moody’s also may noable to identify and hire employees in some mar&atside the U.S. with the required
experience or skills to perform sophisticated dradalysis. Moody'’s ability to compete effectivelll continue to depend, among other
things, on its ability to attract new employees smtketain and motivate existing employees.

Exposure to Litigation Related to Moo'’s Rating Opinions

Moody'’s faces litigation from time to time from pi&s claiming damages relating to ratings actibmsaddition, as Moody’s international
business expands, these types of claims may ireteasuse foreign jurisdictions may not have lpgatections or liability standards
comparable to those in the U.S. (such as protecfimmthe expression of credit opinions as is ptediby the First Amendment). These risks
often may be difficult to assess or quantify argirtiexistence and magnitude often remains unknawsudbstantial periods of time.

14



Potential Emergence of Governme-Sponsored Credit Rating Agencies

When governments adopt regulations that requiré sksturities to be rated, establish criteria feddrratings or authorize only certain enti

to provide credit ratings, the competitive balanogng rating agencies and the level of demandatorgs may be positively or negatively
affected. Government-mandated ratings criteria aiggy have the effect of displacing objective assesss of creditworthiness. In these
circumstances, debt issuers may be less likelase bheir choice of rating agencies on criteridnsicindependence and credibility, and more
likely to base their choice on their assumptiomoashich credit rating agency might provide a higteting, which may negatively affect the
Company.

Potential for New U.S., Foreign, State and Local gislation and Regulations, Including Those Relatirtg Nationally Recognize
Statistical Rating Organization

In the United States and other countries, the kwgsregulations applicable to credit ratings anithgaagencies continue to evolve and are
presently subject to review by a number of legigtabr regulatory bodies, including the SEC in thdted States and the CESR on behalf of
the European Union. It is possible that such resieauld lead to greater oversight or regulationceoming the issuance of credit ratings ot
activities of credit rating agencies. Such addailaegulations could, potentially, increase thet€associated with the operation of a credit
rating agency, alter the rating agencies’ commuitina with the issuers as part of the rating agaigmt process, increase the legal risk
associated with the issuance of credit ratingsngbahe regulatory framework to which credit rataggencies are subject and/or affect the
competitive environment in which credit rating agiess operate. A description of certain of the nreent regulatory initiatives in the United
States and other countries is described above thdeection entitled “Regulation” in Item 1, “Bosss”, of this Form 10-K. At present,
Moody'’s is unable to predict the regulatory chantias may result from ongoing reviews by the SE®@tber regulatory bodies or the effect
that any such changes may have on its business.

Exposure to Increased Risk from Multinational Opetians

Moody’s maintains offices outside the U.S. and deriveigiaificant portion of its revenue from sourcessiig the U.S. operations in differe
countries expose Moody’s to a number of legal, eatin and regulatory risks such as:

« changes in legal and regulatory requirements affgetither Mood’s operations or its custom’ use of rating:
* possible nationalization, expropriation, price colst and other restrictive governmental acti

» restrictions on the ability to convert local curcgrinto U.S. dollar:

e currency fluctuation

» export and import restrictions, tariffs and othrade barrier:

« difficulty in staffing and managing offices as au# of, among other things, distance, travel,uwalkdifferences and intense
competition for trained personr

» longer payment cycles and problems in collectiragreables
» political and economic instabilit
» potentially adverse tax consequen

Any of these factors could have a material adveffezt on the business, financial condition andiltesof operations of the Company in the
future.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The executive offices of Moody’s are located at3furch Street, New York, New York, in a 297,000-&gufoot property owned by
Moody’s. Moody’s operations are also conducted fidhother U.S. offices and 30 non-U.S. office lawad, all of which are leased. These
other properties are geographically distributethtet operating and sales requirements worldwides@&lproperties are generally considered
to be both suitable and adequate to meet currearabpg requirements, and virtually all space indaitilized.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, Moody'’s is involved in legal atak proceedings, claims and litigation that amdantal to the Company’s business,
including claims based on ratings assigned by Mmdyoody'’s is also subject to ongoing tax auditslie normal course of business.
Management periodically assesses the Companyifitisdand contingencies in connection with thessters based upon the latest
information available. Moody’s discloses materiahging legal proceedings, other than routine litcqaincidental to Moody'’s business,
material proceedings known to be contemplated wegonental authorities, and other pending matteasit may determine to be
appropriate. For those matters where it is botlbaiote that a liability has been incurred and thewm of loss can be reasonably estimated,
the Company has recorded reserves in the consatidiziancial statements and periodically adjusts¢treserves as appropriate. In other
instances, because of the uncertainties relatbdttothe probable outcome and/or the amount oreraf¢pss, management does not record a
liability but discloses the contingency if signdiat. As additional information becomes availatiie, Company adjusts its assessments and
estimates of such liabilities accordingly.

The discussion of the litigation under the headlmegacy Contingencies” under Item 7. “ManagemebBiiscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”, commencingaate 35 of this annual report on Form 10-K, i®iporated into this ltem 3 by
reference.

Based on its review of the latest information aafalié, in the opinion of management, the ultimatbility of the Company in connection with
pending legal and tax proceedings, claims andhlitign will not have a material adverse effect onolligs financial position, results of
operations or cash flows, subject to the contingendescribed in Part I, Item 7. “Management’sdd&sion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Contingericies

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year coveby this annual report on Form 10-K, no matter sasmitted to a vote of security holders.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Information in response to this Item is set fortlder the captions “Common Stock Information” andviBends” in Item 7 of this annual
report on Form 10-K.

MOODY'S PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
For the Three Months Ended December 31, 2005

Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value of

Purchased as Part of Shares That May yet be
Total Number of Average Price Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
Period Shares Purchase Paid per Share Program Program (1)
October 1- 31 3,870,12:(2) $ 51.0C 3,869,901 $ 1,022.0 millior
November 1- 30 1,610,35; $ 55.3¢ 1,610,35; $ 932.9 millior
December - 31 1,262,61! $ 60.9¢ 1,262,61! $ 856.0 millior
Total 6,743,09. 6,742,87

(1) As of the last day of each of the months. OtoBer 25, 2005, the Board of Directors authorize@aditional $1 billion share
repurchase program. There is no established eipirdate for this authorization. During Novembe020the Company complet
its previous $600 million program, which had beatharized by the Board of Directors in May 2004.ribg June 2004, the
Company had completed its previous $450 milliorgpam, which had been authorized by the Board aéd@ars in October 200

(2) Includes the surrender to the Company of 222eshin October of common stock to satisfy tax hetling obligations in
connection with the vesting of restricted stockiestto employee:

During the fourth quarter of 2005, Moody’s repurebd 6.7 million shares at an aggregate cost of 8368lion and issued 1.6 million shares
of stock under employee stock compensation planse®ecoming a public company in October 2000tamaligh December 31, 2005,
Moody’s has repurchased 66.4 million shares ated tost of $1.8 billion, including 32.1 million afes to offset issuances under employee
stock compensation plans.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The Company’s selected consolidated financial datald be read in conjunction with Item 7. “Manage’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” #relMoody’s Corporation consolidated financial stagénts and notes thereto.

Year Ended December 31,

amounts in millions, except per share data 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Results of operations (1)

Revenue $1,731.¢ $1,438.0 $1,246.¢ $1,023.0 $796.7

Expense! 792.( 651.¢ 583.t 485.2 398.2

Operating incomi 939.€ 786.4 663.1 538.1 398.t

Non-operating expense, net ( (4.9 (15.7) (6.7) (20.7) (16.€)

Income before provision for income tay 934.7 7715 656.4 517.¢ 381.¢

Provision for income taxe 373.¢ 346.2 292.t 228.F 169.7

Net income $ 560.6 $ 4251 $ 363.¢ $ 288.¢ $212.:
Earnings per share (3)

Basic $ 18 $ 14 $ 122 $ 094 $ 0.67

Diluted $ 18 $ 14C $ 11¢ $ 09z $ 0.6¢€
Weighted average shares outstanding (:

Basic 297.% 297.( 297.¢ 307.¢ 315.2

Diluted 305.€ 304.% 304.€ 315.( 320.¢
Dividends declared per share $ 024 $ 01t $ 011 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Balance sheet dat:

Total assets (4 $1,457.. $1,389.. $ 959.¢ $ 633.7 $505.

Long-term debt (5 $ 300 $ — $ 300.C $ 300.C $300.C

Shareholder equity (deficit) $ 3094 $ 3175 $ (32.1) $(327.0) $(304.)

(1) The 2002 results of operations include revenuet@f million, expenses of $42.8 million and an apieg loss of $0.7 million related
KMV, which was acquired in April 200:

(2) Non-operating expense, net includes $21.0 million,.@28illion, $23.5 million, $23.5 million and $22rAillion in 2005, 2004, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively, of interest expersephncipally relates to the Comparsy$300 million of notes payable issued in Oct

2000 that were repaid in September 2005 and thep@oyis $300 million of notes payable issued in 8eyiter 2005. The 2003 amount
also includes a gain of $13.6 million on an insgerecovery related to the September 11th trac

(3) Prior period earnings per share and weighted aeeshgres outstanding have been adjusted to réfledtlay 2005 -for-1 stock split
(4) Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiembhform to the current presentati

(5) At December 31, 2004, the notes payable schedalathture in September 2005 were classified asramuiability.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis of financial condiol results of operations should be read in catijom with the Moody’s Corporation
consolidated financial statements and notes thémetaded elsewhere in this annual report on FodaiK1

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firer@ondition and Results of Operations containsvaod-Looking Statements. See
“Forward-Looking Statements” on page 39 and Item “Risk Factors” commencing on page 13 for a dis@usof uncertainties, risks and
other factors associated with these statements.

The Company

Except where otherwise indicated, the terms “Moetighd the “Company” refer to Moody’s Corporatiarddts subsidiaries. Moody’s is a
provider of (i) credit ratings, research and analgsvering fixed income securities, other debtrimaents and the entities that issue such
instruments in the global capital markets, andicteaining services and (ii) quantitative credgkrassessment products and services and
credit processing software for banks, corporatamms investors in credit-sensitive assets. Moodperates in two reportable segments:
Moody'’s Investors Service and Moody’s KMV.

Moody'’s Investors Service publishes rating opinionsa broad range of credit obligors and creditgattions issued in domestic and
international markets, including various corporatel governmental obligations, structured financaistes and commercial paper programs.
It also publishes investor-oriented credit reseairatiuding in-depth research on major debt issuadistry studies, special comments and
credit opinion handbooks.

The Moody’s KMV business develops and distributearditative credit risk assessment products andcgey and credit processing software
for banks, corporations and investors in creditsggame assets.

The Company operated as part of The Dun & Brads@eeporation (“Old D&B”) until September 30, 20Q®e “Distribution Date”), when
Old D&B separated into two publicly traded companie Moody’s Corporation and The New D&B Corporat{tNew D&B"). At that time,
Old D&B distributed to its shareholders shares efMND&B stock. New D&B comprised the business of OkIB’s Dun & Bradstreet
operating company (the “D&B Business”). The remagnbusiness of Old D&B consisted solely of the bass of providing ratings and
related research and credit risk management ser(tice “Moody’s Business”) and was renamed “Moodytsporation”. The method by
which Old D&B distributed to its shareholders iteges of New D&B stock is hereinafter referred gdte “2000 Distribution”.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Moody’s discussion and analysis of its financiatdition and results of operations are based oCthrepany’s consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordeititaccounting principles generally accepted i thnited States. The preparation of
these financial statements requires Moody’s to nestienates and judgments that affect reported ateafrassets and liabilities and related
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilitighatdates of the financial statements and revandeexpenses during the reporting periods.
These estimates are based on historical exper@rden other assumptions that are believed todsorable under the circumstances. On an
ongoing basis, Moody'’s evaluates its estimatedydicg those related to revenue recognition, actorecteivable allowances, contingencies,
goodwill and intangible assets, pension and otbst-petirement benefits and stock-based compemsaiittual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditidhe following accounting estimates are consideréital because they are particularly
dependent on management’s judgment about mattrauth uncertain at the time the accounting eséisnate made and changes to those
estimates could have a material impact on the Cagip@onsolidated results of operations or finahctandition.
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Revenue Recoghnitio

In recognizing revenue related to ratings, Moodyses judgments to allocate billed revenue betwatimgs and the future monitoring of
ratings in cases where the Company does not cluag@ng monitoring fees for a particular issuere3é judgments are not dependent on the
outcome of future uncertainties, but rather refatallocating revenue across accounting periodsutih cases, the Company defers portiol
rating fees that it estimates will be attributeduture monitoring activities and recognizes théeded revenue ratably over the estimated
monitoring periods.

The portion of the revenue to be deferred is baget a number of factors, including the fair mankatie of the monitoring services charged
for similar securities or issuers. The estimateditooing period over which the deferred revenud ba recognized is determined based on
factors such as the lives of the rated securi@estently, the estimated monitoring periods rarrgenfone year to ten years. At December 31,
2005 and 2004, deferred revenue included approrisn&B85 million and $30 million, respectively, ridd to such deferred monitoring fees.

Additionally, in the case of commercial mortgageHsd securities, issuers can elect to pay the mamni fees upfront. These fees are
deferred and recognized over the future monitopiedod which is determined based on factors su¢heaBves of the rated securities.
Currently, the estimated monitoring period is 2@nge At December 31, 2005 and 2004, deferred reveglated to commercial mortgage-
backed securities was approximately $50 million $8d million, respectively.

Moody'’s estimates revenue for ratings of commenégder for which, in addition to a fixed annual ntoring fee, issuers are billed quarterly
based on amounts outstanding. Related revenuernisesiteach quarter based on estimated amountsuoditsg and is billed subsequently
when actual data is available. The estimate isrohéted based on the issuers’ most recent reportadeyly data. At December 31, 2005 and
2004, accounts receivable included approximately@Blion and $29 million, respectively, relatedgocrued commercial paper revenue.
Historically, the Company has not had materialedghces between the estimated revenue and the bitlings.

Accounts Receivable Allowanc

Moody’s records as reductions of revenue provisfongstimated future adjustments to customerrgjiibased on historical experience and
current conditions. Such provisions are reflecteddditions to the accounts receivable allowancgugiments to and write-offs of accounts
receivable are charged against the allowance. Meadluates its accounts receivable by reviewimdyassessing historical collection and
adjustment experience and the current status ¢tdimgs accounts. Moody’s also considers the econemidconment of the customers, both
from an industry and geographic perspective, iduatang the need for allowances. Based on its mesjédoody’s establishes or adjusts
allowances, as considered appropriate. This praneet/es a high degree of judgment and estimadiath could involve significant dollar
amounts. Accordingly, Moodg'results of operations can be affected by adjusrte the allowance. Management believes thaallbevance
for uncollectible accounts is adequate to coveicgatted adjustments and writéts under current conditions. However, significahinges i
any of the above-noted factors, or actual writes-off adjustments that differ from the estimated am® could result in allowances that are
greater or less than Moody’s estimates. In ea@066 and 2004, the Company adjusted its provisitesrand its allowances to reflect its
current estimate of the appropriate level of act®ueceivable allowance.

Contingencies

Accounting for contingencies, including those matiescribed in the “Contingencies” section of Msnagemens Discussion and Analys
is highly subjective and requires the use of judgim@nd estimates in assessing their magnitudékaty outcome. In many cases, the
outcomes of such matters will be determined bydtharties, including governmental or judicial badi€he provisions made in the
consolidated financial

20



statements, as well as the related disclosuresegept management’s best estimates of the theentwstiatus of such matters and their
potential outcome based on a review of the faatksimmeonsultation with outside legal counsel whiemed appropriateThe Company
regularly reviews contingencies and as additionf@rmation becomes available may, in the futurgystdhe provisions made in respect
thereof. Since the potential exposure on manyedgdhmatters is material, and it is possible thegghmatters could be resolved in amounts
are greater than the Company has reserved, tiseiuteon could have a material adverse effect od§ts future reported results and
financial position. In addition, potential cashlays related to the resolution of these exposusegide material.

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 200grak&sion for income taxes reflected credits of8d@illion and charges of $30.0 million
due to changes in the Company’s reserves, respgtfor legacy income tax exposures that wererassiby Moody’s in connection with its
separation from Old D&B in October 2000. Thesertetters are discussed under “Legacy Tax Mattertgwe

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Moody'’s evaluates its goodwill for impairment antyar more frequently if impairment indicators seiin accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142 oalwill and Other Intangible Assets”. Moody's alewiewed the MKMV trade secret
for impairment which was reclassified as a fifited asset beginning in December 2005. The evialuatf the carrying value of goodwill a
the MKMV trade secret requires that the Companyeriakportant assumptions and judgments about futpegating results and cash flows
well as terminal values and discount rates. Imesting future operating results and cash flows, @ considers internal budgets and
strategic plans, expected long-term growth rated,the effects of external factors and market domdh. If actual future operating results and
cash flows or external conditions differ from then@any’s judgments, or if changes in assumed teimedues or discount rates are made,
an impairment charge may be necessary to reduasathging value of goodwill and the MKMV trade set;rwhich charge could be material
to the Company’s financial position and result®pérations. Amortizable intangible assets are westitfor recoverability whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the cargingunt may not be recoverable.

Pension and Other Po-Retirement Benefits

The expenses, assets, liabilities and obligatibasMoody’s reports for pension and other posteatient benefits are dependent on many
assumptions concerning the outcome of future evamscircumstances. These assumptions includetioaving:

« future compensation increases, based on the Cor's lon¢-term actual experience and future outl

» long-term return on pension plan assets, basedstorical portfolio results and the expected futaverage annual return for each
major asset class within the p’'s portfolio (which is principally comprised of e¢quand fixec-income investments

» future healthcare cost trends, based on histomeaket data, ne-term outlooks and assessments of likely -term trends
» discount rates, based on current yields on-grade corporate lo-term bonds

The discount rate selected to measure the preakre of the Company’s benefit obligations as of &eber 31, 2005 was derived using a
cash flow matching method whereby the Company coesphe plans’ projected payment obligations by yéth the corresponding yield on
the Citibank Pension Discount Curve. The cash flaresthen discounted to their present value aravarall discount rate is determined.
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Moody’s major assumptions vary by plan and assumptiosd aie set forth in Note 10 to the consolidatedrfaial statements. In determin
these assumptions, the Company consults with autggitliaries and other advisors as deemed appmpfidiile the Company believes that
the assumptions used in its calculations are reddendifferences in actual experience or changessumptions could have a significant
effect on the expenses, assets and liabilitiesetli® the Company’s pension and other post-retérgrbenefits. When actual plan experience
differs from the assumptions used, actuarial gairlesses arise which are amortized over the estirfature working life of the plan
participants. Total unrecognized actuarial lossepénsion plans as of December 31, 2005 were $6i8n and the Company expects to
recognize approximately $3.3 million of such lossethe Company’s 2006 net periodic pension expense

Differences between the expected long-term ratetofn assumption and actual experience couldadfeat the net periodic pension expense.
The Company recognizes these differences overyfaes. As of December 31, 2005, the Company hascagnized plan asset gains of $0.4
million and the recognition of such gains is nopested to have a material impact on future nepgé@ripension expense.

The table below shows the estimated effect thateapercentage-point decrease in each of these psumwill have on Moody’s 2006
operating income (dollars in millions). These efégsave been calculated using the Company’s cuprejections of 2006 assets, liabilities,
obligations and expenses related to pension ared pthst-retirement plans, which could change asitggddata becomes available.

Estimated Impact on

Assumption Used fo 2006 Operating Incom

2006 (Decrease)/Increase
Discount Rate’ 5.60% / 5.45% $ (4.9
Weighted Average Assumed Compensation Growth 4.00% $ 1.€
Assumed Lon-Term Rate of Return on Pension Ass 8.35% $ (2.0)

* Discount rates of 5.60% and 5.45% are used fosjpa plans and other post-retirement plans, reisedc

A one percentage-point increase in assumed hesdtiecat trend rates would not have affected 20@8atimg income. Based on current
projections, the Company estimates that expensaedeo pension and post-retirement plans wilhpproximately $14.7 million in 2006
compared with $12.3 million (excluding a $3.2 noillisettlement loss) in 2005. The expected expemsedse in 2006 reflects the effects of
lower discount rates, normal growth in plan liai@s, the amendment to the Company’s healthcaretplancrease Moody'’s share of future
costs, higher compensation for the Supplementatiiikee Benefit Plan participants, as well as amzation of actuarial losses.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted, on agetigp basis, the fair value method of accountargstock-based compensation under the
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stockd®d Compensation”, as amended by SFAS No. 14&0uxding for Stock-Based
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure — an Amagrtt of FASB Statement No. 123", Therefore, empdostock options granted on and
after January 1, 2003 are being expensed by thep@ayrover the current four-year option vesting @efior sooner if employees are at or
near retirement eligibility), based on the estirddtar value of the option award on the date ohgrahe estimated fair value is calculated
based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model uassumptions and estimates that the Company belareereasonable. Some of the
assumptions and estimates, such as share pridditsolnd expected option holding period, are lshisepart on Moody’s experience during
the period since becoming a public company, whidimited. The use of different assumptions antdredes in the Black-Scholes option
pricing model could produce materially differentiemated fair values for option awards and relateoease.
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An increase in the following assumptions would hhgd the following estimated effect on operatingpime in 2005 (dollars in millions):

Estimated Impact on

Amount of Increase in Operating Income in 200!
Assumption Used Assumption (Decrease)/Increase

Expected Dividend Yiels 2003 grant: 0.41% 0.10% $ 04

2004 grant: 0.46%

2005 grant: 0.52%
Expected Share Price Volatili 2003 and 2004 gran 30% 5% $ (4.5)

2005 grant: 23%
Expected Option Holding Peric 2003 and 2004 gran 5.0 year 1.0 year $ (4.1)

2005 grant: 6.0 year

Other Estimates

In addition, there are other accounting estimatéisinvMoody’s consolidated financial statementg|iling recoverability of deferred tax
assets, anticipated dividend distributions from-kb8. subsidiaries and valuation of investmentsfiiiates. Management believes the
current assumptions and other considerations wsestimate amounts reflected in Moody’s consolidditeancial statements are appropriate.
However, if actual experience differs from the asptions and other considerations used in estimatingunts reflected in Moody’s
consolidated financial statements, the resultirangles could have a material adverse effect on Meaiynsolidated results of operations or
financial condition.

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statenfentsirther information on key accounting policibsit impact Moody's.
Operating Segments

Moody'’s Investors Service consists of four ratimgups — structured finance, corporate finance i@ institutions and sovereign risk, and
public finance — that generate revenue principiityn the assignment of credit ratings on issuetsiasues of fixed-income obligations in
the debt markets, and research, which primarilyegaes revenue from the sale of investor-orienteditresearch, principally produced by
the rating groups. Given the dominance of Moodwgigektors Service to Moody'’s overall results, thenpany does not separately measure or
report corporate expenses, nor are such experiseatatl between the Company’s business segmentsrdingly, all corporate expenses are
included in operating income of the Moody’s Invest8ervice segment and none have been allocatad tdoody’s KMV segment.

The Moody’s KMV business develops and distributearditative credit risk assessment products andcges and credit processing software
for banks, corporations and investors in creditsgame assets.

In February 2005, Moody’s Board of Directors deetha two-for-one stock split to be effected asexish stock distribution of one share of
common stock for each share of the Compsiegmmon stock outstanding, subject to stockh@geroval of a charter amendment to incre
the Company'’s authorized common shares from 40llomihares to 1 billion shares. At the Companyrsidal Meeting on April 26, 2005,
Moody’s stockholders approved the charter amendment.résudt, stockholders of record as of the closkusiness on May 4, 2005 recei\
one additional share of common stock for each stifttee Company’s common stock held on that dédwe (Stock Split”). Such additional
shares were distributed on May 18, 2005. All pperiod share and per share information has be¢mtedso reflect the Stock Split.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiehform to the current presentation.
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Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared With Year Erdl December 31, 2004
Total Company Results

Moody'’s revenue for 2005 was $1,731.6 million, acréase of $293.3 million or 20.4% from $1,438.8iam during 2004. Moody’s
achieved strong revenue growth in several busisest®rs, including global structured finance, fitiahinstitutions and research, internatic
corporate finance and U.S. public finance.

Revenue in the United States was $1,085.4 millar2005, an increase of $174.2 million or 19.1%rfi$911.2 million in 2004.
Approximately 85% of the U.S growth was driven kwetured finance and research, reflecting stresgance across all structured asset
classes and continued demand for core researchigisod).S. financial institutions, public finanagdacorporate finance contributed to year-
to-year growth as well.

Moody’s international revenue was $646.2 millior2B05, an increase of $119.1 million or 22.6% fi$527.1 million in 2004. International
ratings revenue grew approximately $86 million verthe prior year, with approximately 77% of thewgth related to Europe of which
financial institutions contributed approximatelyl$illion of revenue growth primarily due to incseal issuance and new ratings
relationships. European structured finance, rebeand corporate finance contributed to growth al& Wavorable foreign currency translati
accounted for approximately $7 million of reportetérnational revenue growth.

Moody’s operating, selling, general and administeexpenses of $756.8 million in 2005 were $138illion or 22.5% greater than $617.8
million in 2004. Compensation and benefits contitmbe Moody’s largest expense, accounting for nioae 70% of total expenses in 2005
and 2004. Moodys increased its overall staffing by approximated® people or about 16% during 2005. This increaskides approximate
100 people due to the acquisition of Economy.coMamember 2005 and hiring to support business dromdinly in the U.S. and European
ratings businesses. The table below shows Moodgffrgy at year-end 2005 compared with year-end4200

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
United State: International Total United State: International Total
Moody's Investors Servic 1,617 867 2,48¢ 1,36¢ 71€ 2,08(
Moody' s KMV 303 74 377 32¢ 68 397
Total 1,92( 941 2,861 1,69:% 784 2,471

Operating expenses were $452.9 million in 2005nearease of $77.5 million or 20.6% from $375.4 foillin 2004. The largest contributor
this increase was growth in compensation and bisrefpense of $62.7 million, reflecting compensatiwreases, increased staffing, higher
stock-based compensation expense and $3.2 mibiotihé settlement of certain pension obligationsollly’s global staffing reflected the
acquisition of Economy.com in November 2005 anéhgiprimarily in the U.S. and European ratings hasses to support business growth.
Stock-based compensation expense increased $1ohmear-to-year. As more fully discussed in N8t the consolidated financial
statements, the Company adopted the fair valueaodgitovisions of SFAS No. 123 prospectively begignon January 1, 2003. The year-to-
year increase in expense reflects the phasing éxpénse over the current f-year equity plan vesting period as annual equints are

made, the effects of a higher share price on theswaf the 2005 equity grants versus 2004, andtiaddil expense recorded in the first quarter
of 2005 related to the accelerated expensing afyegrants for employees at or near retirementilglity. Outside service fees increased by
approximately $7 million of which approximately $i8llion relates to information technology investrhepending.

Selling, general and administrative expenses wed3$ million in 2005, an increase of $61.5 milli@n25.4% from $242.4 million in 2004.
Year-to-year expense increases included growtlinpensation and benefits of $29.4 million, reflegtcompensation increases, increased
staffing in finance and technology support funcsion
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and $8.3 million related to stock-based compensadiscussed above. Additionally, as a resudttak audit by Japanese taxing authorities
that was completed in the second quarter of 20Q%ereses for 2005 included a charge of $9.4 mill@mrthe settlement of sales tax matters
related to Moody’s operations in Japan from 2006ubh June 30, 2005. Outside service fees incraagsagproximately $6 million of which
approximately $3 million relates to information h@ology investment spending and about $2 millidates to legal fees.

Operating income of $939.6 million in 2005 rose &P5million or 19.5% from $786.4 million in 2004a¥orable foreign currency translation
contributed approximately $6 million to operatimgome growth. Moody operating margin for 2005 was 54.3% comparedtd% in 2004

Moody's reported $4.9 million of interest and otmen-operating expense, net in 2005 compared vlithl$million in 2004. Interest expense
was $21.0 million in 2005 and $23.0 million in 2004e amounts included $20.9 million and $22.8iomillof interest expense on Moody’s
$300 million of notes payable for 2005 and 2004pestively. Interest income was $26.0 million iD3@ompared to $6.8 million in 2004.
The increase was due to a higher average investoadarice as well as an increase in the weightehgeeyield. Foreign exchange
(losses)/gains were ($8.2) million and $1.9 milliorR005 and 2004, respectively. The year-over-gbange was primarily due to the
appreciation of the U.S. dollar versus the Briislund and the euro.

Moody'’s effective tax rate was 40.0% in 2005 comparetft6% in 2004. The effective tax rates include&&8 million in credits and $30
million in charges due to changes in reserves B052ihd 2004, respectively, related to legacy inctarexposures that were assumed by
Moody'’s in connection with its separation from @&B in October 2000 (see “Contingencies — Legacy Watters”, below). Additionally,
Moody’s recognized a tax benefit of $3.6 million2605 related to the repatriation of foreign eageinnder the American Jobs Creation Act
of 2004.

Net income was $560.8 million in 2005, an increafs$135.7 million or 31.9% from $425.1 million i@4. Basic and diluted earnings |
share for 2005 were $1.88 and $1.84, respectieelypared to basic and diluted earnings per shagé.dB and $1.40, respectively, for 2004.

Segment Results
Moody'’s Investors Service

Revenue at Moody’s Investors Service for 2005 wia§%8.9 million, up $281.4 million or 21.4% from,817.5 million in 2004. Ratings
revenue accounted for $239.8 million of growth vagproximately 81% of that growth coming from glbs@uctured finance and European
financial institutions. Good growth was achievedinumber of other ratings sectors as well assearch. Foreign currency translation
accounted for approximately $7 million of reportedenue growth. Price increases also contributegan-to-year growth in reported
revenue.

Structured finance revenue was $715.4 million 802, an increase of $162.3 million or 29.3% fron83%3 million in 2004. Approximately
$129 million of the increase was in the U.S., wviith residential mortgage, collateralized debt androercial mortgage sectors, contributing
approximately 88% of this amount. Attractive moggaroducts, such as low-adjustable-rate mortgagesell as rising home prices and
continued strength in the new housing market wesedtivers in providing assets for residential rgage securitizations. Demand for
collateralized debt obligations increased as anlesypply of collateralized loan obligations andtcflow resecuritizations drove issuance
higher. Global commercial mortgage-backed revenag approximately $119 million, about 47% more thdar year, as record issuance
drove revenue growth during the year. Internatiataictured finance revenue grew approximately i88B8on year-to-year, with Europe
contributing about $23 million.

Corporate finance revenue was $321.8 million fd2@p $22.2 million or 7.4% from $299.6 million2004. Revenue increased modestly in
the U.S., as declines in high yield revenue largélget higher revenue from bank loan ratings duistuance related growth, an increase in
first time rated issuers and price increases reliatg@art to Moody’s Enhanced Analysis Initiativdigh yield bond issuance declined
approximately 31% as many
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issuers shifted to the leveraged loan marketsifianting needs. Conversely, investment grade catpalebt issuance increased about 5%
compared to 2004, as numerous large deals camart@hin the transportation, energy and technokmptors. International corporate fina
revenue increased approximately $18 million or &d®% due to new ratings mandates in Europe ana @il increased investment grade
corporate bond issuance. Price increases alsolwatett to year-to-year growth in global corporataifice revenue.

Revenue in the financial institutions and sovereigk group was $254.6 million for 2005, an increa$ $45.7 million or 21.9% from $208.9
million in 2004. In the U.S., revenue grew approately $11 million, principally due to strength Bsuance volume in insurance and a nui
of new rating assignments in the insurance, finamzksecurities sectors. Internationally, revemesvgapproximately $35 million compared
to the prior year period, primarily due to incredig&suance and new ratings mandates in EuropepEandssuance was particularly strong in
the banking and insurance sectors. Price increaspart related to Moody’s Enhanced Analysis #titie, also contributed to year-to-year
growth in global financial institutions revenue.

Public finance revenue was $91.8 million for 2085 ,increase of $9.6 million or 11.7% from $82.2liwl for the same period in 2004. Dol
issuance in the municipal bond market was approbein&409 billion or about 14% more than the sameqgal in 2004, as issuers took
advantage of low longer-term interest rates antomaspreads between long and short-term rateshifbimred advance refinancings.
Refinancings represented approximately 45% of taéhr issuance 2005 as compared to approxim8&dy during 2004.

Research revenue of $215.3 million for 2005 was&4iillion or 23.9% higher than the $173.7 millieported in 2004. Revenue grew by
approximately $19 million in the U.S. and about $2iflion internationally with Europe accounting fapproximately 76% of international
growth. Research and analytics services accountezbproximately $26 million of global revenue gtbvprimarily from credit research on
corporate and financial institutions and the strited finance related business. Revenue growth fhenticensing of Moody'’s information to
institutional customers for internal use and reiistion was approximately $48 million, an increa$@bout $13 million, or approximately
37% from the prior year. Research revenue incltigiesesults of Economy.com from November 17, 2008 acquisition date. Foreign
currency translation also contributed about $4iarilto growth in international research revenue.

Moody’s Investors Service operating, selling, gahand administrative expenses, including corpoeagenses, were $645.4 million in 2005,
an increase of $127.4 million or 24.6% from $51®i0ion in 2004. The largest contributor to thicrease was growth in compensation and
benefits of $86.8 million reflecting compensatiosreases, increased staffing primarily in the @&l European ratings businesses, higher
stock-based compensation expense of $25.7 millan$3.2 million for the settlement of certain pemsobligations. As a result of a tax audit
by Japanese taxing authorities that was completéitei second quarter of 2005, expenses for 2003ded a charge of $9.4 million for the
settlement of sales tax matters related to Moodg&rations in Japan from 2000 through June 30,.200&ide service fees increased by
approximately $13 million of which approximately 88llion relates to information technology invesimepending and about $2 million
relates to legal fees. Foreign currency translatmmtributed approximately $1 million to year-toaygrowth in reported expenses.

Moody’s Investors Service operating income of $934illion in 2005 was up $152.7 million or 19.5%ifn $782.2 million in 2004. Foreign
currency translation contributed approximately $ibiom to the year-to-year growth in operating imce.

Moody’'s KMV

Moody’s KMV revenue of $132.7 million for 2005 w&41.9 million or 9.9% more than the same periogdf4. MKMV's revenue growth
reflected increasing demand from risk products @edit decisioning software and software relatassotting. Growth in subscriptions
revenue related to credit risk assessment produets approximately $6 million or about 6% compategrior year, but was adversely
affected by higher cancellation rates, due in fmltank consolidations. In 2005, international reweaccounted for approximately 56% of
global revenue.
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MKMV'’s operating, selling, general and administvatiexpenses were $111.4 million for 2005, an irszes $11.6 million or 11.6% from
$99.8 million for 2004. This increase included $milion related to stock-based compensation, asudised above. The 2005 expense also
included approximately $7 million related to sevexacosts, the write-off of capitalized software@elepment and a liability for unpaid
overtime due to certain employees. MKMV operatingoime was $4.7 million for 2005 compared with $#ifion for 2004. Currency
translation did not have a significant year-to-yieapact on MKMV results.

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared With Year Emrdl December 31, 2003
Total Company Results

Moody’s revenue for 2004 was $1,438.3 million, acréase of $191.7 million or 15.4% from $1,246.8ian for 2003. Moody’s achieved
strong revenue growth in a number of business gedtbS. structured finance was the largest comtivitto year-over-year growth, primarily
due to residential mortgage-backed and home etpdtysecurities. Research experienced robust griowat geographies. U.S. corporate
finance growth was primarily due to revenue reldtethe ratings of bank credit facilities and higéld issues. Global financial institutions
contributed to growth as well, most notably in th&. insurance and real estate sectors and theabldSEuropean banking sectors.

Revenue in the United States was $911.2 millior2fi4, an increase of $115.9 million or 14.6% fi$f®5.3 million for 2003.
Approximately $51 million of this increase was daagrowth in structured finance. The U.S. residdntiortgage-backed and home equity
sector was the largest contributor, driven by thefable interest rate environment and a strongihgunarket. In addition, approximately
$27 million of Moody’s U.S. revenue growth was aimited by corporate finance, primarily reflectistyong activity in the ratings of bank
credit facilities and high yield bonds. The U.Seaarch business unit contributed about $20 millibgrowth. The financial institutions and
MKMV businesses contributed approximately $15 miiland $8 million, respectively, to Moody’s Unit8tates growth. Public finance
revenue in the U.S. declined by approximately $lioniyear-to-year, mainly due to a 6% decline @ilar issuance in the municipal bond
market.

Moody'’s international revenue was $527.1 millior2004, an increase of $75.8 million or 16.8% frof®%.3 million in 2003. Foreign
currency translation accounted for approximately 8#llion of reported international revenue growRatings revenue grew approximately
$46 million, with about $27 million of that growttoming from structured finance. Europe contribiapdroximately 80% of the growth in
international structured finance. Financial ingins and corporate finance contributed approxiigai&3 million and $6 million,
respectively, to revenue growth. Research revenmtf of approximately $23 million was primarily Europe. MKMV contributed
approximately $6 million of revenue growth outstte U.S.

Moody’s operating, selling, general and administeaexpenses of $617.8 million in 2004 were $66iian or 12.1% greater than $550.9
million in 2003. Compensation and benefits contthteebe Moody’s largest expense, accounting foremtban 70% of total expenses in 2004
and 2003. Moodys increased its overall staffing by more than 1&épte, or 8%, during 2004 to support continued ginaw the business. T
table below shows Moody’s staffing at year-end 266¢hpared with year-end 2003.

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003
United States International Total United States International Total
Moody's Investors Servic 1,36¢ 71€ 2,08( 1,272 662 1,93¢
Moody' s KMV 32¢ 68 397 304 62 36€
Total 1,69: 784 2,471 1,57¢ 724 2,30(

Operating expenses were $375.4 million in 2004narease of $28.1 million or 8% from $347.3 million2003. The largest contributor to
this increase was growth in compensation and bsnetpense of $25 million, reflecting compensatiameases, increased staffing and hic
stock-based compensation expense. Moody’s
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global staffing reflected hiring in the speciatisams that support Moody’s Enhanced Analysis livig in several of Moody’s U.S. and
international ratings businesses and at Moody’s Ki8i6ck-based compensation expense increased ®lliah year-to-year. As more fully
discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated finanta@kments, the Company adopted the fair value ndgihavisions of SFAS No. 123
prospectively beginning on January 1, 2003. The-y@gear increase in expense principally refledteziphasing in of expense over the
current four-year equity plan vesting period asuahequity grants are made, as well as the effegthigher share price on the value of the
2004 equity grants.

Selling, general and administrative expenses w24@ & million in 2004, an increase of $38.8 mill@n19% from $203.6 million in 2003.
Year-to-year expense increases included growtlimpensation and benefits of $24 million, reflectaugnpensation increases, increased
staffing and $4.7 million related to stock-basethpensation as discussed above. Additional increases due to higher rent and occupancy
costs of approximately $4 million to support busmexpansion and higher professional services,dostading spending of approximately
million related to Sarbanes-Oxley compliance.

Operating income of $786.4 million in 2004 rose $B2million or 18.6% from $663.1 million in 2003ofeign currency translation
contributed approximately $6 million to operatimgome growth. Mood operating margin for 2004 was 54.7% compare®td% in 2003
The increase in margin principally reflected bettean-expected revenue growth.

Moody's reported $15.1 million of interest and athen-operating expense, net in 2004 compared $@tf million in 2003. The 2003
amount included a gain of $13.6 million from anurence recovery related to the September 11thdyage discussed in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements. Interest expa@se$23.0 million in 2004 and $23.5 million in 200 he amounts in both periods included
$22.8 million of interest expense on Moody’s $300iam of private placement debt. Interest incomas/$6.8 million in 2004 compared to
$1.7 million in 2003. The increase was due to &digverage investment balance as well as an seinahe weighted average yield. Fort
exchange gains were $1.9 million and $2.2 millior2004 and 2003, respectively.

Moody'’s effective tax rate was 44.9% in 2004 comparet#t6% in 2003. The 2004 and 2003 effective taxsrateluded charges aggregat
approximately $30.0 million and $16.2 million, resfively, for increases in reserves related todggacome tax exposures that were
assumed by Moody’s in connection with its separafiom Old D&B in October 2000 (see “Contingenciesegacy Tax Matters”, below).

Net income was $425.1 million in 2004, an increafs$61.2 million or 16.8% from $363.9 million in @8. Basic and diluted earnings |
share for 2004 were $1.43 and $1.40, respectieelppared to basic and diluted earnings per shasé&.@2 and $1.19, respectively, for 2003.

Segment Results
Moody'’s Investors Service

Moody’s Investors Service revenue for 2004 was $1.3million, up $177.3 million or 15.5% from $1(.2 million in 2003. Good growth
was achieved in a number of ratings sectors asageh research. Foreign currency translation dmrted approximately $21 million to
reported revenue growth, reflecting the depreaiatibthe U.S. dollar, mainly versus the euro. Phmeeases also contributed to year-to-year
growth in reported revenue.

Structured finance revenue was $553.1 million 884 an increase of $78.4 million or 16.5% from 4Z7/million in the same period of 20!
Approximately $51 million of this increase was retUnited States, with the residential mortgagetande equity sector contributing nearly
$34 million of this amount. In this sector, growtlas driven by increases in mortgage lending andehequity loans due to low interest rates,
a strong housing market and gains in market coeer@god growth was also achieved in U.S. reverara fiatings of
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collateralized debt obligations (where the courisefies was up approximately 27% versus the pdar)yand ratings of commercial
mortgagebacked securities (driven by record market issuametrnational structured finance revenue grepraximately $27 million; aboi
80% of the growth was attributable to Europe, witbwth in all asset classes. Foreign currency katina contributed approximately $9
million to year-to-year growth in global structurfidance revenue. Price increases also contribtiotgeéar-to-year growth.

Corporate finance revenue was $299.6 million in2a@ $32.9 million or 12.3% from $266.7 million2003. Revenue grew by
approximately $27 million in the United States)eefing strong growth in ratings of speculativedgdonds as well as syndicated bank loans
and other areas not related to public debt issudrize increases also contributed to revenue drawthis sector. These positive impacts
were partially offset by the effects of a year-tsay decline in issuance of investment grade seéesiiit the U.S. markets. International
corporate finance revenue grew approximately $&anilwith roughly one-half of the growth attribdtéo foreign currency translation.
Underlying revenue growth primarily reflected higlgsuance volumes in Asia outside of Japan andralies Issuance in Europe was weak
compared to 2003. Speculative grade issuance wagysbut investment grade issuance declined yegear as improved corporate
profitability reduced borrowing needs and mergerd acquisitions remained weak.

Revenue in the financial institutions and sovereigk group was $208.9 million for 2004, an increa$ $27.7 million or 15.3% from $181.2
million in 2003. In the U.S., revenue grew $15 raill year-to-year, principally reflecting refinangmin the real estate sector, new
relationships in the insurance sector and stromihg issuance as interest rate spreads tight&mdenue from outside the U.S. grew
approximately $13 million over the prior year, parity in Europe. European growth reflected modestéases in issuance volumes, primg
in the banking sector and good growth from newnatelationships. Foreign currency translation Gbated approximately $3 million to
revenue growth.

Public finance revenue was $82.2 million for 2084iecrease of $5.0 million or 5.7% from $87.2 millin 2003. Dollar issuance in the
municipal bond market declined 6% versus the sagn@gin 2003, reflecting higher borrowing costseduced pool of debt that was
refunded and reduced borrowing needs due to strengtl tax receipts.

Research revenue of $173.7 million for 2004 was 34dllion or 33.2% higher than the $130.4 milliported in 2003. Revenue grew by
approximately $20 million in the U.S. and $16 naitliin Europe. The strong performance reflected grawlicensing of Moody’s
information to financial customers for internal @l redistribution, sales of new products to égstlients and new clients. Foreign
currency translation also contributed approxima$&ymillion to year-to-year growth in reported rauve.

Moody’s Investors Service operating, selling, gahand administrative expenses, including corpoeagenses, were $518.0 million in 2004,
an increase of $51.8 million or 11.1% from $466iftiom in 2003. Compensation and benefits experta®anted for $36 million of the
expense growth. This increase included $15.0 miltedated to stock-based compensation, as discadsre. The growth also reflected
compensation increases and staffing growth in naaegs, including the specialist teams that supoady’s Enhanced Analysis Initiative.
Additionally, rent and occupancy costs increasqut@pmately $5 million due to business expansioeai¥to-year expense growth also
includes higher professional services costs. Foreigrency translation contributed approximately #iillion to year-to-year growth in
reported expenses. Depreciation and amortizatiperese was $17.3 million in 2004 versus $15.9 nmillim2003.

Moody'’s Investors Service operating income of $288illion in 2004 was up $124.1 million or 18.9%ifin $658.1 million in 2003. Foreign
currency translation contributed approximately $ilfliom to the year-to-year growth in operating imce.
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Moody’'s KMV

Moody’s KMV revenue of $120.8 million for 2004 wap $14.4 million or 13.5% from $106.4 million in @8 Revenue grew by
approximately $8 million in the U.S. and approxigigat$3 million in Europe. About $14 million of MKM¢ global revenue growth was
related to subscriptions for its credit risk asee=st products, representing high teens percenhtevgrowth. Sales of MKMV's credit
processing software accounted for approximatelyn#on of revenue growth.

MKMV'’s operating, selling, general and administvatiexpenses were $99.8 million for 2004, an in@ed$15.1 million or 17.8% from

$84.7 million for 2003. The year-to-year increasenprily reflected growth of $13 million in compeatn and related expenses. This
reflected higher staffing to support the contingeawth of the business as well as a $2.0 milliarréase related to stock-based compensation
as discussed above. Depreciation and amortizatipense was $16.8 million and $16.7 million in 2@ 2003, respectively. MKMV
operating income was $4.2 million for 2004 compaséith $5.0 million for 2003. The effects of foreigarrency translation reduced MKMV
reported year-to-year growth in operating incomepgroximately $2 million.

Market Risk

Moody’s maintains operations in 22 countries owghie United States. Approximately 26% of the Comyfsarevenue was billed in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar in 2005, gipally the British pound and the euro. Approxinhatg0% of the Company’s expenses were
incurred in currencies other than the U.S. dola2@05, principally the British pound and the euxs.such, the Company is exposed to
market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates.

As of December 31, 2005, approximately 18% of Mos@gsets were located outside the U.S. Of Moodgtgegate cash and cash
equivalents of $486.0 million at December 31, 2@ roximately $119 million was located outside ltheted States (with $84 million in ti
U.K.), making the Company susceptible to fluctuagiin foreign exchange rates. Additionally, of Mgtsdaggregate short-term investments
of $94.5 million, approximately $18 million was bted outside the United States. The effects of gémin the value of foreign currencies
relative to the U.S. dollar on assets and liaksitbf non-U.S. operations are charged or creditdldet cumulative translation adjustment in
shareholders’ equity.

Moody'’s cash equivalents consist of investmentsigih quality investment grade securities within aodside the United States. The
Company manages its credit risk exposure by allogdtls cash equivalents among various money marketial funds and issuers of high-
grade commercial paper. Short-term investmentsasiiynconsist of high quality investment grade #uttate securities within the United
States. The Company manages its credit risk expasucash equivalents and shigrm investments by limiting the amount it can isiveith
any single issuer.

The Company has not engaged in foreign currencgihgdransactions nor does the Company have arnyadiee financial instruments
outstanding as of December 31, 2005. However, tiragany continues to assess the need to enterédgiry transactions to limit its risk
due to fluctuations in exchange rates or intef@stsrand may enter into such transactions in tiueeu

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow

The Company is currently financing its operationd aapital expenditures through cash flow from afiens. Net cash provided by operating
activities was $707.9 million, $526.2 million andé&¥.0 million for the years ended December 31, 20084 and 2003.

Moody’s net cash provided by operating activitie005 increased by $181.7 million compared with2@ontributing to this growth was
the increase in net income of $135.7 million, highen-cash stock-based compensation expense di $#lfion and higher tax benefits from
exercise of stock options of $14.3 million. Imprdwllection of accounts receivable also benefizsh flow from operations by
approximately $40 million.
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In addition, timing of quarterly federal, state anternational income tax payments and growth ettx provision for 2005 compared with
2004 contributed $56.7 million to year-to-year gtioin cash provided by operating activities. P#ytiaffsetting these benefits were the
payment of $46.8 million related to the settlemariegacy tax matters as well as a $38.8 millicsiuion in year-over-year non-cash legacy
income tax expense, as discussed below in “Contitige — Legacy Tax Matters”.

Moody’s net cash provided by operating activities in 2D@4eased by $59.2 million compared with 2003. {@ibnting to this growth was tt
increase in net income of $61.2 million, which ims¢d increases in non-cash expenses of $17.0 mitiated to stock-based compensation
and $13.8 million related to legacy tax provisiémswhich cash payments have not yet been madaddition, cash tax benefits from the
exercise of stock options in 2004 exceeded the paar by $22.6 million. Partially offsetting theseurces of cash in 2004 were negative
effects due to timing of income tax payments. 10£2dhe Company made approximately $47 millionnabime tax payments related to 2003
tax liabilities. This includes approximately $11llion related to the change in treatment of taxdfies for stock options outstanding prior to
the Company'’s separation from Old D&B, as discussddiote 2 to the consolidated financial statements

Net cash used in investing activities was $150Manj $31.3 million and $15.7 million for the yeaended December 31, 2005, 2004
2003, respectively. Spending for property and emeipt, internal use software and for developmerisdos MKMV's software products
totaled $31.3 million, $21.3 million and $17.9 riwh in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Net inwesits in marketable securities totaled
$88.9 million, $6.5 million and $(1.4) million in0®5, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The 2005 spermlirigvestments in affiliates included
approximately $25 million related to the acquisitiaf Economy.com, net of cash acquired, and th@ $@lion contingent payment made in
the second quarter related to Korea Investors &erfihe 2004 amount included approximately $3.5anirelated to investments in rating
agencies in Russia, Korea, Egypt and India. Th&208ount included $1.1 million of cash acquiredannection with an increase in the
Company’s ownership of Argentine rating agencies.

Net cash used in financing activities was $666.iani $162.3 million and $227.7 million for the e ended December 31, 2005, 2004
2003, respectively. Spending for share repurchiaseled $691.7 million in 2005, $221.3 million i@ and $171.7 million in 2003. These
amounts were offset in part by proceeds from egescof stock options of $89.1 million in 2005, $D0&illion in 2004 and $79.0 million in
2003. Dividends paid were $60.3 million, $44.7 railland $26.8 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, resipely. The increase in dividends
reflects a quarterly dividend paid of $0.0375 ia finst quarter and $0.055 in the subsequent gusapier share in 2005 versus $0.0375 per
share in 2004 and $0.0225 per share in 2003. D@®8, the Company repaid $107.1 million of bormgs that had been outstanding under
its bank revolving credit facility at December 2D02.

Future Cash Requirements

Moody'’s currently expects to fund expenditures afl s liquidity needs created by changes in waykiapital from internally generated
funds. The Company believes that it has the fir@meisources needed to meet its cash requirenmmisef next twelve months and expects to
have positive operating cash flow for fiscal ye@®@&. Cash requirements for periods beyond the tagstve months will depend among other
things on the Company’s profitability and its atyilio manage working capital requirements.

The Company currently intends to use a portiorisofash flow to pay dividends, of which the Boaf@woectors declared a quarterly amount
of $0.07 per share on December 13, 2005 payabMasoh 10, 2006 to shareholders of record at theectif business on February 20, 2006.
The continued payment of dividends at this ratgtall, is subject to the discretion of the Boafdirectors.

The Company also currently expects to use a saamfiportion of its cash flow after dividends tatinue its share repurchase program. The
Company implemented a systematic share repurchliageam in the third quarter of 2005 through an $&@ 10b5-1 program. Systematic
share repurchases may constitute the majorityeof th
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Company'’s potential repurchase activity. Moody'# afiso be prepared to act opportunistically whenditions warrant. On October 25,
2005, the Board of Directors authorized an add#i&1 billion share repurchase program. The Comigantent is to return capital to
shareholders in a way that serves Moody'’s long-feterests. As a result, Moody’s share repurchaseity will continue to vary from
quarter to quarter.

In addition, the Company will from time to time &ider cash outlays for acquisitions of or investtaém complementary businesses,
products, services and technologies. The Companyatsa be required to make future cash outlaystotp New D&B its share of potential
liabilities related to the legacy tax and legaltoagencies that are discussed in this Managem&igsussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations under “Contimages”. These potential cash outlays could be nzt@nd might affect liquidity
requirements, and they could cause the Companyrsup additional financing. There can be no asser#imt financing to meet cash
requirements will be available in amounts or omeacceptable to the Company, if at all.

Indebtednes:

On September 30, 2005, the Company entered intot@ Rurchase Agreement and issued and sold thepghiate placement transaction,
$300 million aggregate principal amount of its 88r2005-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (“Notes”). Theeblbave a ten-year term and bear
interest at an annual rate of 4.98%, payable semitaly on March 30 and September 30. The prockedsthe sale of the Notes were used
to refinance $300 million aggregate principal anmtafrthe Company’s outstanding 7.61% Senior Not@$d(Notes”) which matured on
September 30, 2005. In the event that Moody’s gélysr part of the Notes in advance of their mayufihe “prepaid principal”), such
prepayment will be subject to a penalty calculdtased on the excess, if any, of the discountecevalithe remaining scheduled payments, as
defined in the agreement, over the prepaid pritcipa

On September 1, 2004, Moody'’s entered into a fiearysenior, unsecured bank revolving credit fac{tihe “Facility”) in an aggregate
principal amount of $160 million that expires inp&aEmber 2009. This Facility replaced the $80 millfive-year facility that was scheduled to
expire in September 2005 and the $80 million 36y fdaility that expired in September 2004. Intem@stborrowings under the Facility is
payable at rates that are based on the LondorBiatérOffered Rate plus a premium that can ranga ft@ basis points to 47.5 basis points
depending on the Company’s ratio of total indebésarto earnings before interest, taxes, depregiatid amortization (“Earnings Coverage
Ratio”), as defined in the related agreement. Atddeber 31, 2005, such premium was 17 basis pdihessCompany also pays quarterly
facility fees, regardless of borrowing activity wndhe Facility. The quarterly fees can range febasis points of the Facility amount to 15
basis points, depending on the Company’s Earnimy®age Ratio, and were 8 basis points at DeceBhe2005. Under the Facility, the
Company also pays a utilization fee of 12.5 basiatp on borrowings outstanding when the aggregateunt outstanding under the Facility
exceeds 50% of the Facility.

Management may consider pursuing additional lomgr-financing when it is appropriate in light of bagquirements for share repurchase
and other strategic opportunities, which would heisthigher financing costs.

The Notes and the Facility (the “Agreements”) contavenants that, among other things, restrictbity of the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, without the approval of the lendergngage in mergers, consolidations, asset sed@sactions with affiliates and sale-
leaseback transactions or to incur liens, as dafim¢he related agreements. The Facility alsoaiostfinancial covenants that, among other
things, require the Company to maintain an inteceserage ratio, as defined in the agreement, oless than 3 to 1 for any period of four
consecutive fiscal quarters, and an Earnings CgeeRatio, as defined in the agreement, of not riiae 4 to 1 at the end of any fiscal
quarter. At December 31, 2005, the Company wasimnptiance with
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such covenants. Upon the occurrence of certaiméiahor economic events, significant corporatenéw@r certain other events constituting
an event of default under the Agreements, all laaristanding under the Agreements (including actiogerest and fees payable thereunder)
may be declared immediately due and payable armbaimitments under the Agreements may be terminaieatidition, certain other events
of default under the Agreements would automaticadbult in amounts outstanding becoming immediadely and payable and all
commitments being terminated.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, Moaglgid not have any relationships with unconsolidagetities or financial partnerships, such as ies
often referred to as special purpose or varialibr@st entities where Moody'’s is the primary betiafy, which would have been established
for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheetagements or other contractually narrow or lichipeirposes. As such, Moody'’s is not
exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or dteisk that could arise if it had engaged in svelationships.

Contractual Obligations
The following table presents payments due undeCtirapany’s contractual obligations as of Decemlg2B05.

Payments Due by Period

Less Than :
(in_millions) Total Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years Over 5 Years
Notes payable (1 $449.2 $ 14.¢ $ 29.¢ $ 29.¢ $ 374
Operating lease obligatiol 63.¢ 16.7 24.C 12.t 10.7
Purchase obligations (; 6.5 4.3 2.2 — —
Total $519.¢ $ 35.¢ $ 56.1 $ 42. $ 385.

(1) Includes $3.7 million of accrued interest abetember 31, 2005 and $145.7 million of interhat will accrue and be due from
January 1, 2006 through September 30, 2015, wheendtes mature

(2) Purchase obligations include contracts for datagssing services, data b-up facilities and professional servic
2006 Outlook

Moody’s outlook for 2006 is based on assumptiorsiaimany macroeconomic and capital market factocyding interest rates, corporate
profitability and business investment spending,gaeand acquisition activity, consumer spendingidential mortgage borrowing and
refinancing activity, securitization levels and itabmarkets issuance. There is an important degfeacertainty surrounding these
assumptions and, if actual conditions differ frdrage assumptions, Moody’s results for the year difégr from the current outlook.

For Moody'’s overall, the Company projects reventengh in the high single-digit to double-digit perd range for the full year 2006,
including a small negative impact from foreign ey translation. Moody’s expects the operatinggimaafter the impact of expensing stock-
based compensation to decline by up to 150 bagsio 2006 compared with 2005. This reflects stugents the Company is continuing to
make to expand internationally, improve analytimacesses, pursue ratings transparency and coropliaitiatives, introduce new products
and improve technology infrastructure.

For 2006, Moody’s projects year-over-year growtlGidAP diluted earnings per share in the high sitliggt to double-digit percent range.
This expected growth includes the impact of resadjastments related to legacy tax matters in 2868 ,the expensing of stock-based
compensation in both 2005 and 2006. 2006 repretemfinal
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year of“phasing” for stock-based compensation, which bega&003. The impact of expensing stock-based coisgtéon is expected to be in
the range of $0.12 - $0.14 per diluted share ir6260mpared to $0.10 per diluted share in 2005.

In the U.S., the Company is forecasting mid-sirdjgt percent revenue growth for the Moody’s InegstService ratings and research
business unit for the full year 2006. In the UtBuctured finance business, Moody’s expects revéouthe year to rise modestly from the
record level of 2005. The Company is projectindghtieens percent decline from 2005 to 2006 in mereefrom residential mortgage-backed
securities, including home equity securitizatiamg aotes a divergence in market views about thé 20@look for this business. Offsetting
this expected decline, Moody’s looks for doubleidygar-over-year growth in asset-backed securitiesdit derivatives, and commercial
mortgage-backed securities.

In the U.S. corporate finance business, the Compaligves that modest growth in investment grasi@asce, gains in rated share of the
syndicated bank loan market, and incremental revémmum the Enhanced Analysis Initiative and newdpiais will more than offset expected
flat issuance in the speculative grade bond seGteerall, Moody’s expects revenue in the U.S. caapmfinance business to grow in the low
double-digit percent range for the year.

In the U.S. financial institutions sector, the C@mp projects issuance by banks to increase sligh®06 compared with 2005 and issuance
by insurers and other financial institutions toflaé or down. However, fee increases partly reldtethe Enhanced Analysis Initiative, as well
as expected new ratings mandates, should produeaue growth for the year in the low double-digitgent range.

For the U.S. public finance sector, Moody'’s belgetteat rising interest rates will slow refinanciagtivity and result in lower issuance in 2006
than 2005. The Company forecasts revenue for 2806nthg in the mid-single-digit percent range frtime prior year. Moody’s forecasts
strong growth in the U.S. research business u@ibatit twenty percent.

Outside the U.S., the Company expects ratings tevémgrow in the low-teens percent range with Isigigle-digit to mid-teens percent
growth in all major business lines. This forecastames that foreign currency translation rateshaille a modest negative impact on revenue
growth for the year. In addition, the outlook asssrtow- and mid-teens percentage growth in corpaetenue in Europe and Asia,
respectively. For the financial institutions bussdloody’s expects to see high single-digit revegmasvth in Europe, after a year of very
strong issuance in 2005, and low double-digit petrgeowth in Asia. The Company looks for low te@escentage growth in international
structured finance and about twenty percent gramthternational research revenue.

For Moody's KMV globally, the Company expects moderate growthet sales and revenue from credit risk asseasissubscription product
credit decision processing software, and professiservices. This should result in mid- to highgséndigit percent growth in revenue with
greater growth in profitability.

Contingencies

From time to time, Moody'’s is involved in legal atak proceedings, claims and litigation that amdantal to the Company’s business,
including claims based on ratings assigned by Mmdyoody'’s is also subject to ongoing tax auditshie normal course of business.
Management periodically assesses the Companyifitiedand contingencies in connection with thesstters based upon the latest
information available. Moody’s discloses materiahging legal proceedings, other than routine litagaincidental to Moody’s business,
material proceedings known to be contemplated wegonental authorities, and other pending matteasit may determine to be
appropriate. For those matters where it is bothglote that a liability has been incurred and thewm of loss can be reasonably estimated,
the Company has recorded reserves in the consatidiziancial statements and periodically adjustsétreserves as appropriate. In other
instances, because of the uncertainties relatbdttothe probable outcome and/or the amount oreraf¢pss, management does not record a
liability but discloses the contingency if signditt. As additional information becomes availalile, Company adjusts its assessments and
estimates of such liabilities accordingly.
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Based on its review of the latest information aalali¢, in the opinion of management, the ultimatbility of the Company in connection with
pending legal and tax proceedings, claims andhlitign will not have a material adverse effect onolligs financial position, results of
operations or cash flows, subject to the contingendescribed below.

Legacy Contingencie

Moody’s has exposure to certain potential lialabtassumed in connection with the 2000 Distribufidrese contingencies are referred to by
Moody'’s as “Legacy Contingencies”.

Information Resources, Inc

An antitrust lawsuit was filed in 1996 by Informai Resources, Inc. (“IRI"). A detailed descriptiofthis lawsuit was contained in reports
previously filed by the Company with the SEC. Asyiously disclosed, VNU N.V., a publicly traded Bhtcompany, and its U.S.
subsidiaries, VNU, Inc., ACNielsen Corporation, Alizlsen (US), Inc., and Nielsen Media Research, fidMR") (collectively, the “VNU
Parties”), had assumed exclusive joint and seviatglity for any judgment or settlement of thistimst lawsuit under the terms of the

July 30, 2004 Amended Indemnity and Joint DefengeeAment. As a result of the indemnity obligatieioody’s did not have any exposure
to a judgment or settlement of this lawsuit unkbesVNU Parties defaulted on their obligations. lwer, in the event of such a default,
contractual commitments undertaken by Moody’s inrection with various corporate reorganizationsaih996 would have required the
Company to bear a portion of any amount not paitheyWNU Parties.

On February 16, 2006, the parties to this actignes a settlement agreement, pursuant to whicadtien will be dismissed with prejudice
and releases from liability will be exchanged amtirgparties. Such releases will also include thm@any, although not a defendant in the
litigation, as a releasee. Any amounts payabladmtaintiffs in connection with the settlementlvsié paid by the VNU Parties, and the
Company will not be required to contribute any amteuo the settlement payment. The dismissal ofa¥suit is subject to court approval
and the releases are being held in escrow penduigapproval.

Legacy Tax Matter:

Old D&B and its predecessors entered into globaptanning initiatives in the normal course of mess, including through tax-free
restructurings of both their foreign and domesperations. These initiatives are subject to nomaeélkew by tax authorities.

Pursuant to a series of agreements, as betwees¢hars, IMS Health and NMR are jointly and sevgrhdible to pay one-half, and New
D&B and Moodys are jointly and severally liable to pay the othalf, of any payments for taxes, penalties andusctinterest resulting fro
unfavorable Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) ruran certain tax matters as described in such ammets (excluding the matter described
below as “Amortization Expense Deductions” for whidew D&B and Moody'’s are solely responsible) ardain other potential tax
liabilities, also as described in such agreemexftsr New D&B and/or Moody’s pays the first $137llmn, which amount was paid in
connection with the matter described below as fkittion of Capital Losses”.

In connection with the 2000 Distribution and pursiut® the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreemé&tgw D&B and Moodys have, betwet
themselves, agreed to each be financially resplenib50% of any potential liabilities that mays#rto the extent such potential liabilities
not directly attributable to their respective besis operations.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoindprée specific tax matters are discussed below.
Royalty Expense Deductio

During the second quarter of 2003, New D&B receigadExamination Report from the IRS with resped fmartnership transaction entered
into in 1993. In this Examination Report, the IR&e&d its intention to disallow
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certain royalty expense deductions claimed by Q8BI@n its tax returns for the years 1993 througB@ @he “Royalty Report”). In the first
quarter of 2004, New D&B received a similar Exantioia Report (the “Second Royalty Report”) relatioghe first quarter of 1997.

During the second quarter of 2003, New D&B alseieed an Examination Report that had been issugHéiRS to the partnership, stating
the IRS’ intention to ignore the partnership staetthat had been established in 1993 in conneutitinthe above transaction, and to
reallocate to Old D&B income and expense items iaatbeen reported in the partnership tax retura 986 (the “Reallocation Report”).
New D&B also received a similar Examination Refthie “Second Reallocation Report”) issued to the pastmigrwith respect to the first
quarter of 1997.

In June 2004, New D&B and the IRS conducted a ntiediaf these issues, at which they reached a fasgettlement with regard to the
Royalty Report for 1995 and 1996, the ReallocaReport, and certain tax refund claims made by G8d@Delated to 1995 and 1996. The
IRS reasserted its position that certain tax reftlatns made by Old D&B related to 1993 and 1994 bmaoffset by tax liabilities relating to
the above mentioned partnership formed in 1993.sEtlement was withdrawn by the IRS in Novembdf2®s a result of these events, the
Company increased its reserves for this matterd@yrfillion in 2004,

In 2005, New D&B, Moody’s, IMS Health and NMR exé¢ed a closing agreement with the IRS reflectingheoriginally agreed to in June
2004.

After executing the closing agreement, IMS Heattd AIMR disagreed with New D&B's calculation of egudrty’s share of the tax liability
set forth in the agreement. As a result, New D&HB &ftoody’s each increased its share of the assesdméY.3 million to $35.5 million and
Moody’s paid approximately $34 million of this ammun October of 2005. These events resulted iataeduction of tax expense of $11.5
million. New D&B anticipates commencing arbitratiproceedings against IMS Health and NMR to colleetincremental amounts New
D&B and Moody’s were obligated to pay to the IRStbeir behalf. Based upon the current understandiriige positions which New D&B
and IMS Health may take, the Company believeslikédy that New D&B should prevail, but Moody’s maot predict with certainty the
outcome.

In addition, the Second Royalty Report and the 8eédeeallocation Report, which were not part of¢lesing agreement with the IRS, have
not been resolved. Moody's estimates that its sbhtlee potential required payment to the IRS Fis tatter is $0.1 million (including
penalties and interest, and net of tax benefitsihé fourth quarter of 2005, New D&B filed a prsttavith the IRS Appeals Office concerning
the IRS’ denial of certain tax refunds owing Old B&r 1993 and 1994.

Moody'’s estimates that its remaining share of theeptial liability for the Royalty Expense Deductsomatter could be up to $16 million after
payment pursuant to the closing agreement, whiakstinto consideration: (1) the state income taliility connected with the terms of the
federal closing agreement and (2) the potentialeaaff of receivables (for which the Company’s espi® could be up to $9 million as
discussed above).

Amortization Expense Deductio

In April 2004, New D&B received Examination Repoftise “April Examination Reports”) from the IRS Wwitespect to a partnership
transaction. This transaction was entered int®®i7land has resulted in amortization expense diethsobn the tax returns of Old D&B since
1997. These deductions could continue through 2mithe April Examination Reports, the IRS statsdntention to disallow the
amortization expense deductions related to thisipeship that were claimed by Old D&B on its 199id 4 998 tax returns. New D&B
disagrees with the position taken by the IRS amdeither: (1) accept and pay the IRS assessm@grithélenge the assessment in U.S. Tax
Court; or (3) challenge the assessment in U.SribisEourt or the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, vehim either case payment of the disputed
amount would be required in connection with suchllelnge. IRS audits of Old D&B’s or New D&B’s tagturns for years subsequent to
1998 have resulted in the issuance of similar
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Examination Reports for the 1999 through 2002 &ery, described below, in which case New D&B hasaforementioned three courses of
action. Similar Examination Reports could resutttix years subsequent to 2002.

Should any such payments be made by New D&B relateither the April Examination Reports or anyguiial Examination Reports for
future years, including years subsequent to tharsgipn of Moody’s from New D&B, then pursuant bkeetterms of the 2000 Distribution
Agreement, Moody’s would have to pay to New D&B58% share. In addition, should New D&B discontirlegming the amortization
deductions on future tax returns, Moody’s wouldd®guired to repay to New D&B an amount equal todiseounted value of its 50% share
of the related future tax benefits. New D&B haddpdie discounted value of 50% of the future taxafiesmfrom this transaction in cash to
Moody'’s at the Distribution Date. Moody’s estimatkat the Company’s current potential exposureabel up to $101 million (including
penalties and interest, and net of tax benefits)s €posure could increase by approximately $8anito $6 million per year, depending on
actions that the IRS may take and on whether NevB [B&ntinues claiming the amortization deductionsterax returns.

In the April Examination Reports, the IRS alsoethaits intention to disallow certain royalty expemeductions claimed by Old D&B on its
1997 and 1998 tax returns with respect to the pestrip transaction. In addition, the IRS statedhitsntion to disregard the partnership
structure and to reallocate to Old D&B certain parship income and expense items that had beentedpo the partnership tax returns for
1997 and 1998. New D&B disagrees with the positiaken by the IRS and can take any of the threeseswf action described in the first
paragraph of this “Amortization Expense Deductiossttion. IRS audits of Old D&B'’s or New D&B'’s tagturns for years subsequent to
1998 have resulted in the issuance of similar Eration Reports for the 1999 through 2002 tax ydasxribed below. Similar Examination
Reports could result for years subsequent to 28B8uld any such payments be made by New D&B rekateither the April Examination
Reports or any potential Examination Reports fourfel years, then pursuant to the terms of the Z08Dibution Agreement, Moody’s would
have to pay to New D&B its 50% share of New D&Bayments to the IRS for the period from 1997 throtighDistribution Date. Moody’s
estimates that its share of the potential expoutiee IRS for the potential disallowance of royakpense deductions could be up to $135
million (including penalties and interest, and aktax benefits). Moody'’s also could be obligatedfuture interest payments on its share of
such liability.

New D&B had filed protests with the IRS Appeals i®éfregarding the April Examination Reports. In ®epber 2004, the IRS Appe:
Office remanded the case to the IRS examinatidneofbr further development of the issues. New Di8d® reopened discussion of the issues
with the examination office.

On May 6, 2005, New D&B received a Notice of Pragmbadjustment (“Notice”) from the IRS for the 192002 tax years which

(1) disallows amortization expense deductions atiet from the partnership to Old D&B on its 1999 &000 tax returns and to New D&B
on its 2000, 2001 and 2002 tax returns and (2)ldiga certain royalty expense deductions claime®by D&B on its 1999 and 2000 tax
returns and by New D&B on its 2000, 2001 and 2@0G2returns. On August 4, 2005, New D&B receivedEaamination Report (theAugust
Examination Report”) from the IRS disallowing cémteoyalty expense deductions claimed by Old D&Bitsr1999 and 2000 tax returns and
by New D&B on its 2000, 2001 and 2002 tax returmissistent with the Notice and in addition assesaihgenty percent penalty. New D&B
has filed a protest with the IRS Appeals Officeaneling the August Examination Report. Currently, @ompany does not expect that the
Notice or the Examination Report will have a matkimpact on the legacy tax reserves and the patdature outlays related to legacy t
matters that are discussed below in “Summary of dyExposure to Three Legacy Tax Matters”.

Moody'’s believes that the IRS’ proposed assessnuérigsx against Old D&B and the proposed reallaratiof partnership income and
expense to Old D&B are inconsistent with each otAecordingly, while it is possible that the IRSubd ultimately prevail in whole or in part
on one of such positions, Moody’s believes thi itnlikely that the IRS will prevail on both.
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Utilization of Capital Losses

In July 2004, New D&B and the IRS reached a bamiséttlement of all outstanding issues relatetiéomatter concerning utilization of
certain capital losses generated by Old D&B dudi§9 and 1990. In December 2004, New D&B executidral settlement agreement.
New D&B received two assessments on this matténduhe first quarter of 2005, and is awaiting iptef the third and final assessme
Moody’s paid its allocated share of the first tves@ssments consisting of cash payments of $121i8m(i$8.1 million net of expected tax
benefits) and the utilization of a tax receivabl@pproximately $9 million. Moody’s remaining lidity at December 31, 2005 was
approximately $0.3 million. The amounts paid by Mgs included its share of approximately $4 millitrat Moodys and New D&B believ
should have been paid by IMS Health and NMR, buewmt paid by them due to their disagreement wattious aspects of New D&B’s
calculation of their respective shares of the paysdf New D&B fails to resolve this dispute witklS Health and NMR, Moody’s
understands that New D&B anticipates commencingratimn proceedings against them. Moody’s beliettet New D&B should prevail in
its position, but the Company cannot predict wihtainty the outcome. In the first quarter of 200®0dy’s had increased its reserves by .
million due to this disagreement.

Summary of Moody’s Exposure to Three Legacy Tatekat

The Company considers from time to time the rangkpmobability of potential outcomes related to tivee legacy tax matters discussed
above and establishes reserves that it believespprepriate in light of the relevant facts anadginstances. In doing so, Moody’s makes
estimates and judgments as to future events arditom s and evaluates its estimates and judgmengnangoing basis.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Compgaaoyded an $8.8 million net reversal of reservesti€h $2.7 million related to an
increase for the Utilization of Capital Losses raatind $11.5 million related to the reversal fa Royalty Expense Deductions described
above. The Company has recorded $5.8 million @frest expense related to its legacy tax reservesdiyls total net legacy tax reserves w
$97 million (consisting of $106 million of tax lidities, partially offset by the expected utilizai of $9 million of tax receivables). The $97
million of expected cash payments consists of $88aniof current liabilities (reflecting the estireal cash payments related to the Royalty
Expense Deductions and Utilization of Capital Lessetters that are expected to be made over thewelve months) and $89 million of
non-current liabilities.

It is possible that the legacy tax matters couldds®lved in amounts that are greater than the ataoeserved by the Company, which could
result in additional charges that may be matedidlbody’s future reported results, financial pasitand cash flows. Although Moody’s does
not believe it is likely that the Company will ultately be required to pay the full amounts pregdmging sought by the IRS, potential future
outlays resulting from these matters could be ashnas $252 million and could increase with timelescribed above. In matters where
Moody'’s believes the IRS has taken inconsistenitipos, Moody’s may be obligated initially to payg share of related duplicative
assessments. However, Moody'’s believes that uléilpdtis unlikely that the IRS would retain suchpdicative payments.

Dividends

During 2005, the Company paid a quarterly dividen80.0375 in the first quarter and $0.055 in eafctihe three subsequent quarters, per
share of Moody’s common stock, resulting in dividempaid per share of $0.2025 during the year. U204 and 2003, the Company paid
quarterly dividends of $0.0375 and $0.0225 pereshaspectively, of Moody’s common stock resultimgotal dividends paid per share of
$0.15 and $0.09, respectively.

On December 13, 2005, the Board of Directors ofGbenpany approved a quarterly dividend of $0.07sbare of Moody’s common stock,
payable on March 10, 2006 to shareholders of reabtide close of business on February 20, 2006 céhgnued payment of dividends at the
rate noted above, or at all, is subject to therdisan of the Board of Directors.
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Common Stock Information

The Company’s common stock trades on the New Y tokkKSExchange under the symbol “MCO”. The tableoheindicates the high and low
sales price of the Company’s common stock and ithdehds paid for the periods shown. The numbeegfstered shareholders of record at
January 31, 2006 was 4,401.

Price Per Share DDividends
eclared

High Low Per Share
2004:
First quartel $ 35.5( $ 29.8¢ $ 0.037¢
Second quarte 35.5( 30.8i 0.037¢
Third quartel 37.21 32.3( 0.037¢
Fourth quarte 43.8¢ 35.7( 0.037¢
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 43.8¢ $ 29.8¢ $ 0.1t
2005:
First quartel $ 44.5: $ 40.2¢ $ 0.05¢
Second quarte 47.0< 39.5¢ 0.05¢
Third quartel 51.8¢ 44.0¢ 0.05¢
Fourth quarte 62.5( 49.2¢ 0.07(¢
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 62.5( $ 39.5¢ $ 0.23¢

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this annual repoform 10-K are forward-looking statements andoaiged on future expectations, plans
and prospects for the Company’s business and apesahat involve a number of risks and uncertasitSuch statements involve estimates,
projections, goals, forecasts, assumptions andrtaicges that could cause actual results or ouesota differ materially from those
contemplated, expressed, projected, anticipatéuglied in the forward-looking statements. Thosgesthents appear at various places
throughout this Form 10-K, including in the secti@ntitled “Outlook” and “Contingencies” under Itém“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Giems”, commencing at page 19 of this annual tepoform 10-K, under “Legal
Proceedings” in Item 3, Part I, of this Form 10aKkd elsewhere in the context of statements contithie words “believe”, “expect”,

)
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“anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “will”, “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “strategy”, “aspire”, “taet”, “forecast”, “project”, “estimate”,
“should”, “could”, “may” and similar expressions words and variations thereof relating to the Comyfgmviews on future events, trends and
contingencies. We caution you not to place undlianee on these forward-looking statements. Thevdod-looking statements and other
information are made as of the date of this anre@drt on Form 10k for the year ended December 31, 2005, and thepgaosnundertakes r
obligation (nor does it intend) to publicly supplkemt, update or revise such statements on a gomggfd basis, whether as a result of
subsequent developments, changed expectationeemasge. In connection with the “safe harbor” psiens of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company is idéyihg examples of factors, risks and uncertaintiest could cause actual results to differ,
perhaps materially, from those indicated by these/drdlooking statements. Those factors, risks and uaitgigs include, but are not limite
to, changes in the volume of debt and other séesiigsued in domestic and/or global capital matkattanges in interest rates and other
volatility in the financial markets; market perdepis of the utility and integrity of independeneagy ratings; possible loss of market share
through competition; introduction of competing puots or technologies by other companies; pricireggures from competitors and/or
customers; the potential emergence of governmearissped credit rating agencies; proposed U.S.igoystate and local legislation and
regulations, including those relating to Nationdlgcognized Statistical Rating Organizations; gaegudicial decisions in various
jurisdictions regarding the status of and poteriigiddilities of rating agencies; the possible lo§&ey employees to investment or commer
banks or elsewhere and related compensation cessymes; the outcome of any review by controllingauthorities of the Company’s global
tax planning
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initiatives; the outcome of those tax and legaltcmencies that relate to Old D&B, its predecessors their affiliated companies for which
the Company has assumed portions of the finanesglansibility; the outcome of other legal actiomsvhich the Company, from time to tirr
may be named as a party; the ability of the Comparsuccessfully integrate the KMV and MRMS busseess a decline in the demand for
credit risk management tools by financial instiu8. These factors, risks and uncertainties asaseasther risks and uncertainties that could
cause Moody’s actual results to differ materiattynfi those contemplated, expressed, projected,aie! or implied in the forward-looking
statements are described in greater detail undsk‘fRactors” in Item 1A, Part I, of this Form 10-&lsewhere in this Form 10-K and in other
filings made by the Company from time to time wiitle Securities and Exchange Commission or in nasencorporated herein or therein.
You should be aware that the occurrence of anfiedd factors, risks and uncertainties may caus€dhgpany’s actual results to differ
materially from those contemplated, expressedgptefl, anticipated or implied in the forward-loakistatements, which could have a
material and adverse effect on the Company’s basjrresults of operations and financial condithdew factors may emerge from time to
time, and it is not possible for the Company tadmpenew factors, nor can the Company assess tteafia effect of any new factors on it.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK
Information in response to this Item is set forttder the caption “Market Risk” in Part Il, Item ¥tbis annual report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAGE(S)
Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repaoy 41
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing 42-43
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&00200¢ 45
For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 arii
Consolidated Statements of Operati 44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢ 46
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol' Equity 47
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 48-76

Schedules are omitted as not required or inapgioabbecause the required information is provintetthe consolidated financial statements,
including the notes thereto.
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING

Management of Moody’s Corporation (“Moody’s” or &lCompany”) is responsible for establishing andntadting adequate internal control
over financial reporting and for the assessmetit@kffectiveness of internal control over finahocgporting. As defined by the Securities ¢
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in Rules 13a-15(f) 4bd-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 193#rnal control over financial
reporting is a process designed by, or under thersision of, the Company'’s principal executive gnithcipal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, and effected by then@pany’s Board of Directors, management and othesgnnel, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigdoging and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Moody'’s internal control over financial reportingciudes those policies and procedures that (1xipetid the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettdansactions and dispositions of assets of thegaay; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepéargation of financial statements in accordanch getnerally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®Qompany are being made only in accordance witihoaizations of Moody’s management
and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assuragezding prevention or timely detection of unauithed acquisition, use or disposition of
the Company'’s assets that could have a materidtedih the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Management of the Company has undertaken an assstsshthe design and operational effectivenesh@fCompany’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 basedriteria established in Internal Control — Inttgd Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimis§ COSO”). The COSO framework is based upon fitegrated components of
control: risk assessment, control activities, colnénvironment, information and communications andoing monitoring.

Based on the assessment performed, managemerdridisded that Moody’s maintained effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2005.

Our management’s assessment of the effectivendhs @ompany’s internal control over financial repay as of December 31, 2005 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, aparmtent registered public accounting firm, as dtateéheir report which appears herein.

/s/ RAymonD W. M cD ANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 28, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Mody’s Corporation:

We have completed integrated audits of Moody’s Gration’s December 31, 2005 and 2004 consolidatesh€ial statements and of its
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2005, and an audit of its December 313 20nsolidated financial statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Compaepunting Oversight Board (United States). Ounmms, based on our audits, are
presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated ba#asheets and the related consolidated statemfeopei@tions, shareholders’ equity and
cash flows present fairly, in all material respettsg financial position of Moody’s Corporation aitelsubsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the results of their operations and ttash flows for each of the three years in theggeended December 31, 2005 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted i thmited States of America. These financial statémare the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpian opinion on these financial statements b@asedr audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance withtémelards of the Public Company Accounting Oversiggard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statementstides examining, on a test basis, evidence suppgdt&amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accountingiptas used and significant estimates made by neanagt, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessmentydted in the accompanying Management’s Report arriat Control Over Financial
Reporting, that the Company maintained effectiterimal control over financial reporting as of Detx®m31, 2005 based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgaitiratof the Treadway Commission
(COSO0), is fairly stated, in all material respebti@sed on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinthe Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financegorting as of December 31, 2005, based on ierigstablished in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Copipamanagement is responsible for maintaining éffednternal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéveness of internal control over financial ogfing. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on management’s assessment and on thatiedfeess of the Company’s internal control oveaficial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of internal control ovegfinial reporting in accordance with the standafdeePublic Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standamgisinethat we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reportingis maintained in all material respects. An aaflinternal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internatie@rover financial reporting, evaluating managetiseeassessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of intezaatrol, and performing such other procedures asamsider necessary in the circumstan
We believe that our audit provides a reasonablestf@sour opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablessesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircgal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance

42



with generally accepted accounting principles, tivad receipts and expenditures of the company @irggbmade only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of timepany; and (iii) provide reasonable assurancerdaggprevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef¢bmpany’s assets that could have a materialtaffethe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadégbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/'s/ PRICEWATERHOUSEC OOPERSLLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York

February 28, 2006
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(amounts in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Revenue $1,731.¢ $1,438.: $1,246.¢
Expenses
Operating 452.¢ 375.¢ 347.2
Selling, general and administrati 303.¢ 242.¢ 203.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 35.2 34.1 32.€
Total expense 792.( 651.¢ 583.t
Operating income 939.¢ 786.4 663.1
Interest income (expense), | 5.C (16.2) (21.9)
Other nor-operating (expense) income, | (9.9 1.1 15.1
Non-operating expense, n (4.9 (15.7) (6.7)
Income before provision for income tay 934.7 771.2 656.4
Provision for income taxe 373.¢ 346.2 292.
Net income $ 560.¢ $ 425.] $ 363.¢
Earnings per share
Basic $ 1.8¢ $ 1.4z $ 1.2z
Diluted $ 1.8 $ 14C $ 1.1a¢
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic 297.7 297.( 297.¢
Diluted 305.€ 304.% 304.€

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in millions, except share and per share da)

December 31,

2005 2004
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 486.( $ 606.1
Shor-term investment 94.t 7.3
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $12.2005 and $14.6 in 20( 421.¢ 371.7
Other current asse 49.F 50.¢
Total current asse 1,051.¢ 1,035.¢
Property and equipment, r 55.4 45.Z
Prepaid pension cos 56.4 59.7
Goodwill 152.1 131.7
Intangible assets, n 70.¢ 70.7
Other asset 70.7 46.1
Total asset $ 1,457.. $1,389.:
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Notes payabl: $ — $ 300.(
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 279.¢ 283.¢
Deferred revenu 299.] 266.7
Total current liabilities 578.¢ 850.t
Non-current portion of deferred reven 75.7 54.4
Notes payabli 300.( o
Other liabilities 193.2 166.¢
Total liabilities 1,147.¢ 1,071.¢
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 15 anc
Shareholder equity:
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; 10,000s0ares authorized; no shares issued and ouitsge — —
Series common stock, par value $.01 per sharef@MO0 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding — —
Common stock, par value $.01 per share; 1,000,000:0ares authorized; 342,902,272 shares issued at
December 31, 2005 and 20 34 34
Capital surplut 240.¢ 142
Retained earning 1,419.: 939.:
Treasury stock, at cost; 52,604,734 and 45,078Bka0es of common stock at December 31, 2005 an
2004, respectivel (1,353.9) (777.2)
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) ince 0.9 9.7
Total shareholde’ equity 309.4 317.5
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $1,457.. $1,389.!

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 560.¢ $425.1 $ 363.¢
Reconciliation of net income to net cash providgmperating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 35.2 34.1 32.€
Stocl-based compensation expel 54.¢ 27.¢ 10.¢
Deferred income taxe (20.2) (9.6) (0.9
Tax benefits from exercise of stock optic 70.2 5180, 33.8
Other 2.2 1.€ 0.€
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl (53.7) (93.0 (96.5)
Other current assets and prepaid pension 4.3 (22.7) (13.9
Other asset (10.0) 22.¢ (0.5)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (26.0) 42.2 46.2
Deferred revenu 52.Z 65.1 56.¢
Other liabilities 27.5 (34.9) 33.5
Net cash provided by operating activit 707.¢ 526.2 467.(
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital addition: (31.9 (21.9) (17.9
Purchases of marketable securi (324.9 (22.2) (16.2)
Sales and maturities of marketable secur 235.t 15.7 17.€
Cash paid for acquisitions and investment in afils, net of cash acquir (30.2) (3.5 0.8
Net cash used in investing activit| (150.9) (31.9) (15.7)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of note (300.0 — —
Issuance of note 300.( — —
Net repayments of bank borrowin — — (107.7)
Proceeds from stock pla 89.1 105.( 79.C
Cost of treasury shares repurcha (691.9) (221.9) (A71.9)
Payment of dividend (60.9) (44.9) (26.¢)
Payments under capital lease obligati (1.3 (1.9 (1.7
Debt issuance costs and related (2.9 — —
Net cash used in financing activiti (666.5) (162.9) (227.%)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvaénts (11.7) 4.4 5.€
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivz (120.0) 337.( 229.2
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the pi 606.1 269.1 39.¢
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the pe $ 486.( $ 606.] $ 269.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(amounts in millions)

Common Stock
Capital Retained

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive

Treasury Stock

Total
Shareholders’

Equity Comprehensive
Shares  Amount Surplus Earnings Income Shares Amount (Deficit) Income
Balance at December 31, 2002 342.¢ 3.4 43.€ 221.¢ 1.7 (45.2) (597.7) (327.0
Net income 363.¢ 363.¢ $ 363.¢
Dividends (26.€) (26.€)
Proceeds from stock plans, including tax
benefits 112.2 112.2
Stocl-based compensatic 10.€ 10.€
Net treasury stock activity (92.2) 0.9 (79.5) (171.9)
Currency translation adjustment 6.4 6.4 6.4
Comprehensive income $ 370.%
Balance at December 31, 2003 342.¢ 34 74.7 558.¢ 8.1 (45.€) (677.2) (32.])
Net income 425.1 425.1 $ 425.1
Dividends (44.7) (44.7)
Proceeds from stock plans, including tax
benefits 161.1 161.1
Stock-based compensation 27.¢ 27.€
Net treasury stock activit (121.9) 0.5 (100.0 (221.9)
Currency translation adjustment 2.€ 2.€ 2.€
Additional minimum pension liability (n
of tax of $0.7 million) (1.0) (1.0) (1.0)
Comprehensive income $ 426.5
Balance at December 31, 2004 342.¢  $ 34 $ 142 $ 939.: $ 9.7 (45.1) $ (7779 $ 317.t
Net income 560.¢ 560.¢ $ 560.¢
Dividends (80.9) (80.9)
Proceeds from stock plans, including ti
benefits 159.: 118 €
Stocl-based compensatic 55.C 55.C
Net treasury stock activity (115.7) (7.5) (576.0) (691.7)
Currency translation adjustment (7.9) (7.9) (7.9)
Additional minimum pension liability (n
of tax of $1.8 million) (2.5) (2.5) (2.5)
Derivative instruments (net of tax of $0.5
million) (0.8) 0.9) 0.9
Comprehensive income $ 550.2
Balance at December 31, 2005 342¢ $ 34 $ 240.¢ $1,419.0 $ (0.9 (52.6) $(1,3530) $ 309.¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(tabular dollar and share amounts in millions, excpt per share data)

Note 1 Description of Business and Basis of Presatibn

Moody’s Corporation (“Moody’s” or the “Company”) & provider of (i) credit ratings, research andysis covering fixed income securities,
other debt instruments and the entities that issieé instruments in the global capital markets, @edit training services and (ii) quantitative
credit risk assessment products and services &ait processing software for banks, corporatiortsiawestors in credit-sensitive assets.
Moody'’s operates in two reportable segments: Masdiyvestors Service and Moody’s KMV. Moody'’s Invast Service publishes rating
opinions on a broad range of credit obligors amdlitrobligations issued in domestic and internationarkets, including various corporate
and governmental obligations, structured finanoeistes and commercial paper programs. It alsdiplus investor-oriented credit research,
including in-depth research on major issuers, iglugtudies, special comments and credit opiniardbaoks. The Moody’s KMV business
develops and distributes quantitative credit riskessment products and services and credit progessitware for banks, corporations and
investors in credit-sensitive assets.

The Company operated as part of The Dun & Brads@egporation (“Old D&B”) until September 30, 200e “Distribution Date”), when
Old D&B separated into two publicly traded companie Moody’s Corporation and The New D&B Corporat{tNew D&B"). At that time,
Old D&B distributed to its shareholders shares efM\D&B stock. New D&B comprised the business of OIB’s Dun & Bradstreet
operating company (the “D&B Business”). The remagnbusiness of Old D&B consisted solely of the bass of providing ratings and
related research and credit risk management sertice “Moody’s Business”) and was renamed “Moodytsporation”. The method by
which Old D&B distributed to its shareholders iteges of New D&B stock is hereinafter referred gdte “2000 Distribution”.

For purposes of governing certain ongoing relatigrs between the Company and New D&B after the 2Di8@ibution and to provide for &
orderly transition, the Company and New D&B entedred various agreements including a Distributiogréement (the “2000 Distribution
Agreement”), Tax Allocation Agreement, Employee B3 Agreement, Shared Transaction Services Ageagnnsurance and Risk
Management Services Agreement, Data Services Agneeamd Transition Services Agreement.

In February 2005, Moody’s Board of Directors degetha two-for-one stock split to be effected asexsp stock distribution of one share of
common stock for each share of the Compsiegmmon stock outstanding, subject to stockhageroval of a charter amendment to incre
the Company'’s authorized common shares from 40llomihares to 1 billion shares. At the Companyrsidal Meeting on April 26, 2005,
Moody'’s stockholders approved the charter amendment.résudt, stockholders of record as of the closkusiness on May 4, 2005 recei\
one additional share of common stock for each sbfattee Company’s common stock held on that ddie (Btock Split”). Such additional
shares were distributed on May 18, 2005. All pperiod share, per share and equity award informdtave been restated to reflect the Stock
Split.

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include tlidddoody’s Corporation and its majority- and whetiwned subsidiaries. The effects of
intercompany transactions have been eliminatecdiments in companies for which the Company hasfiignt influence over operating
and financial policies but not a controlling intstrare carried on an equity basis. Investmentsimpanies for which the Company does not
have the ability to exercise significant influeraze carried on the cost basis of accounting.
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The Company applies the guidelines set forth irmkaial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Intetpten No. 46R “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of B\Ro. 51" (“FIN 46”) in assessing its interestsviariable interest entities to decide whether
to consolidate that entity. The Company has revikthie potential variable interest entities and iheiteed that there are no consolidation
requirements under FIN 46.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents principally consist of investmémtsioney market mutual funds and high-grade corrakpaper with maturities of three
months or less when purchased. Interest incomesim @nd cash equivalents and short-term investmas$26.0 million, $6.8 million and
$1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2@084, and 2003, respectively.

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost andepreciated using the straight-line method over thgimated useful lives, typically three to
ten years for computer equipment and office fumeitand fixtures and equipment, and seven to fagry for buildings and building
improvements. Leasehold improvements are amortzedthe shorter of the term of the lease or thienased useful life of the improvement.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs that dextend the economic useful life of the relateseés are charged to expense as incurred.
Gains and losses on disposals of property and eganipare reflected in the consolidated statemdraperations.

Computer Software

Costs for the development of computer softwarehihbe sold, leased or otherwise marketed ardtakiged when technological feasibility
has been established in accordance with Staterhi@&mancial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 8Bctounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or OtherMagketed”. These assets primarily relate to thestippment of MKMV credit processing
software and quantitative credit risk assessmetymts to be licensed to customers. The capitaliosts generally consist of professional
services provided by third parties and compensatimts of employees that develop the software. & hests are amortized on a straight-line
basis over three years, which approximates theifulitife, and are reported at the lower of unaizer cost or net realizable value.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, these costs, indlirdether assets in the consolidated balance sheete $4.1 million and $8.9 million,
respectively (net of accumulated amortization d@.82million and $16.4 million, respectively). Othessets at December 31, 2005 and 2004
also included $3.9 million and $7.5 million, respeely, (net of accumulated amortization of $13.®ion and $9.6 million, respectively) of
acquired software resulting from the April 2002 aisgion of KMV. Amortization expense for all susbftware for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 was $8.0 mil§@ry, million and $7.3 million, respectively.

The Company capitalizes costs related to softwaveldped or obtained for internal use in accordavitie Statement of Position 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Deped or Obtained for Internal Usé’hese assets, included in property and equipm
the consolidated balance sheets, relate to the @ay'gaccounting, product delivery and other systeéduch costs generally consist of direct
costs of third party license fees, professionalises provided by third parties and employee corapton, in each case incurred either during
the application development stage or in connedtiibh upgrades and enhancements that increase dmadity. Such costs are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives, generally thieefive years. Costs incurred during the prelimynagiroject stage of development as well as
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Other Acquidntangible Assets

Finite-lived intangible assets and other long-liesdets are reviewed for recoverability wheneventsvor changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverablhdfestimated undiscounted future cash flowsawei than the carrying amount of the
related asset, a loss is recognized for
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the difference between the carrying amount anc$tienated fair value of the asset. Goodwill andefivdte- lived intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if evet circumstances indicate the assets may be liethdf the estimated fair value is less
than its carrying amount, a loss is recognized.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted, on agetep basis, the fair value method of accountargstock-based compensation under
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 128counting for Stock-Based Compensation”. Theref employee stock awards
granted on and after January 1, 2003 are beingnegpeby the Company over the vesting period (oneoif employees are at or near
retirement eligibility) based on the estimated failue of the award on the date of grant. In addjtthe Company records expense for the
employee stock purchase plan based on the disémumnthe market price received by the participants.

The consolidated statements of operations includdgx compensation expense of $54.8 million in22@&27.8 million in 2004 and $10.8
million in 2003, related to grants of stock compitn awards, as well as stock issued under théogep stock purchase plan since

January 1, 2003. The 2005 amount includes apprdglynd9.1 million recorded in the first quarter2@05 relating to the accelerated
expensing of equity grants for employees who am atar retirement eligibility as defined in tledated Company stock plans. The 2005,
2004 and 2003 expense is less than that which wraild been recognized if the fair value methodlesh applied to all awards since the
original effective date of SFAS No. 123 rather thamng applied prospectively. Had the Company deitegd such stock-based compensation
expense using the fair value method provisionsFASNo. 123 since its original effective date, Mgadet income and earnings per share
would have been reduced to the pro forma amoumtsrsbelow. The pro forma amounts for the year erdecember 31, 2005 include the
effect of the $9.1 million pre-tax charge discusabdve.

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Net income:
As reportec $560.¢ $425.1 $363.¢
Add: Stocl-based compensation expense included in reporteédewhe, net of ta 33.2 16.€ 6.€
Deduct: Stoc-based compensation expense determined under thafaé method, net of te (38.6) (28.2) (20.0)
Pro forma net incom $555.5 $413.7 $350.£
Basic earnings per shal
As reportec $ 1.8¢ $ 1.4 $ 1.22
Pro forma $ 1.87 $ 1.3¢ $ 1.1¢
Diluted earnings per shar
As reportec $ 1.84 $ 1.4C $ 1.1¢
Pro forma $ 1.82 $ 1.3€ $ 1.1F

The pro forma disclosures shown above are not septative of the effects on net income and earrpegshare in future years.

The fair value of stock options used to computepttteforma net income and earnings per share digas is the estimated present value at
grant date using the Black-Scholes option-priciragel. The following weighted average assumptionsewsed for options granted during
2005, 2004 and 2003:

2005 2004 2003
Expected dividend yiel 0.52% 0.4€% 0.41%
Expected stock volatilit 23% 30% 30%
Risk-free interest rat 4.01% 3.2¢% 3.05%
Expected holding perio 6.0 yre 5.0 yre 5.0 yre
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The estimated weighted average fair value per nmfdMoody’s options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2@@3 $12.62, $10.00 and $6.53,
respectively.

At the Distribution Date, all unexercised Old D&Eek options were converted into separately exabdésoptions of Moody’s and New
D&B. The 2000 Distribution Agreement provided tHar, subsequent exercises of those options, theliss the stock rather than the
employer would be entitled to the related tax déidauc Accordingly, from the Distribution Date thrglu the 2002 tax year, Moody’s claimed
tax deductions when employees of New D&B exercideddy’s stock options and vice versa.

Beginning with stock option exercises in 2003, Mgiedhas changed its tax deductions to conform ttR&ruling which clarified that the
employer should take the tax deduction for optivereises rather than the issuer. The 2000 Distdhuigreement entitles Moody's to
reimbursement from New D&B for the resulting logshe issuer-based tax deductions. Accordinglygfd3ecember 31, 2005 and 2004,
Moody’s has reflected $18.1 million and $23.3 roiflj respectively, in other current assets and 88llibn in other assets as of December 31,
2005 related to the amounts due from New D&B. Tdwesolidated statement of cash flows for the yededrDecember 31, 2003 has been
reclassified to reflect this treatment.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Stansl&alard issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004) “Shase® Payment” (“SFAS

No. 123F"). Under this pronouncement, companies are requoaecord compensation expense for all sharedyaagment award
transactions granted to employees, based on thedlaie of the equity instrument at the time ofrgra his includes shares issued under
employee stock purchase plans, stock options jeestrstock and stock appreciation rights. SFAS NaRR eliminates the ability to account
for share-based compensation transactions using@giBion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to floyees”, which had been allowed
in SFAS No. 123 as originally issued. In April 20@e Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEQ8ad public companies to delay the
implementation of SFAS No. 123R until the first aahperiod beginning after June 15, 2005. The Compdans to implement this standard
effective January 1, 2006. Because the Companytedalpe fair value method provisions of SFAS N®B pPospectively beginning on
January 1, 2003, it does not believe that the implBadoption of SFAS No. 123R will be materiait®consolidated results of operations or
financial position. However, Moody’s currently asipiates that its 2006 stock compensation expenséevhigher than its 2005 expense, in
part because the Company has been phasing in plemgirg of annual stock award grants commenci2@@8 over the current four-year
stock plan vesting period (or sooner if employaesaa or near retirement eligibility). SFAS No. R3lso requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensatioareseto be reported as a financing cash flow, raftaea as an operating cash flow. This
requirement will reduce net operating cash flows imgrease net financing cash flows in periodsratmption. Total change in cash and cash
equivalents will remain the same.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activitie

Based on the Company'’s risk management policy, tiora to time the Company may use derivative fin@rostruments to reduce exposure
to changes in foreign exchange and interest rates Company does not enter into derivative findringruments for speculative purposes.
The Company accounts for derivative financial imstents and hedging activities in accordance witASRNo. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Actasti (“SFAS No. 133"), as amended and interpretddclvrequires that all derivative
financial instruments be recorded on the balaneetsht their respective fair values. Changes ird#dravative’s fair value are recognized
currently in earnings unless they are designatexasis flow hedges for which changes in fair valigeracorded as other comprehensive
income or loss, to the extent the hedge is effectind such amounts are reclassified to earnintjgeisame period or periods during which
hedged transaction affects income.

Employee Benefit Plan

Moody’s maintains various noncontributory defineghbfit pension plans, in which substantially albUemployees of the Company are
eligible to participate, as well as other contrdyytand noncontributory
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retirement and post-retirement plans. The expeassgts, liabilities and obligations that Moodyparts for pension and other post-
retirement benefits are dependent on many assunsptimncerning the outcome of future events andicistances. Moody’s major
assumptions vary by plan and the Company deterntimese assumptions based on the Company’s longatetunal experience and future
outlook as well as consultation with outside adesaand other advisors where deemed appropriaaetutl results differ from the Compasy
assumptions, such differences are deferred andtizewover the estimated future working life of fflan participants. The annual
measurement date for the plans is December 3IN8teel0 for a full description of these plans amel @accounting and funding policies.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance wafh Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recogdprif'. As such, revenue is
recognized when an arrangement exists, the sefiaesbeen provided and accepted by the custoses are determinable and the collec
of resulting receivables is considered probable.

Revenue attributed to initial ratings of issuedusiies is recognized when the rating is issued/gRee attributed to monitoring of issuers or
issued securities is recognized over the periaghiich the monitoring is performed. In most areathefratings business, the Company
charges issuers annual monitoring fees and amsizeh fees ratably over the related one-year ghelricthe case of commercial mortgage-
backed securities, fees that are charged for futunaitoring over the life of the related securités amortized over such lives which avere
approximately 26 years as of December 31, 2005.

In areas where the Company does not separatelgeaonitoring fees, the Company defers portiorth@frating fees that it estimates will
attributed to future monitoring activities and rgon@es such fees ratably over the applicable estidn@onitoring period. The portion of the
revenue to be deferred is based upon a numbectiréaincluding the fair market value of the morniitg services charged for similar
securities or issuers. The estimated monitoringpdas determined based on factors such as the tfi¢he rated securities. Currently, the
estimated monitoring periods range from one ye#&eroyears.

Revenue from sales of research products and freditaisk management subscription products is reizegl ratably over the related
subscription period, which is principally one yeRevenue from licenses of credit processing sofisarecognized at the time the product is
shipped to customers, or at such other time a€tmepany’s obligations are complete. Related so#waaintenance revenue is recognized
ratably over the annual maintenance period.

Amounts billed or received in advance of providthg related products or services are classifiext@ounts payable and accrued liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and reflectedvenue when earned. In addition, the constditlhalance sheets reflect as current
deferred revenue amounts that are expected tacbgmized within one year of the balance sheet dai@ as non-current deferred revenue
amounts that are expected to be recognized oviErdsegreater than one year. The majority of tharmed in non-current deferred revenue
relates to fees for future monitoring of commerciertgage-backed securities.

Accounts Receivable Allowanci

Moody'’s records as reductions of revenue provisfongstimated future adjustments to customemiglli based on historical experience and
current conditions. Such provisions are reflecteddditions to the accounts receivable allowancgugiments to and writeffs of receivable
are charged against the allowance. Moody’s evalutdestimates on a regular basis and makes adjnst to its revenue provisions and the
accounts receivable allowance as considered apatepr
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Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are charged to income as igcUrihese expenses include costs associated wittethdopment and production of the
Companys products and services and their delivery to ensts. These expenses principally include emplogespensation and benefits a
travel costs that are incurred in connection whse activities.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens

Selling, general and administrative expenses aaegeld to income as incurred. These expenses insludeitems as compensation and
benefits for corporate officers and staff and conga¢ion and other expenses related to sales ofipimdrhey also include items such as
office rent, business insurance, professional éekgains and losses from sales and disposalsetsas

Foreign Currency Translation

For all operations outside the United States whHegeCompany has designated the local currencyeafsitittional currency, assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars userg of year exchange rates, and revenue and exparestranslated using average exchange
rates for the year. For these operations, currénacyglation adjustments are accumulated in a sepaomponent of shareholders’ equity.
Transaction gains and losses are reflected in oitveroperating (expense) income, net. Transaclims€s) gains were ($8.2) million, $1.9
million and $2.2 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003spectively.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income represents the change irssetsaof a business enterprise during a periodadimansactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources includingidoreurrency translation impacts, changes in mimmnpension liability and derivative
instruments. Accumulated comprehensive (loss) ire@tomprised of currency translation adjustmen®3.4 million and $10.7 million in
2005 and 2004, respectively, additional minimumspem liabilities of ($3.5) million and ($1.0) mitih in 2005 and 2004, respectively, and
derivative instruments of ($0.8) million in 2005hd required disclosures have been included indhsatidated statements of shareholders’
equity.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under théitiamethod in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Aaating for Income Taxes”.
Therefore, income tax expense is based on repiortethe before income taxes, and deferred inconesteeflect the effect of temporary
differences between the amounts of assets anditlebthat are recognized for financial reportjgrposes and the amounts that are
recognized for income tax purposes.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s financial instruments include casishcequivalents, trade receivables and payablex,\ahich are short-term in nature and,
accordingly, approximate fair value. Additionaltile Company invests in short-term investmentsahacarried at fair value. The fair value
of the Company’s notes payable, which have a fre¢el of interest, is estimated using discounteti 8asy analyses based on the prevailing
interest rates available to the Company for bormgwiwith similar maturities. The carrying amountteg Company’s notes payable was
$300.0 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004. Tésiimated fair value was $306.3 million and $3X6ilfion at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentration of credit risk principaiynsist of cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments and trade receivables.

Cash equivalents consist of investments in higHitguavestment grade securities within and outdite United States. The Company
manages its credit risk exposure by allocatingatsh equivalents among various money market méundks and issuers of high-grade
commercial paper. Short-term investments primarilgsist of high-grade auction rate securities withe United States. The Company
manages its credit risk exposure on cash equivealerd shorterm investments by limiting the amount it can isiweith any single issuer. T
Company has not engaged in foreign currency hedgamgactions nor does the Company have any devithancial instruments
outstanding as of December 31, 2005. However, tiragany continues to assess the need to enteradgiry transactions to limit its risk
due to fluctuations in exchange rates or inter@stsrand may enter into such transactions in tiuedu

Credit is extended to customers based on an evaiuait their financial condition. No customer acoted for 10% or more of accounts
receivable at December 31, 2005 or 2004.

Earnings Per Share of Common Sto«

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per 8hdrasic earnings per share is calculated bas¢deoweighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the tiygpperiod. Diluted earnings per share is cal@dagiving effect to all potentially dilutive
common shares, assuming that such shares werarditsg during the reporting period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfietttae reported amounts of assets and lialslitiee disclosure of contingent assets
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeatsd the reported amounts of revenue and expelnsieg) the period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. Estimates are usedfarnot limited to, revenue recognition, accousteivable allowances, income taxes,
contingencies, valuation of investments in affégtlong-lived and intangible assets and goodpéihsion and other post-retirement benefits,
stock based compensation, and depreciation andiaat@n rates for property and equipment and caepspftware.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to tlgr pgar amounts to conform to the current yearegredion.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemel

As discussed in Note 10, in May 2004, the FASBassBASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 106-2, “Aetting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare PrescriptiargDmprovement and Modernization Act of 2003"g(tti\ct”). The Act provides new
government subsidies for companies that providsagpigtion drug benefits to retirees. Moody’s hasoiporated the effects of the Act into the
measurement of plan assets and obligations asadrblger 31, 2004. In January 2005, the Centers &atidare and Medicaid Services
published final regulations implementing major psians of the Act resulting in a $0.8 million redion to the Company’s accumulated post-
retirement benefit obligation. The adoption of FI&IB-2 and the final regulations reduced the Comigamst periodic post-retirement expense
by $0.2 million in 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. 109-2¢c6anting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreigmigs Repatriation Provision
within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004”, eliprovides guidance under SFAS No. 109, “Accountar Income Taxes”, with respect
to recording the potential impact of the repatoiati
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provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 20ie “Jobs Act”). The Jobs Act provides for agpkonetime tax deduction relating tc
portion of certain foreign earnings that are raptgd in 2004 or 2005. In 2005, the Company reatatt approximately $63 million under the
Jobs Act resulting in a reduction of tax expens2d@s of $3.6 million.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123RleUthis pronouncement, companies are requireelciord compensation expense for
all share-based payment award transactions grémiiployees, based on the fair value of the eduityument at the time of grant. This
includes shares issued under employee stock pwrgiass, stock options, restricted stock and stmglkeciation rights. SFAS No. 123R
eliminates the ability to account for share-basmtgensation transactions using APB Opinion No."26¢counting for Stock Issued to
Employees”, which had been allowed in SFAS No. 423riginally issued. In March 2005, the SEC issstdf Accounting Bulletin No. 107
(“SAB 107"). SAB 107 expresses views of the SEGfstgarding the interaction between this statenagt certain SEC rules. In April 2005,
the SEC allowed public companies to delay the imgletation of SFAS No. 123R until the first annuatipd beginning after June 15, 2005.
The Company plans to implement this standard efiedanuary 1, 2006. Because the Company adopeddittivalue method provisions of
SFAS No. 123 prospectively beginning on Januai3003, it does not believe that the impact of adwptif SFAS No. 123R will be material
to its consolidated results of operations or finaihgosition. However, Moodyg currently anticipates that its 2006 stock compgos expens
will be higher than its 2005 expense, in part beeatie Company has been phasing in the expensengnoil stock award grants
commencing in 2003 over the current four-year sfaek vesting period (or sooner if employees amr aear retirement eligibility). SFAS
No. 123R also requires the benefits of tax dedustin excess of recognized compensation experse teported as a financing cash fl¢
rather than as an operating cash flow. This requeére will reduce net operating cash flows and iaseenet financing cash flows in periods
after adoption. Total change in cash and cash atgrits will remain the same.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “AccinmtChanges and Error Corrections” (“SFAS No. 154hjch replaces Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 20 “Accounting Charigaisd SFAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changefiterim Financial Statements —
An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 28". SFAS No. 15#yides guidance on the accounting for and repguinaccounting changes and
error corrections. It establishes retrospectivdiegiion, or the latest practicable date, as tlyired method for reporting a change in
accounting principle and the reporting of a coiimetbf an error. SFAS No. 154 is effective for amsting changes and corrections of errors
made in fiscal years beginning after December 0852and, accordingly, is required to be adoptethbyCompany on January 1, 2006. The
Company does not expect that the adoption of SFASLE4 will have a material impact on its consdkdiresults of operations and financial
position.

Note 3 Reconciliation of Weighted Average Shares @atanding
Below is a reconciliation of basic shares outstagdo diluted shares outstanding:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Basic 297.7 297.( 297.¢
Dilutive effect of shares issuable under s-based compensation pla 7.5 7.7 6.8
Diluted 305.¢ 304.7 304.¢

Options to purchase 0.1 million, 1.5 million and #illion common shares at December 31, 2005, 20@42003, respectively, were
outstanding but were not included in the computatibdiluted weighted average shares outstandioguse they were antidilutive.
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Note 4 Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments are securities with magsitireater than 90 days at the time of purchasatbavailable for operations in the next
twelve months and primarily represent auction catificates. The short-term investments are diesksas available-fosale and therefore a
carried at fair value. The remaining contractuaturies of the short-term investments were one tmonm 38 years and one month to eight
months as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respBctiverealized holding gains and losses on availdbi-sale securities are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income, net ofGglpé income taxes in the consolidated finandatiesnents. During the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 there were nizedalains or losses from sales of available-fée-sacurities. As of December 31, 2005
and 2004, there were no unrealized gains or Idsgesavailable-for-sale securities.

Note 5 Derivative Instruments And Hedging Activities

On August 23, 2005, the Company entered into fodvegarting interest rate swap agreements (“Swapih) a notional amount of $300
million. These cash flow hedges effectively mitiegthe interest rate risk from August 23, 2005dpt&mber 22, 2005, the pricing date for
the newly issued fixed rate ten-year $300 milli@mni®r Unsecured Notes due 2015 (see Note 13). Pre@ber 22, 2005, the Company
terminated all the Swaps resulting in a paymei§tlo8 million. Under hedge accounting this amouns deferred in other comprehensive
(loss) income and will be amortized as an adjustrieemterest expense over the tggar life of the Senior Unsecured Notes. At Decan®i¢
2005 and 2004, the Company had no outstandingater@vinstruments. As of December 31, 2005, the gamg has included in accumulated
other comprehensive loss an unamortized Swap fdg%.8 million ($0.8 million net of tax), of whick0.1 million will be reclassified to
interest expense in the next 12 months.

Note 6 Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net consisted of:

December 31,

2005 2004
Land, building and building improvemer $ 25.¢ $ 254
Office and computer equipme 53.7 48.1
Office furniture and fixture 25.4 23.C
Interna-use computer softwal 41.4 30.7
Leasehold improvemen 44.C 35.1
Property and equipment, at c 190.: 162.:
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (134.9 (127.7)
Property and equipment, r $ 55.2 $ 45.2

The consolidated statements of operations reflegtatiation and amortization expense related taltowe assets of $20.4 million, $19.5
million and $18.3 million for the years ended Debem31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Note 7 Acquisitions
Economy.con

In November 2005, the Company acquired Economy.eoleading independent provider of economic reseand data services, for $27.7
million, including transaction fees and expensd® @cquisition will deepen Moody’s analytical cailiies to broader areas of economic and
demographic research, expand the range of
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products and services offered to institutional cosrs and introduce new customers to Moody'’s. litprovide Economy.com with access to
Moody'’s extensive client base, deep product mangetapabilities and other resources needed to eikpmbusiness. The transaction was
funded by cash on hand and resulted in additionafigill of $20.3 million.

Korea Investors Servic

In December 2001, the Company increased its invargtim Korea Investors Service (“KIS”) to just o\&%, at a cost of $9.6 million with a
contingent payment based on KIS net income fothhee-year period ended December 31, 2004. Therli®n contingent payment, which
was reflected in goodwill and accrued liabilitiessad December 31, 2004, was paid in the secondeyuafr 2005 and is reflected in the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the yede@ December 31, 2005.

Note 8 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the activity in gaditifor the periods indicated:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Moody's Moody’'s Moody’s Moody’s
Investors Service KMV Consolidated Investors Service KMV Consolidated
Beginning balanc $ 7.€ $ 124.1 $ 131.7 $ 2.3 $ 124.1 $ 126.¢
Additions 20.: — 20.z 4.9 — 4.9
Other 0.1 — 0.1 0.4 — 0.4
Ending balanc $ 28.( $ 124.1 $ 152.] $ 7.€ $ 124.] $ 131.7

The following table summarizes intangible assetbaidates indicated:

December 31,

2005 2004
Customer lists (11.3 year original weighted aver#gg $60.2 $ 58.C
Accumulated amortizatio (21.2) (15.9
Net customer list 39.C 42.1
MKMYV trade secret (12.0 year weighted average 25.t 25.t
Accumulated amortizatio (0.2 —
Net trade secre 25.2 25.5
Other amortizable intangible assets (5.1 year aigiveighted average lifi 12.€ 8.2
Accumulated amortizatio (6.9 (5.1
Net other amortizable intangible ass 6.5 3.1
Total intangible asse $ 70.¢ $70.7

Amortization expense for the years ended Decembge2@®5, 2004 and 2003 was $6.8 million, $6.9 miilland $7.0 million, respectively. In
December 2005, the Company began amortizing the MKiidde secret over 12 years.
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Estimated future annual amortization expense fiamigible assets subject to amortization is asyialo

Year Ending December 31,

2006 $ 9.7
2007 9.C
2008 7.8
2009 7.C
2010 7.C
Thereafte! $30.:

Note 9 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisfetthe following:

December 31,

2005 2004
Accounts payabl $ 6.8 $ 2¢
Accrued income taxes (see Note 41.¢€ 75.8
Accrued compensation and bene 138.¢ 128.7
Accrued professional fet 11. 9.7
Accrued interest expen: 3.7 5.7
Advance payment 10.2 13.2
Other 66.€ 48.C
Total $279.¢ $283.¢

Accrued compensation and benefits included acdnmzhtive compensation of approximately $92 millaarDecember 31, 2005 and $83
million at December 31, 2004. Funding and relatqubase for Moody’s incentive compensation plangpairearily based on year-to-year
growth in operating income and, to a lesser extantiings per share, for Moody’s senior managemedtannual results compared to budget
for the Moody’s Investors Service professionalfsaafd for Moody’s KMV.

Note 10 Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

Moody’s maintains both funded and unfunded nondoutory defined benefit pension plans in which gabgally all U.S. employees of the
Company are eligible to participate. The plans ewefined benefits using a cash balance formaeth on years of service and career
average salary or final average pay for selectedwives.

The Company also provides certain healthcare &mdhurance benefits for retired U.S. employeé® post-retirement healthcare plans are
contributory with participants’ contributions adjed annually; the life insurance plans are nondoutory. At December 31, 2004, the
accounting for the healthcare plans anticipatedréutost-sharing changes which require retiregaydfor all future increases in plan costs in
excess of the amount of the per person companyilbotion in the year 2005. In November 2005, thenpany increased its future share of
the costs and as a result remeasured the healthlearas of the date of the plan amendment, tleesfiof which were not material to the
results of operations.

Moody'’s funded and unfunded pension plans, the-msement healthcare plans and the post-retir¢fiferinsurance plans described in the
preceding two paragraphs are collectively refetoelderein as the “Post-Retirement Plans”. Effecivéhe Distribution Date, Moody's
assumed responsibility for pension and other patatement benefits relating to its active emplayddew D&B has assumed responsibility
the Company’s retirees and vested terminated erapkgs of the Distribution Date.
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In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position RAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure RequireradRe¢lated to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization éc2003”. The Act provides new government sulesdbr companies that provide
prescription drug benefits to retirees. In Jan2295, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Sesvizéblished final regulations
implementing major provisions of the Act resultinga $0.8 million reduction to the Company’s accleted other post-retirement benefit
obligation. The adoption of FSP 106-2 and the fieglulations reduced the Company’s net periodi¢-pEisement expense by $0.2 million
2005.

Following is a summary of the activity related e tPost-Retirement Plans for the years ended Desre®dh 2005 and 2004, as well as the
status of the plans at December 31, 2005. The Coynpses a December 31 measurement date for itsRedisement Plans.

Pension Other Post-
Plans Retirement Plans
2005 2004 2005 2004

Change in benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of the pdi $(109.¢) $ (79.9) $(74) $(6.]
Service cos (10.7) (8.9 (0.€) (0.5)
Interest cos (6.2) (5.7 (0.9 (0.9)
Benefits paid* 7.€ 0.8 0.2 0.3
Plan amendmen — (3.5 (0.6) —
Impact of Medicare Part — — 0.t 0.4
Actuarial loss (3.6 (1.0 — (0.9
Assumption change (5.9 (13.0) (0.5 0.7
Projected benefit obligation, end of the pel $(127.9)  $(109.9) $388 $((749
Change in plan asset
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the pe $ 957 $ 86.1 $ — $ —
Actual return on plan asse 7.3 10.4 — —
Benefits paid? (7.€) (0.9 (0.3 (0.3
Contributions 6.7 — 0.3 0.3
Fair value of plan assets, end of the pe $102.1 $ 95.7 $ — $ —
Reconciliation of funded status to total amount reerded on balance shee
Funded status of the pla $ (25.2) $ (14 $(8.8 $(7.9
Unrecognized actuarial lo: 52.4 48.€ 1.1 1.1
Unrecognized prior service cc 4.¢ 5.3 0.8 0.3
Net amount recognize $ 321 $ 39:¢ $(6.8 $(6.0
Amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheets
Prepaid pension co $ 56.£ $ 59.7 $ — $ —
Pension and pc-retirement benefits liabilit (35.9) (27.2) (6.8) (6.0)
Intangible asse 5.1 5.€ — —
Accumulated other comprehensive | 6.C 1.7 — —
Net amount recognize $ 321 $ 39.¢ $(6.8 $(6.0

*Includes $6.3 million of lump sum cash settlempayments.

The pension plan amendment charge in 2004 relatadditional participants admitted to the Suppletaleixecutive Benefit Plan. The other
post-retirement plan amendment charge in 2005a=latthe increase of the Company’s future shahealthcare plan costs as previously
discussed.
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During 2005 and 2004, the Company recorded chaogether comprehensive loss related to additiorialmum pension liability adjustmer
totaling $4.3 million and $1.7 million, respectiy€b2.5 million and $1.0 million net of tax, restigely), resulting in accumulated other
comprehensive loss due to minimum pension liabddjustments of $6.0 million and $1.7 million atdeenber 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively ($3.5 million and $1.0 million nettak, respectively).

The accumulated benefit obligation related to thespon plans totaled $97.9 million and $79.3 millas of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Other Post-
Pension Plans Retirement Plans
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Components of net periodic expense
Service cos $10.1 $83 $6.¢ $0.€6 $0.€ $04
Interest cos 6.2 5.1 4.1 0.4 0.4 0.3
Expected return on plan ass 8.2 (8.0 (7.7 — — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss from earlier ipels 2.6 14 1.2 — — —
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cc 0.t 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2
Settlement los 3.2 — = = — —
Net periodic expens $14¢ $7C $47 _ $11 $11  $0.C
The settlement loss in 2005 relates to the elecfanlump sum payment of pension benefits toeseitl unfunded pension obligation.
The following information is for those pension plawith an accumulated benefit obligation in excessplan assets
December 31,
2005 2004
Projected benefit obligatic 53.Z 47.€
Accumulated benefit obligatic 34.C 27.2
Fair value of plan asse — —
Additional Information:
Assumptions
Weighted-average assumptions used to determindibebkégations at December 31:
Other Post-
Pension Plans Retirement Plans
2005 2004 2005 2004
Discount rate 5.6(% 5.9(% 5.45% 5.9(%
Rate of compensation incree 4.0(% 4.0(% — —
Cash balance accumulation/conversion 4.7%% 5.0(% — —
Weighted-average assumptions used to determingeniedic benefit cost for years ended December 31:
Pension Plans Other Post-Retirement Plans
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Discount rate 59% 6.25% 6.7%% 59% 6.25% 6.7%%
Expected return on plan ass 8.35% 8.35% 8.1(% — — —
Rate of compensation incree 400% 391% 3.91% — — —
Cash balance accumulation/conversion 5.0% 5.0(% 5.0(% — — —
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For 2005, the Company used an assumed return etsagsapproximately 8.35% for Moody’s funded pengplan, which was determined
based on explicit long-term return assumptionefmwh major asset class within the plan portfolioollly’s works with third party consultants
to determine assumptions for long-term rates afrretor the asset classes that are included ipehsion plan investment portfolio. These
return assumptions reflect a long-term time horiZidrey also reflect a combination of historicalfpemance analysis and forward-looking
views of the financial markets including considematof inflation, current yields on long-term boraisd price-earnings ratios of the major
stock market indices.

Assumed Healthcare Cost Trend Rates at December 31:

2005 2004 2003
Pre- and
Pre-age 6! post-age 6! Pre-age 6! post- age 6! post- age 6!
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for the follgwin
year 10.(% 12.(% 11.% 13.(% 10.(%
Ultimate rate to which the cost trend rate is as=lito
decline (ultimate trend rat: 5.C% 5.C% 5.C% 5.0% 6.C%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 201z 201z 201z 201z 200¢

The assumed health cost trend rate was modifi@@0d to better reflect different trend expectatiforghe medical and prescribed medica
components of healthcare costs in proportion tag¢kpective share of gross healthcare costs ferapie post-age 65 retirees.

A one percentage-point change in assumed healthoatérend rates would not have affected totaliserand interest cost and would have
increased or decreased the post-retirement beriigation by $0.2 million.

Plan Asset:
The assets of the funded pension plan were alld@ateong the following categories at December 3052hd 2004:

Percentage of

Plan Assets
at December 31,
Asset Category 2005 2004
Equity securitie: 75% 73%
Debt securitie! 16% 18%
Real estat 9% 9%
Total 10C% 100%

Moody’s investment objective for the assets inftimeled pension plan is to earn total returns thithimnimize future contribution
requirements over the long run within a prudenelef risk. The Company’s current pension plan eabecation targets are for
approximately seventy percent of assets to be faden equity securities, diversified across U181 aon-U.S. stocks of small, medium and
large capitalization, twenty percent in investmgratde bonds and the remainder in real estate f(i#suse of derivatives to leverage the
portfolio or otherwise is not permitted. The Compammonitoring of the plan includes ongoing reviesisnvestment performance, annual
liability measurements, periodic asset/liabilitydies and investment portfolio reviews.

Moody'’s other Post-Retirement Plans are unfundeltia@refore have no plan assets.
Cash Flows

The Company contributed $6.7 million to its unfudgension plans during the year ended Decembe2(8E primarily related to a lump si
payment of pension benefits and made no significantributions to its pension
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plans during the year ended December 31, 2004CBnepany also contributed $0.3 million to its otpest-retirement plans during both the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. The Conmpasgntly anticipates contributing $0.9 milliontsounfunded pension plans and $
million to its other post-retirement plans durin@0s.

Estimated Future Benefits Payab

Estimated future benefits payments for the Posirétaent Plans are as follows at December 31, 2005:

Other Post-
Year ending December 31, Pension Plan Retirement Plans*
2006 $2.€ $0.:2
2007 3.1 04
2008 34 0.4
2009 3.€ 0.t
2010 4.5 0.t
Next five years to December 31, 2| 33.t 3.1

* The estimated future benefits payable for thetfRetirement Plans are reflected net of the expieltedicare Part D subsidy for which the
subsidy is insignificant on an annual basis fotted years presented.

Profit Participation Plan

Moody'’s has a profit participation plan (the “Placbvering substantially all U.S. employees. ThenRirovides for an employee salary
deferral contribution and Company contributions.dmgees may contribute up to 16% of their pay, sabjo the federal limit. Moody’s
contributes an amount equal to 50% of employeeritarions, with Moody’s contribution limited to 3% the employee’s pay. Moody’s
makes additional contributions to the Plan thattex®ed on year-to-year growth in the Company’siegsrper share. Expense associated with
this plan was $15.3 million, $15.0 million and $3.8nillion in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

International Plans

Certain of the Company’s international operatiorm/jule pension benefits to their employees in thenfof defined contribution plans.
Company contributions are primarily determined aecentage of employees’ eligible compensatiopeBze related to these plans for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 \pasxapately $3.1 million, $3.4 million and $2.1 ioh, respectively

In addition, the Company also maintains an unfurdifthed benefit pension plan for its German emgésy which was closed to new entr

in 2002. The pension liability recorded relatedhis plan was $2.6 million, $2.4 million and $2.1llimn based on the discount rate of 4.15%,
5.00% and 5.25% at December 31, 2005, 2004 and, 28§3ectively. Expense related to this plan ferytbars ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 was approximately $0.6 million, $idion and $0.3 million, respectively. These amtsuare not included in the tables
above.

Note 11 Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Prior to the 2000 Distribution, certain employeé#loody’s received grants of Old D&B stock optiomsder Old D&B’s 1998 Key
Employees’ Stock Option Plan (the “1998 Plan”).ti4¢ Distribution Date, all unexercised Old D&B dtaptions held by Moody’s
employees were converted into separately exer@sgitions to acquire Moody’s common stock and saphrexercisable options to acquire
New D&B common stock, such that each option hadstime ratio of the exercise price per option tontlagket value per share, the se
aggregate difference between market value and isggucice, and the same vesting provisions, ogienods
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and other terms and conditions applicable prigh&2000 Distribution. Old D&B stock options helg &mployees and retirees of Old D&B
were converted in the same manner. Immediately #fee2000 Distribution, the 1998 Plan was ameratetladopted by the Company.

Under the 1998 Plan, 33,000,000 shares of the Coyrgpaommon stock were reserved for issuance. B®8 Plan provides that options are
exercisable not later than ten years from the giate. The vesting period for awards under the F388 is determined by the Board of
Directors at the date of the grant and has pritigifseen four years. Options may not be grantddss than the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock at the date of grant. Feeritive stock options granted to a shareholderakrthan 10% of the Company’s
outstanding stock, the exercise price per shareatdre less than 110% of the fair market valugnef@ompanys common stock at the date
grant. The 1998 Plan also provides for the grantingstricted stock.

The Amended and Restated 2001 Moody’s Corporatiey Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan (the “2001 PJamds approved by the
Company’s Board of Directors in March 2004 and iy Company’s shareholders in April 2004. Underadel Plan, 25,600,000 shares of
common stock have been reserved for issuance. i3ptiay not be granted at less than the fair makae of the Company’s common stock
at the date of grant. The 2001 Plan provides thtbns are exercisable not later than ten yearm fte grant date. The vesting period for
awards under the 2001 Plan is determined by thedBafeDirectors at the date of the grant and haslfeur years except for employees who
are at or near retirement eligibility, as definfat,which vesting is between one and four yeardikdrihe 1998 Plan, the 2001 Plan also
provides that consultants to the Company or anisdfffiliates are eligible to be granted optiofke 2001 Plan also provides for the granting
of restricted stock. The total number of sharedlaig for grants of awards other than stock ogimnlimited to 5,000,000 shares.

The Company maintains a stock plan for its BoarBioéctors, the 1998 Directors Plan (the “DirectBfan”), which permits the granting of
awards in the form of non-qualified stock optiorestricted stock or performance shares. The Dired¥an provides that options are
exercisable not later than ten years from the gtate. The vesting period is determined by the 8o&Directors at the date of the grant and
is generally one year for options and three yearsestricted stock. Under the Directors Plan, 800,shares of common stock were reserved
for issuance. Any director of the Company who isamoemployee of the Company or any of its subs&laas of the date that an award is
granted is eligible to participate in the Direct®tan.

In February 2006, Moody’s awarded long-term, egbiged compensation as a mix of stock options asidated stock. The aggregate gre
were approximately 2.2 million options and 0.7 raill shares of restricted stock under the 2001 Riad,approximately 0.8 million options
and 0.2 million shares of restricted stock underfi98 Plan. The options and a portion of theimstt stock vest ratably over four years (or
sooner if employees are at or near retirementtglity). The remaining restricted stock will vestey a period of three to five years, depent
on growth in the Company’s operating income.

Also in February 2006, Directors of the Companyewvgranted approximately 11,000 shares of restritieek under the Directors Plan.
Below is a summary of restricted shares that Mosdyanted in 2005, 2004 and 2003:

2005 2004 2003
Restricted shares grant 0.9 0.8 0.0¢
Weighted average fair value at grant c $42.11  $32.7¢  $21.0Z
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Changes in stock options for the three years ebdgmber 31, 2005 are summarized below:

Weighted

Number Average
Outstanding Exercise Price
Options outstanding, December 31, 2I 30.t 13.82
Granted 7.2 21.3i
Exercisec (6.2 11.9¢
Surrendered or retire (1.9 16.3¢
Options outstanding, December 31, 2I 30.3 15.8¢
Granted 4.€ 32.67
Exercisec (7.2 13.7¢
Surrendered or retire (1.4 22.9¢
Options outstanding, December 31, 2| 26.3 19.0¢
Granted 4.2 42.17
Exercisec (5.7) 15.1:
Surrendered or retire (1.1 28.6¢
Options outstanding, December 31, 2| 23.7 $ 23.62

Below is a summary of Moody'’s stock options held\igody’s employees and by New D&B employees anidees as of each date:

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Number Average
Range of Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price
$8.0¢-$11.98 2.9 $ 10.41
$12.5¢-$14.06 4.3 $ 13.7¢
$18.0¢-$21.27 4.7 $ 20.5C
$26.0:-$37.13 0.8 $ 32.3¢
$40.4:-$61.48 —
Total 12.7
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New D&B
Moody’s Employees
Employee: and Retirees
Options outstanding a
December 31, 20C 25.1 5.2
December 31, 200 23.2 3.1
December 31, 20C 21.t 2.2
The following table summarizes additional informatiabout stock options outstanding at Decembe2@15:
Options Outstanding
Average
Remaining Weighted
Number Contractual Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life in Years Exercise Price
$8.0¢-$11.98 2.9 3.1 $ 10.41
$12.5¢-$14.06 4.3 3.7 $ 13.7¢
$18.0¢-$21.27 8.9 6.5 $ 20.6¢
$26.0-$37.13 3.6 8.1 $ 32.41
$40.4:-$61.48 4.0 9.2 $ 42.10
Total 23.7



In addition, the Company also sponsors the Moo@ggporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPRig. ESPP allows eligible
employees to purchase common stock of the Compamymonthly basis at 85% of its fair market valuaetre first trading day of the month.
The employee purchases are funded through aftgrageoll deductions, which plgrarticipants can elect at from one percent to tsognt o

compensation, subject to the federal limit.

Note 12 Income Taxes

Components of the Company’s income tax provisi@naar follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Current:
Federal $234.¢ $240.7 $199.7
State and loce 89.¢ 70.€ 63.€
Non-U.S 69.7 44.% 35.2
Total curreni 394.1 355.¢ 298.¢
Deferred:
Federal (15.0) (6.9 (3.9
State and loce (5.9 (2.3 (1.5
Non-U.S 0.2 (0.9 0.9
Total deferrec (20.2) (9.6) (6.7
Total provision for income taxe $373.¢ $346.2 $292.

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory tate to the Company'’s effective tax rate on incdr@®re provision for income taxes is as

follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
U.S. statutory tax ral 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State and local taxes, net of federal tax bei 5.¢ 5.8 6.2
U.S. taxes on foreign incon 0.3 0.3 0.3
Legacy tax item: 0.9) 4.3 3.C
Jobs Act repatriation bene (0.9 — —
Other (0.5) (0.9 0.1
Effective tax rate 40.(% 44 % 44 €%

Income taxes paid were $355.6 million, $300.1 willand $210.6 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respely.
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The components of deferred tax assets and liasilére as follows:

December 31,

2005 2004
Deferred tax asset
Current:
Accounts receivable allowanc $ 4.¢ $ 6.1
Accrued compensation and bene 4.¢ 4.9
Other 2.4 1.3
Total curren 12.1 12.F
Non-current:
Depreciation and amortizatic 8.3 8.1
Stocl-based compensatic 28.t 10.2
Benefit plans 16.€ 15.1
State taxe 2. 1.8
Accrued legacy and other liabilitir 5.4 3.2
Other 4.2 4.3
Total nor-current 65.¢ 42.€
Total deferred tax asse 78.C 55.1
Deferred tax liabilities
Current:
Prepaid expenst (1.8 (1.6)
Total curreni (1.9 (1.6)
Non-current:
Prepaid pension cos (23.¢) (25.9)
Amortization of intangible assets and capitalizefivgare (11.9) (9.7
Other 0.7 4.9
Total nor-current (35.§) (39.9
Total deferred tax liabilitie (37.6) (41.9
Net deferred tax ass $40.¢ $13.7

The current deferred tax assets, net of currertroed tax liabilities, as well as prepaid taxe$0 million for both December 31, 2005 and
2004 are included in other current assets in tmsaaated balance sheets. Non-current tax recleisati $2.6 million for both December 31,
2005 and 2004 are included in other assets. Theffestt of non-current deferred tax assets andawrent deferred tax liabilities is included
in other assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004h&grear ended December 31, 2005, a valuation afioeof $0.7 million was established
against capital loss carryovers. No valuation adloees were established against any other defessedsafor December 31, 2005 and 2004, as
management has determined, based on the Compastgsytof prior and current levels of operatingréags, that none should be provided.

At December 31, 2005, undistributed earnings ofddB. subsidiaries aggregated approximately $116omilt is assumed that earnings
from the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spaglyland Japan will be remitted to the U.S. on all@gbasis. As such incremental
deferred U.S. taxes related to anticipated distidiog have been provided in the consolidated firdstatements. For the year ended
December 31, 2005, Moody’s recognized a beneft306 million related to the repatriation of foreigarnings under the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004. Deferred tax liabilities havat been recognized for approximately $12.9 millad undistributed foreign earnings that
management intends to permanently reinvest outselé).S. If all such undistributed earnings wenaitied to the U.S., the amount of
incremental U.S. federal and foreign income taxasple, net of foreign tax credits, would be apprately $1.4 million.
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Note 13 Indebtedness

On September 30, 2005, the Company entered intot@ Rurchase Agreement and issued and sold thepghiate placement transaction,
$300 million aggregate principal amount of its 88r2005-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (“Notes”). Theeblbave a ten-year term and bear
interest at an annual rate of 4.98%, payable semitaly on March 30 and September 30. The procBedsthe sale of the Notes were used
to refinance $300 million aggregate principal antafrthe Company’s outstanding 7.61% Senior NotéédNotes”) which matured on
September 30, 2005. In the event that Moody’s pélyar part of the Notes in advance of their mayufihe “prepaid principal”), such
prepayment will be subject to a penalty calculdtased on the excess, if any, of the discountecevaithe remaining scheduled payments, as
defined in the agreement, over the prepaid pritcipgerest paid under the Notes and Old Notes$22s8 million for each of the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. Total intergetrese was $21.0 million, $23.0 million and $23.8iam, respectively for the years enc
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

On September 1, 2004, Moody'’s entered into a fiearysenior, unsecured bank revolving credit fac{tihe “Facility”) in an aggregate
principal amount of $160 million that expires inpBamber 2009. This Facility replaced the $80 millfive-year facility that was scheduled to
expire in September 2005 and the $80 million 364 fdaility that expired in September 2004. Intem@stborrowings under the Facility is
payable at rates that are based on the LondorBiatérOffered Rate plus a premium that can ranga ft@ basis points to 47.5 basis points
depending on the Company'’s ratio of total indebésdrto earnings before interest, taxes, depregiatid amortization (“Earnings Coverage
Ratio”), as defined in the related agreement. Atddeber 31, 2005, such premium was 17 basis pdihessCompany also pays quarterly
facility fees, regardless of borrowing activity wndhe Facility. The quarterly fees can range febasis points of the Facility amount to 15
basis points, depending on the Company’s Earnimy®age Ratio, and were 8 basis points at DeceBhe2005. Under the Facility, the
Company also pays a utilization fee of 12.5 basiatp on borrowings outstanding when the aggregateunt outstanding under the Facility
exceeds 50% of the Facility.

Interest paid under Moody’s previous revolving dréakilities for the year ended December 31, 20@3 $0.6 million. No interest was paid
under the Company'’s facilities for the years endedember 31, 2005 and 2004 as no borrowings westamaling during those years.

The Notes and the Facility (the “Agreements”) contavenants that, among other things, restrictbity of the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, without the approval of the lend&rgngage in mergers, consolidations, asset sed@sactions with affiliates and sale-
leaseback transactions or to incur liens, as defim¢he related agreements. The Facility alsoaiostfinancial covenants that, among other
things, require the Company to maintain an intereserage ratio, as defined in the agreement, pliess than 3 to 1 for any period of four
consecutive fiscal quarters, and an Earnings CgeeRatio, as defined in the agreement, of not riiae 4 to 1 at the end of any fiscal
quarter. At December 31, 2005, the Company wasmnptiance with such covenants. Upon the occurrefcertain financial or economic
events, significant corporate events or certaieio#vents constituting an event of default underAgreements, all loans outstanding under
the Agreements (including accrued interest and flegable thereunder) may be declared immediatedyashal payable and all commitments
under the Agreements may be terminated. In additiertain other events of default under the Agregmwould automatically result in
amounts outstanding becoming immediately due agdiga and all commitments being terminated.

Note 14 Capital Stock
Authorized Capital Stocl

The total number of shares of all classes of sthakthe Company has authority to issue underetstdRed Certificate of Incorporation is
1,020,000,000 shares with a par value of $0.0&yreéh 1,000,000,000 are shares of common stockROD)O00 are shares of preferred stock
and 10,000,000 are shares of series common stbekpieferred stock and series common stock cassbed with varying terms, as
determined by the Board of Directors.
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In February 2005, Moody’s Board of Directors degetha two-for-one stock split to be effected asexsp stock distribution of one share of
common stock for each share of the Compsiegmmon stock outstanding, subject to stockhageroval of a charter amendment to incre
the Company'’s authorized common shares from 40lomihares to 1 billion shares. At the Companyrs1dal Meeting on April 26, 2005,
Moody'’s stockholders approved the charter amendment.résudt, stockholders of record as of the closkusiness on May 4, 2005 recei\
one additional share of common stock for each sbfatiee Company’s common stock held on that dateh&dditional shares were
distributed on May 18, 2005. All prior period shared per share information has been restatedlactéhe Stock Split.

Rights Agreemen

The Company has a Rights Agreement designed teqirib$ shareholders in the event of unsolicitddrefto acquire the Company and
coercive takeover tactics that, in the opinionhaf Board of Directors, could impair its abilityrepresent shareholder interests. Under the
Rights Agreement, each share of common stock highthat trades with the stock until the rightbmes exercisable. Pursuant to the
provisions of the Rights Agreement, after givinfgef to the Stock Split, the number of rights assed with each share of common stock
shall be adjusted so that each share of commok siiichave associated with it one-half of a riggach right entitles the registered holder to
purchase 1/1000 of a share of Series A Juniordiaating Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per stwra price of $100 per 1/1000 of a share,
subject to adjustment. The rights will generally be exercisable until a person or group (“Acquriferson”) acquires beneficial ownership
of, or commences a tender offer or exchange dfferwould result in such person or group havingefieial ownership of, 15% or more of
the outstanding common stock at such time.

In the event that any person or group becomes guifing Person, each right will thereafter entitieholder (other than the Acquiring
Person) to receive, upon exercise and paymengsioéistock having a market value equal to two sithe exercise price in the form of the
Company’s common stock or, where appropriate, tbguiking Person’s common stock. The rights arecnotently exercisable, as no
shareholder is currently an Acquiring Person. Then@any may redeem the rights, which expire in RO@8, for $0.01 per right, under
certain circumstances, including for a Board-apptbacquirer either before the acquirer becomescaiuifing Person or during the window
period after the triggering event as specifiechim Rights Agreement.

Share Repurchase Prograi

On October 25, 2005, the Board of Directors autteatian additional $1 billion share repurchase @mogiThere is no established expiration
date for this authorization. During November 20@% Company completed its previous $600 milliongoaon, which had been authorized by
the Board of Directors in May 2004. During June £0Bie Company completed its previous $450 milpoogram, which had been authori:
by the Board of Directors in October 2002.

During 2005, Moody'’s repurchased 13.5 million skaatan aggregate cost of $691.7 million and is§ugdnillion shares of stock under
employee stock compensation plans. Since becomiudplic company in October 2000 and through Decer8the2005, Moody’s has
repurchased 66.4 million shares at a total co$tLd billion, including 32.1 million shares to aftsssuances under employee stock
compensation plans.

Dividends

During 2005, the Company paid a quarterly divideh80.0375 in the first quarter and $0.055 in eafctihe three subsequent quarters, per
share of Moody’s common stock, resulting in dividempaid per share of $0.2025 during the year. U204 and 2003, the Company paid
quarterly dividends of $0.0375 and $0.0225 pereshaspectively, of Moody’s common stock resultimgotal dividends paid per share of
$0.15 and $0.09, respectively.

On December 13, 2005, the Board of Directors ofGbenpany approved a quarterly dividend of $0.07sbare of Moody’s common stock,
payable on March 10, 2006 to shareholders of reabtide close of business on February 20, 2006 céhgnued payment of dividends at the
rate noted above, or at all, is subject to therdigan of the Board of Directors.
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Note 15 Lease Commitments

Moody’s operates its business from various leaaeilities, which are under operating leases thpirexover the next nine years. Moody’s
also leases certain computer and other equipmelarwperating leases that expire over the nextyears. Rent expense under operating
leases for the years ended December 31, 2005,&@02003 was $21.5 million, $15.1 million and $138ion, respectively.

The approximate minimum rent for leases that haweaining or original noncancelable lease termxaess of one year at December 31,
2005 is as follows:

Operating
Year Ending December 31, Leases
2006 $ 16.7
2007 12.¢
2008 11.2
2009 8.€
2010 3.9
Thereatftel 10.7
Total minimum lease paymer $ 63.¢

Note 16 Contingencies

From time to time, Moody’s is involved in legal atak proceedings, claims and litigation that adantal to the Company’s business,
including claims based on ratings assigned by Mdyoody'’s is also subject to ongoing tax auditslie normal course of business.
Management periodically assesses the Companyifitisand contingencies in connection with thessters based upon the latest
information available. Moody’s discloses materiahding legal proceedings, other than routine littgaincidental to Moody'’s business,
material proceedings known to be contemplated wegonental authorities, and other pending matteasit may determine to be
appropriate. For those matters where it is botlbaiote that a liability has been incurred and thewm of loss can be reasonably estimated,
the Company has recorded reserves in the consatidizmiancial statements and periodically adjustsétreserves as appropriate. In other
instances, because of the uncertainties relatbdttothe probable outcome and/or the amount orerafgpss, management does not record a
liability but discloses the contingency if signdiat. As additional information becomes availatiie, Company adjusts its assessments and
estimates of such liabilities accordingly.

Based on its review of the latest information aafalié, in the opinion of management, the ultimatbility of the Company in connection with
pending legal and tax proceedings, claims andhlitign will not have a material adverse effect onolligs financial position, results of
operations or cash flows, subject to the contingendescribed below.

Legacy Contingencie

Moody’s has exposure to certain potential lial@hitassumed in connection with the 2000 Distribufidrese contingencies are referred to by
Moody'’s as “Legacy Contingencies”.

Information Resources, Inc

An antitrust lawsuit was filed in 1996 by Informati Resources, Inc. (“IRI”). VNU N.V., a publiclyatled Dutch company, and its U.S.
subsidiaries, VNU, Inc., ACNielsen Corporation, Alizlsen (US), Inc., and Nielsen Media Research, fidMR") (collectively, the “VNU
Parties”), had assumed exclusive joint and sevViatzility for any judgment or settlement of thistirust lawsuit under the terms of the

July 30, 2004 Amended Indemnity and Joint DefengeeAment. As a result of the indemnity obligatisloody’s did not have any exposure
to a judgment or settlement of this lawsuit unkbesVNU Parties defaulted on their obligations. lwer, in the event of such a default,
contractual commitments undertaken by Moody’s in
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connection with various corporate reorganizatianses1996 would have required the Company to bgartion of any amount not paid by
the VNU Parties.

On February 16, 2006, the parties to this actignes a settlement agreement, pursuant to whicadtien will be dismissed with prejudice
and releases from liability will be exchanged amtirgparties. Such releases will also include the@any, although not a defendant in the
litigation, as a releasee. Any amounts payablagmtaintiffs in connection with the settlementlvié paid by the VNU Parties, and the
Company will not be required to contribute any amteuo the settlement payment. The dismissal ofabwsuit is subject to court approval
and the releases are being held in escrow penduigapproval.

Legacy Tax Matter:

Old D&B and its predecessors entered into globaptanning initiatives in the normal course of mess, including through tax-free
restructurings of both their foreign and domesperations. These initiatives are subject to nomaealkew by tax authorities.

Pursuant to a series of agreements, as betwees¢hars, IMS Health and NMR are jointly and sevgrhdible to pay one-half, and New
D&B and Moodys are jointly and severally liable to pay the othalf, of any payments for taxes, penalties andusctinterest resulting fro
unfavorable Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) rufiran certain tax matters as described in such agrets (excluding the matter described
below as “Amortization Expense Deductions” for whidew D&B and Moody'’s are solely responsible) ardain other potential tax
liabilities, also as described in such agreemexftsr New D&B and/or Moody'’s pays the first $137llmn, which amount was paid in
connection with the matter described below as fkéttion of Capital Losses”.

In connection with the 2000 Distribution and pursiut® the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreemé&tgw D&B and Moodys have, betwet
themselves, agreed to each be financially resplentib50% of any potential liabilities that mays#rto the extent such potential liabilities
not directly attributable to their respective besis operations.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoindyrée specific tax matters are discussed below.
Royalty Expense Deductio

During the second quarter of 2003, New D&B receigadExamination Report from the IRS with resped fmartnership transaction entered
into in 1993. In this Examination Report, the IR&ad its intention to disallow certain royalty exge deductions claimed by Old D&B on its
tax returns for the years 1993 through 1996 (theydRy Report”). In the first quarter of 2004, N&&B received a similar Examination
Report (the “Second Royalty Report”) relating te flrst quarter of 1997.

During the second quarter of 2003, New D&B alseieed an Examination Report that had been issugHéiRS to the partnership, stating
the IRS’ intention to ignore the partnership stauetthat had been established in 1993 in conneutitinthe above transaction, and to
reallocate to Old D&B income and expense items tilaat been reported in the partnership tax returi 966 (the “Reallocation Report”).
New D&B also received a similar Examination Refthie “Second Reallocation Report”) issued to the pastmigrwith respect to the first
quarter of 1997.

In June 2004, New D&B and the IRS conducted a ntiediaf these issues, at which they reached a farssettlement with regard to the
Royalty Report for 1995 and 1996, the ReallocaReport, and certain tax refund claims made by G8d@Delated to 1995 and 1996. The
IRS reasserted its position that certain tax reftlatns made by Old D&B related to 1993 and 1994 bmaoffset by tax liabilities relating to
the above mentioned partnership formed in 1993.sEtlement was withdrawn by the IRS in Novembd2®s a result of these events, the
Company increased its reserves for this matter3@yrfillion in 2004.
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In 2005 New D&B, Moody's, IMS Health and NMR exeedta closing agreement with the IRS reflecting seamginally agreed to in June
2004.

After executing the closing agreement, IMS Heattd AIMR disagreed with New D&B’s calculation of egudrty’s share of the tax liability
set forth in the agreement. As a result, New D&B ®oody’s each increased its share of the asse$sdmeY.3 million to $35.5 million and
Moody’s paid approximately $34 million of this anmiun October of 2005. These events resulted iataeduction of tax expense of $11.5
million. New D&B anticipates commencing arbitratiproceedings against IMS Health and NMR to colleetincremental amounts New
D&B and Moody’s were obligated to pay to the IRStbeir behalf. Based upon the current understandiriige positions which New D&B
and IMS Health may take, the Company believeslik@y that New D&B should prevail, but Moody’s maot predict with certainty the
outcome.

In addition, the Second Royalty Report and the 8edeeallocation Report, which were not part of¢lesing agreement with the IRS, have
not been resolved. Moody’s estimates that its sbftiee potential required payment to the IRS Figs matter is $0.1 million (including
penalties and interest, and net of tax benefitsihé fourth quarter of 2005, New D&B filed a prettavith the IRS Appeals Office concerning
the IRS’ denial of certain tax refunds owing Old B&r 1993 and 1994.

Moody'’s estimates that its remaining share of thieptial liability for the Royalty Expense Deductsomatter could be up to $16 million after
payment pursuant to the closing agreement whiabstako consideration: (1) the state income tebillig connected with the terms of the
federal closing agreement and (2) the potentialeaaff of receivables (for which the Company’s espi® could be up to $9 million as
discussed above).

Amortization Expense Deductio

In April 2004, New D&B received Examination Repoftise “April Examination Reports”) from the IRS Wwitespect to a partnership
transaction. This transaction was entered int®®i7land has resulted in amortization expense diethsobn the tax returns of Old D&B since
1997. These deductions could continue through 2mithe April Examination Reports, the IRS statsdntention to disallow the
amortization expense deductions related to thisipeship that were claimed by Old D&B on its 199id 4998 tax returns. New D&B
disagrees with the position taken by the IRS amdeither: (1) accept and pay the IRS assessm@grithélenge the assessment in U.S. Tax
Court; or (3) challenge the assessment in U.SribisEourt or the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, vehim either case payment of the disputed
amount would be required in connection with suchlleinge. IRS audits of Old D&B’s or New D&B’s tagturns for years subsequent to
1998 have resulted in the issuance of similar Eration Reports for the 1999 through 2002 tax yedescribed below, in which case New
D&B has the aforementioned three courses of ac8amilar Examination Reports could result for taays subsequent to 2002.

Should any such payments be made by New D&B relateither the April Examination Reports or anygudial Examination Reports for
future years, including years subsequent to tharsgipn of Moody’s from New D&B, then pursuant bkeetterms of the 2000 Distribution
Agreement, Moody’s would have to pay to New D&B5&% share. In addition, should New D&B discontimleming the amortization
deductions on future tax returns, Moody’s woulddguired to repay to New D&B an amount equal todiseounted value of its 50% share
of the related future tax benefits. New D&B haddpdhie discounted value of 50% of the future taxafiesmfrom this transaction in cash to
Moody'’s at the Distribution Date. Moody’s estimatkat the Company’s current potential exposureabel up to $101 million (including
penalties and interest, and net of tax benefits)s €posure could increase by approximately $8anito $6 million per year, depending on
actions that the IRS may take and on whether NevB [B&ntinues claiming the amortization deductionsterax returns.

In the April Examination Reports, the IRS alsoethits intention to disallow certain royalty expemeductions claimed by Old D&B on its
1997 and 1998 tax returns with respect to the pastrip transaction. In addition, the IRS statedhitsntion to disregard the partnership

structure and to reallocate to Old D&B certain parship income and expense items that had beentedpo the partnership tax returns for
1997 and 1998. New D&B disagrees with the positiaken by the IRS and can take any of the threeseswf action described in the first
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paragraph of this “Amortization Expense Deductiossttion. IRS audits of Old D&B'’s or New D&B'’s tagturns for years subsequent to
1998 have resulted in the issuance of similar Eration Reports for the 1999 through 2002 tax ydasxribed below. Similar Examination
Reports could result for years subsequent to 28B8uld any such payments be made by New D&B rekateither the April Examination
Reports or any potential Examination Reports fourfel years, then pursuant to the terms of the Z08Dibution Agreement, Moody’s would
have to pay to New D&B its 50% share of New D&Bayments to the IRS for the period from 1997 throtighDistribution Date. Moody’s
estimates that its share of the potential expoutiee IRS for the potential disallowance of royakpense deductions could be up to $135
million (including penalties and interest, and aktax benefits). Moody'’s also could be obligatedfuture interest payments on its share of
such liability.

New D&B had filed protests with the IRS Appeals i®éfregarding the April Examination Reports. In ®epber 2004, the IRS Appe:
Office remanded the case to the IRS examinatidneofbr further development of the issues. New Di8d® reopened discussion of the issues
with the examination office.

On May 6, 2005, New D&B received a Notice of Pragmbadjustment (“Notice”) from the IRS for the 192002 tax years which

(1) disallows amortization expense deductions atiet from the partnership to Old D&B on its 1999 &000 tax returns and to New D&B
on its 2000, 2001 and 2002 tax returns and (2)Idiga certain royalty expense deductions claime®by D&B on its 1999 and 2000 tax
returns and by New D&B on its 2000, 2001 and 2@06returns. On August 4, 2005, New D&B receivedEaamination Report (theAugust
Examination Report”) from the IRS disallowing cémteoyalty expense deductions claimed by Old D&Bitsr1999 and 2000 tax returns and
by New D&B on its 2000, 2001 and 2002 tax returmissistent with the Notice and in addition assesaihgenty percent penalty. New D&B
has filed a protest with the IRS Appeals Officeaneling the August Examination Report. Currently, @ompany does not expect that the
Notice or theExamination Report will have a material impact ba legacy tax reserves and the potential futuraysitelated to legacy tax
matters that are discussed below in “Summary of dytExposure to Three Legacy Tax Matters”.

Moody'’s believes that the IRS’ proposed assessnuérigsx against Old D&B and the proposed reallaratiof partnership income and
expense to Old D&B are inconsistent with each otAecordingly, while it is possible that the IRSubd ultimately prevail in whole or in part
on one of such positions, Moody’s believes thi itnlikely that the IRS will prevail on both.

Utilization of Capital Losses

In July 2004, New D&B and the IRS reached a bamiséttlement of all outstanding issues relatethiéomatter concerning utilization of
certain capital losses generated by Old D&B dudi§9 and 1990. In December 2004, New D&B executidral settlement agreement.
New D&B received two assessments on this mattanduhe first quarter of 2005, and is awaiting iptef the third and final assessme
Moody'’s paid its allocated share of the first tves@ssments consisting of cash payments of $12li8m($8.1 million net of expected tax
benefits) and the utilization of a tax receivabl@pproximately $9 million. Moody’s remaining lidity at December 31, 2005 was
approximately $0.3 million. The amounts paid by Mgs included its share of approximately $4 millidrat Moodys and New D&B believ
should have been paid by IMS Health and NMR, buewmt paid by them due to their disagreement wattious aspects of New D&B’s
calculation of their respective shares of the paysdf New D&B fails to resolve this dispute witklS Health and NMR, Moody’s
understands that New D&B anticipates commencingratimn proceedings against them. Moody’s beliettet New D&B should prevail in
its position, but the Company cannot predict wihtainty the outcome. In the first quarter of 200®o0dy’s had increased its reserves by .
million due to this disagreement.

Summary of Moody’s Exposure to Three Legacy Taxekat

The Company considers from time to time the rangkpobability of potential outcomes related to tiwee legacy tax matters discussed
above and establishes reserves that it believespprepriate in light of the relevant facts anadginstances. In doing so, Moody’s makes
estimates and judgments as to future events arditom s and evaluates its estimates and judgmengnamngoing basis.
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For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Compamoyded an $8.8 million net reversal of reservestoth $2.7 million related to an
increase for the Utilization of Capital Losses ratind $11.5 million related to the reversal fa Royalty Expense Deductions described
above. The Company has recorded $5.8 million @fresdt expense related to its legacy tax reservesdiyls total net legacy tax reserves w
$97 million (consisting of $106 million of tax lidities, partially offset by the expected utilizai of $9 million of tax receivables). The $97
million of expected cash payments consists of #8aniof current liabilities (reflecting the estireal cash payments related to the Royalty
Expense Deductions and Utilization of Capital Lessetters that are expected to be made over thewelve months) and $89 million of
non-current liabilities.

It is possible that the legacy tax matters coulddselved in amounts that are greater than the atagaserved by the Company, which could
result in additional charges that may be mateoidlbody’s future reported results, financial pasiteand cash flows. Although Moody’s does
not believe it is likely that the Company will ultately be required to pay the full amounts pregdmging sought by the IRS, potential future
outlays resulting from these matters could be asimas $252 million and could increase with timelescribed above. In matters where
Moody'’s believes the IRS has taken inconsistenitipos, Moody’s may be obligated initially to payg share of related duplicative
assessments. However, Moody'’s believes that uléilpdtis unlikely that the IRS would retain suchpdicative payments.

Note 17 Segment Information

Moody’s operates in two reportable segments: Mosdiyestors Service and Moody’s KMV. The Comparporés segment information in
accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures abognh&mts of an Enterprise and Related InformatioRFAS No. 131 defines operating
segments as components of an enterprise for whigdrate financial information is available thagvsluated regularly by the chief operating
decision-maker in deciding how to allocate resosidead in assessing performance.

Moody'’s Investors Service consists of four ratimgups — structured finance, corporate finance o institutions and sovereign risk, and
public finance — that generate revenue principbyn the assignment of credit ratings on issuetsissues of fixed-income obligations in
the debt markets, and research, which primarilyegees revenue from the sale of investor-orienteditresearch, principally produced by
the rating groups. Given the dominance of Moodwgigektors Service to Moody's overall results, thenpany does not separately measure or
report corporate expenses, nor are such experseatatl between the Company’s business segmentsrdingly, all corporate expenses are
included in operating income of the Moody's Invest8ervice segment and none have been allocathd tdoody’s KMV segment.

The Moody’s KMV business develops and distributeardgitative credit risk assessment products andcger and credit processing software
for banks, corporations and investors in creditsgame assets. Assets used solely by Moody’s KM¥ separately disclosed within that
segment. All other Company assets, including cafgoassets, are reported as part of Moody’s InkeS§ervice. Revenue by geographic area
is generally based on the location of the custoinégr-segment sales are insignificant and no singstomer accounted for 10% or more of
total revenue.
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Below is financial information by segment, Moodyfwestors Service revenue by business unit andotidased revenue and long-lived asset
information by geographic area, for the years eratatlas of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. Geatir year amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current presentation

Financial Information by Segment

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Moody’s
Investors Moody’s
Service KMV Consolidatec
Revenue $1,598.¢ $132.7 $ 1,731.¢
Operating expenst 645.¢ 1114 756.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 18.€ 16.€ 35.2
Operating incom: 934.¢ 4.7 939.¢
Non-operating expense, n (4.9
Income before provision for income ta 934.7
Provision for income taxe 373.¢
Net income $ 560.¢
Total assets at December $1,204.t $252.% $ 1,457..
Year Ended December 31, 2004 Year Ended December 31, 2003
Moody’s Moody’s
Investors Moody’s Investors Moody’s
Service KMV Consolidatec Service KMV Consolidatec
Revenue $1,317.f $120.& $ 1,438. $1,140.. $106.« $ 1,246.¢
Operating expenst 518.( 99.¢ 617.¢ 466.2 84.7 550.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 17.2 16.¢ 34.1 15.¢ 16.7 32.€
Operating incom: 782.2 4.2 786.4 658.1 5.C 663.1
Non-operating expense, n (15.9) (6.7
Income before provision for income tay 771.2 656.4
Provision for income taxe 346.2 292.F
Net income $ 425.] $ 363.¢
Total assets at December $1,123.f $265.& $ 1,389. $ 6915 $268.4 $ 959.(
Moody'’s Investors Service Revenue by Business Unit
Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Ratings revenue
Structured financ $ 715. $ 553.1 $ 4747
Corporate financ 321.¢ 299.¢ 266.7
Financial institutions and sovereign ri 254.¢ 208.¢ 181.2
Public finance 91.¢ 82.2 87.2
Total ratings revenu 1,383.¢ 1,143.¢ 1,009.¢
Research revent 215.% 173.7 130.4
Total Moody's Investors Servic $1,598.¢ $1,317.¢ $1,140.:
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Revenue and Long-lived Asset Information by Geoli@aprea

2005 2004 2003
Revenue
United State: $ 1,085. $ 911.Z $ 795.:
International 646.2 527.1 451.:
Total $1,731.¢ $1,438.: $1,246.¢
Long-lived assets
United State: $ 267.2 $ 245.: $ 255.¢
International 18.€ 18.7 14.7
Total $ 286.2 $ 263.¢ $ 270.€

Note 18 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Accounts receivable allowances primarily represeliistments to customer billings that are estimateen the related revenue is recognized.
During 2003, the Company reduced its provisiongated in the fourth quarter of 2003, the Companpnaed adjustments to the allowances
totaling $6.0 million, of which approximately $3llion related to 2002 and $3.0 million relatedpigor quarters of 2003. In 2005 and 2004,
the Company further reduced its provision ratesalmivance to reflect its current estimate of tpprapriate level of accounts receivable
allowances. Below is a summary of activity for eatlthe three years ended December 31, 2005:

Balance at Additions Write-offs Balance

Beginning Charged ta and at End of

of the Year Revenue Adjustments the Year
2005 (14.6) (24.4) 26.% (12.9)
2004 (15.9) (18.1) 19.£ (14.6)
2003 (16.4) (16.4) 16.¢ (15.9)

Note 19 Related Party Transactions

Moody’s Corporation made grants of $6.0 million,Gwhillion and $6.0 million to The Moody’s Foundatii (the “Foundation”)n 2005, 200
and 2003, respectively. The Foundation carriegpbii&nthropic activities on behalf of Moody’s Corption primarily in the areas of
education and health and human services. Certamnbmes of senior management of MoaglCorporation are on the Board of Directors of
Foundation.

Note 20 Insurance Recovery

In February 2003, Moody'’s received a $15.9 millinsurance recovery related to the September 1ag¢fedy, for incremental costs incurred
and for lost profits due to the sharp decline ibtdearket activity in the weeks following the disas Moody’s had previously received a $4.0
million advance payment in 2002, resulting in @toécovery of $19.9 million. Moody’s had incurredremental costs of $6.3 million for
property damage and temporary office facilities) had fully accrued for the recovery of these costts financial statements. The remainder
of the insurance recovery, $13.6 million, had netvpusly been accrued as its realizability wassusficiently assured. As a result, in the 1
quarter of 2003 Moody'’s recorded a gain of $13.Bioni, included in other non-operating (expens&pime, net in the consolidated
statements of operations.
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Note 21 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3( December 3.
2005
Revenue $ 390.t $446.¢ $ 4211 $ 473
Operating incomi 212.F 252.¢ 231.¢ 242
Net income 118.7 145.¢ 146.€ 150.1
Basic earnings per she $ 0.4C $ 0.4¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.51
Diluted earnings per sha $ 0.3¢ $ 0.47 $ 0.4¢ $ 0.5C
2004
Revenue $ 331.2 $357.€ $ 357.¢ $ 391.¢
Operating incom: 182.¢ 199.t 197.¢ 206.2
Net income 103.t 103.t 95.t 122.€
Basic earnings per she $ 0.3t $ 0.3t $ 0.32 $ 0.41
Diluted earnings per sha $ 0.34 $ 0.34 $ 0.32 $ 0.4C

Basic and diluted earnings per share are compuotesbich of the periods presented. The number afied average shares outstanding
changes as common shares are issued pursuant kmyemptock plans and for other purposes or agslae repurchased. Therefore, the
of basic and diluted earnings per share for eatheofour quarters may not equal the full year dasid diluted earnings per share.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurdés Tompany carried out an evaluation, as requiyeRle 13a-15(b) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchang®,Astder the supervision and with the participataf the Company’s management,
including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer a@ief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness bétdesign and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures #seoénd of the period covered by this report (tBedluation Date”). Based on such
evaluation, such officers have concluded thatfakeoEvaluation Date, the Company’s disclosuretrads and procedures are effective in
alerting them on a timely basis to material infotimrarelating to the Company (including its condatied subsidiaries) required to be inclu

in the Company'’s periodic filings under the Exchargt.

In addition, the Company’s management, includirg@ompany’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief FiciahOfficer, has determined that
there were no changes in the Company'’s internarabover financial reporting that have materiafjected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, these internal controls oveafigial reporting during the period covered by thjsort.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART 1lI

Except for the information relating to the execatofficers of the Company set forth in Part | aétannual report on Form 10-K, the
information called for by Items 10-13 is containedhe Company’s definitive proxy statement for useonnection with its annual meeting
of stockholders scheduled to be held on April ZB)& and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The Audit Committee has established a policy sgtiimth the requirements for the pre-approval afiband permissible non-audit services to
be provided by the Company’s independent registpuddic accounting firm. Under the policy, the Au@ommittee pre-approves the annual
audit engagement terms and fees, as well as ary atflit services and specified categories of nalitaervices, subject to certain pre-
approved fee levels. In addition, pursuant to thicp, the Audit Committee has authorized its cliaipreapprove other audit and permissi
non-audit services up to $50,000 per engagemena anaximum of $250,000 per year. The policy requihat the Audit Committee chair
report any pre-approval decisions to the full Al@iitmmittee at its next scheduled meeting. For tex ynded December 31, 2005, the Audit
Committee approved all of the services providedngyCompany's independent registered public acaogifirm, which are described below.

Audit Fees

The aggregate fees for professional services redder the integrated audit of the Company’s anfinahcial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, for the review of itential statements included in the Company’s Rispam Forms 10-Q and 8-K, and for
statutory audits of non-U.S. subsidiaries were axprately $2.0 million (including $0.4 million ndflled) in 2005 and $2.3 million

(including $0.4 million not billed) in 2004. All sh fees were attributable to PricewaterhouseCodpePs

Audit-Related Fees

The aggregate fees billed for audit-related sesvieadered to the Company by PricewaterhouseCobtpé&ror the years ended

December 31, 2005 and 2004 were approximately $@libn and $0.7 million (including $0.1 million nidvilled), respectively. Such services
included acquisition due diligence reviews, empeobenefit plan audits, internal control reviews] apnsultations concerning financial
accounting and reporting standards.

Tax Fees

The aggregate fees billed for tax services rendgrd¢ide Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPh®ears ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 were approximately $3,000 and $15,00Perdively. Tax services rendered by Pricewatern@useers LLP principally related to
expatriate tax services and tax consulting and diamge.

All Other Fees

The aggregate fees billed for all other servicesleeed to the Company by PricewaterhouseCooperddd fhe years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004 were approximately $9,000 (includ&a@00 not billed) and $5,000, respectively. Ofiees principally relate to accounting
research software.

77



PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
List of documents filed as part of this report.

(1) Financial Statement

See Index to Financial Statements, Item 8 of tbisrF10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedul

None.

(3) Exhibits.

See Index to Exhibits on pages 80-83 of this FODAK1
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly caused this report to

be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmly authorized.

Date: March 1, 2006

MOODY’S CORPORATION
(Registrant’

By: /sl RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.
Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on

behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities@nthe date indicated.

/sl RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., Chairman of the
Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer’

/sl JOSEPH MCCABE

Joseph McCabe, Senior Vice President and Corporate
Controller (principal accounting office

/s/ BASIL L. ANDERSON
Basil L. Anderson, Directc

/s ROBERT R. GLAUBEF
Robert R. Glauber, Directt

/sl EWALD KIST
Ewald Kist, Directol

/s/ CONNIE MACK
Connie Mack, Directo

Date: March 1, 2006
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/sl HENRY A. MCKINNELL, JR.

Henry A. McKinnell, Jr. Ph.D., Directc

/s NANCY S. NEWCOME

Nancy S. Newcomb, Directt

/s/ JOHN K. WULFF

John K. Wulff, Directol
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S-K
EXHIBIT

NUMBER

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND B-LAWS

A

Restated Certificate of Incorporation af Registrant dated June 15, 1998, as amendediedfdane 30, 1998, as
amended effective October 1, 2000, and as furtmemaled effective April 26, 2005 (incorporated bfgrence to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Regist, file number 1-14037, filed October 4, 2008 &xhibit 3.1 to
the Report on Form-K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed April 27, 2005

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Reggis{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 & Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form 10, file numt-14037, filed June 18, 199¢

INSTRUMENTS DEFINING THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERSNCLUDING INDENTURES

A

Specimen Common Stock certificate (incoapext by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report om#8-K of the
Registrant, file number-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Amended and Restated Rights Agreement legtwhee Registrant and EquiServe Trust Company,,MARights Agent,
dated as of September 27, 2000 (incorporated leyeefe to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8-Khef Registrant,
file number 1-14037, filed September 29, 2000aragnded by Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreemenng the
Registrant, EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., as Ridtgent, and The Bank of New York, as successontRiggent,
dated as of October 22, 2001 (incorporated by eefsr to Exhibit 4.2 to the Report on Form 10-Khef Registrant, file
number -14037, filed March 22, 2002

Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated as oft@aper 11, 2000, among the Registrant, certainidiabies of the
Registrant, the lenders party thereto, The Chasehisttan Bank, as administrative agent, Citibani.Nas syndication
agent, and The Bank of New York, as documentatg@nt(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 Report on
Form &K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Amended and Restated Credit Agreementddetef September 10, 2001, between Moody’s Cotiporand certain
subsidiaries of the Registrant, the lenders pasyeto, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as administrageeat, Citibank,
N.A., as syndication agent, and The Bank of Newkyas documentation agent (incorporated by referém&xhibit

10.1 to the Report on Form -Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 14, 200:

Amended and Restated 364-Day Credit Agre¢ndated as of September 8, 2003, between Modzly’poration and
certain subsidiaries of the Registrant, the lengarsy thereto, JP Morgan Chase Bank, as admitiistragent, Citibank
N.A., as syndication agent, and The Bank of Newkyas documentation agent (incorporated by referém&xhibit
10.3 to the Report on Form -Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 12, 200:

Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of &aper 1, 2004, among Moody’s Corporation, the Beimg Subsidiaries
Party Hereto, the Lenders Party Hereto, JP Mordaas€ Bank, as Administrative Agent, Citibank, Nas,Syndication
Agent, and The Bank of New York, as Documentatige®t (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1he Report on
Form &K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed September 8, 200

Note Purchase Agreement, dated Septembh@088, by and among MoodyCorporation and the Note Purchasers [
thereto, including the form of the 4.98% Series32Q0enior Unsecured Note due 2015 (incorporategtfgyence to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Forn-K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed October 5, 200~
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS

A

4t

6t

Tt

8t

9t

10t

A1t

A2t

A3t

14

Distribution Agreement, dated as of September B0p2between the Registrant and The Dun & Brads@egporation
(f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated tference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 8fkhe
Registrant, file number-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of SeptembelB00, between the Registrant and The Dun & Bradstr
Corporation (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (inporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the ReparForm 8-K of
the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of SepteBhe2000, between the Registrant and The Dun & ®radt
Corporation (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (inporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the ReparForm 8-K of
the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Supplemental Executive Benefit Plan of Moody’s Qugtion, dated as of September 30, 2000 (incorpdriay
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Report on Forr-K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed March 22, 2002

Intellectual Property Assignments, dated as of &aper 1, 2000, between the Registrant and The DBrafistreet
Corporation (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (inporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the ReparForm 8-K of
the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Pension Benefit Equalization Plan of Moody’s Cogimm (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q, file number -14037, filed November 14, 200(

Profit Participation Benefit Equalization Plan obbtly’s Corporation (incorporated by reference thibit 10.11 to
Registrar’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, file number -14037, filed November 14, 200(

The Moody’s Corporation Nonfunded Deferred Comp#&asalan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporatsd
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Registrant’'s Quayt&éport on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037, fileovdmber 14,
2000).

1998 Moody’s Corporation Replacement Plan for Gef&on-Employee Directors Holding Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation Equity-Based Awards (incorporated Hgnence to Exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly RepmrtForm 10-Q,
file number - 14037, filed November 14, 200(

1998 Moody’s Corporation Replacement Plan for Gerfanployees Holding Dun & Bradstreet Corporatiaquby-
Based Awards (incorporated by reference to ExHibil4 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 1,G#® number 1-
14037, filed November 14, 200(

1998 Moody’s Corporation Non-Employee Directd8sock Incentive Plan (as amended on April 23, 2@Biorporatec
by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Report on F&f-K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed March 22, 2002

1998 Moody’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock InbenPlan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit180to
Registrar’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, file number -14037, filed November 14, 200(

Moody’s Corporation Career Transition Plan (incogted by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to RegistraAtisiual Report
on Form 1-K, file number -14037, filed March 15, 2001

Distribution Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1888yeen R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The BuBradstreet
Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New BuBradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by refeeio Exhibit
10.1 to Registra’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed August 14, 1998
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151 2001 Moodys Corporation Key Employees Stock Incentive Plandiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to thpdRk

.16

A7

.18

19

.20

21

22

.23

24

.25

on Form 1-K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed March 22, 2002

Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of Jubel®98, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.Klae Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New BuBradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by refeein Exhibit
10.2 to Registra’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed August 14, 1998

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of 30y 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporationdf.Khe Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.ktee New Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporabgdeference to
Exhibit 10.3 to Registra’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed August 14, 1998

Distribution Agreement, dated as of Octd&r1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.Klae Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsemgoration (incorporated by reference to Exhibigd@o the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnelley Comgtton (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) floe year
ended December 31, 1996, file numb-7155, filed March 27, 1997

Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of Octd@® 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.Kae Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation A@dNielsen Corporation (incorporated by referenc&xaibit 10(y)
to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnel@grporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corparajifor the
year ended December 31, 1996, file numt-7155, filed March 27, 1997

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as obl@nt28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporatidndf.The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation A@dNielsen Corporation (incorporated by referenc&xaibit 10(z)
to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnel@grporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corparajifor the
year ended December 31, 1996, file numt-7155, filed March 27, 1997

Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement, dagedf October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Gatpan (f.k.a. The
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporatmd ACNielsen Corporation (incorporated by raifeesto Exhibi
10(aa) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.Hnbelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreetr@wation) for
the year ended December 31, 1996, file num-7155, filed March 27, 1997

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Stock Rwselgreement, dated as of February 10, 2002, dhasrong Moody's
Corporation, XYZ Acquisition LLC, KMV LLC, KMV Corpration and the principal members of KMV LLC ane th
shareholders of KMV Corporation identified ther@imcorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the®&€on Form 8-K
of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed February 22, 200:

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of Oc®)®800, among the Registrant and the purchasengad therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 toReport on Form 10-K of the Registrant, file number4037, filed
March 21, 2003)

Form of 7.61% Senior Notes due 2005 (incateal by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the ReporForm 10-K of the
Registrant, file number-14037, filed March 21, 2003

Amended and Restated Indemnity and Joinemsef Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2004, amorid, W\V., VNU,
Inc., ACNielsen Corporation, AC Nielsen (US), Indiglsen Media Research, Inc. (formerly, CogniZaatporation),
R.H. Donnelley Corporation (formerly, The Dun & Beireet Corporation), The Dun & Bradstreet Corporat
Moody’s Corporation and IMS Health Incorporatecc@rporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Repo Form 10-
Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed August 9, 2004
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Amended and Restated 2001 Moody’s Corporation KmeplByees’ Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated byrefice to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200«

.27t Form of Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option and tReted Stock Grant Agreement for the Amended asdt&ed
2001 Moody’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock IndenPlan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit2li@. the
Report on Form 1-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200«
.28t Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Gragreement for the 1998 Moody’s Corporation Nonoyee
Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan (as amended on 1&8j 2001) (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit3lto the Report
on Form 1-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200¢
.29t 2004 Moody’s Corporation Covered Employee Cashritice Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibi#lid the
Report on Form 1-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200«
30T Description of Bonus Terms under the 2004 Moodyosporation Covered Employee Cash Incentive Placojporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Report on FA6-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200
21* SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT List of Active Sulosaries as of January 31, 20t
23* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Indepg¢iigistered Public Accounting Firi
31 CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
.1*  ChiefExecutive Officer Certification Pursuant toc8en 302 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
.2*  ChiefFinancial Officer Certification Pursuant tocBen 302 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
32 CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
.1*  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb@ndsy Act of 2002
(The Company has furnished this certification aadsdnot intend for it to be considered filed urtther Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or incorporated by referent¢e future filings under the Securities Act of 1383he Securities
Exchange Act of 1934
.2*  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb@ndsy Act of 2002

* Filed herewitr

(The Company has furnished this certification aodsdnot intend for it to be considered filed uritier Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or incorporated by referente future filings under the Securities Act of 1983he Securities
Exchange Act of 1934

T Management contract or compensatory plan or arraagt
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LIST OF ACTIVE SUBSIDIARIES AS OF JANUARY 31, 2006

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Company Name

EXHIBIT 21

Jurisdiction of Creation

Moody's Latin America Calificadora de Riesgo S

Moody's Investors Service Pty. Lt
Economy.com Pty. Inc

Moody' s America Latina Ltde
Moody's Central Europe (BVI) Ltc
Moody's Latin America Holding Cory
Moody's Investors Service (BVI) Lt
Moody's Israel Holdings, Inc
Moody's Canada, Inc

Economy.com (Canada) In

Moody's Investors Service (Beijing) Lt
Moody's Interbank Credit Service Lt
Moody's Central Europe Ltc

MIS Quality Management Cor
Moody's Assureco, Inc

Moody's Investors Service, In
Moody's Holdings, Inc

Moody' s KMV Company

Moody's Overseas Holdings, In
Moody's Economy.con

Moody's Investors Service Lt
Moody's Holdings UK Ltd.

Moody's KMV Ltd.

Syndicate Underwriting Research L
Economy.com (U.K.) Ltd

Moody's France S.A.!

Moody's Deutschland Gmb

Argentina

Australia

Australia

Brazil

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Canade

Canade

China

Cyprus

Czech Republi
Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

England

England

England

England

England

France

Germany



Moody's Asia Pacific Ltd

Moody's China Financial Information Service, L

Moody' s KMV Hong Kong Limited
Moody's Investment Company India Pvt. L
Moody's Risk Management Services, L
Moody's Italia S.r.l.

KMV Asia

Moody's Japan Kabushiki Kais}

Korea Investors Service, In

KIS Pricing, Inc.

Moody's Investors Service (Korea) Ir
Moody's Mauritius Holdings Ltd
Administracon de Calificadoras, S.A. de C.
Moody's de Mexico S.A. de C.\

Moody's Holdings BV

Moody's Assurance Company, Ir

Moody's Eastern Europe LL

Moody's Interfax Rating Agenc

Moody' s KMV Singapore Pte

Moody's Singapore Pte. Lt

Moody's Investors Service South Africa (Pty.) L

Moody's Investors Service Espana, S
Moody's Taiwan Corporatio

Moody's Interfax Rating Agency Ukraine LL

Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
India
Ireland
Italy

Japar
Japar
Korea
Korea
Korea
Mauritius
Mexico
Mexico
Netherland
New York
Russis
Russis
Singapore
Singapore
South Africa
Spain
Taiwan

Ukraine



EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢ee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:57267, 333-57915, 333-60737,
333-64653, 333-68555, 333-81121, 333-47848, 33319602nd 333-126564) of Moody’s Corporation (formdmown as The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation) of our report dated Felyr@8; 2006 relating to the consolidated financiatements, management’s assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over finahcggporting and the effectiveness of internal colndwer financial reporting, which appears in
this Form 10-K.

/sl PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
February 28, 2006



EXHIBIT 31.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., Chairman and Chief &xare Officer of Moody’s Corporation, certify that

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Moody's Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
periods covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amdgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, J
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

March 1, 200¢



EXHIBIT 31.2

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Linda S. Huber, Executive Vice President ande€Rinancial Officer of Moody’s Corporation, ceytithat:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Moody's Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
periods covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amdgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Hube
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

March 1, 200¢



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Moody’s @oration (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2005 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, Raymond W. McDanil, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 €S8 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eobarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of
the Company

/sl RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.
Raymond W. McDaniel, J
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

March 1, 200¢



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Moody’s @oration (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2005 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), I, Linda S. Huber, Extaee Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuémil8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to $e806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER
Linda S. Hube
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

March 1, 200¢



